
 

By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you will save the Authority approx. £4.00 in 
printing costs 

 
 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich dewis 
iaith. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 
 Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief Executive’s Directorate 

Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 643694 / 643513 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Democratic Services 

 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       

Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 

Dyddiad/Date: Wednesday, 17 September 2025 

 
 
Dear Councillor,  
 
COUNCIL 
 
A meeting of the Council will be held Hybrid in the Council Chamber Civic Offices, Angel Street, 
Bridgend, CF31 4WB on Wednesday, 24 September 2025 at 16:00. 
 
AGENDA 
 

1 Apologies for Absence
  

To receive apologies for absence from Members. 
 

2 Declarations of Interest
  

To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest from Members/Officers in 
accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council from 1 September 
2008. 
 

3 Approval of Minutes
 7 - 20 

To receive for approval the minutes of 23/07/2025 
 

4 Presentation to Council by the Police and Crime Commissioner (South Wales)
21 - 22 

 
5 To receive announcements from:

  

  

Public Document Pack



(i) Mayor (or person presiding) 
(ii) Chief Executive 
 

6 To receive announcements by the Leader
 

 
7 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Improvement Check of Childrens and Family Services June 

2025
23 - 54 

 
8 Social Services Annual Report 2024-25

55 - 132 
 

9 Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance
133 - 182 

 
10 Information Reports For Noting

183 - 200 
 

11 To receive the following Questions from:
  

Councillor Ian Williams to the Cabinet Member - Climate Change & the Environment 
 
What pressure are Bridgend County Borough Council putting on SRS , NRW and WG to 
trace the source of pollution which is affecting our beaches and rivers (River Ogmore, 
Newton, Sandy Bay, Trecco and Rest Bay).Our residents are now exposed to this 
contamination on a regular basis and it’s causing various medical issues and this is totally 
unacceptable! It’s also having a negative impact on the economy of our county with residents 
seeking cleaner seas and beaches away from the beaches of Porthcawl. 
 
Councillor Ian Spiller to the Cabinet Member - Regeneration, Economic Development & 
Housing 
 
The town centre bollard on Queen Street has not been operational from Thursday 26th June 
to Tuesday 29th of July 2025, meaning that cars have been able to access the town centre 
in-spite of the traffic order during this period. 
 
Can you please confirm during this period how many traffic related incidents involving have 
been reported and the nature of them between the hours of 10am and 6pm. 
 

12 Notice of Motion Proposed by Councillor Tim Thomas
  

Planning Reform to level up the needs of communities with high volume 
developers. 
This Council notes: 

• That the Welsh Government is currently considering proposals for planning 
reform in Wales. 

• The importance of the planning system in delivering sustainable development, 
affordable housing, and community infrastructure. 

• That Section 106 agreements, planning consents, and the quality and 
standards of new builds are central to maintaining public confidence in the 
planning system. 



• That poor delivery against agreed obligations, or poor standards in the quality 
of new homes, undermines trust and damages communities. 
This Council believes: 

• That robust delivery of Section 106 agreements, planning consents, and 
consistently high standards in new housing developments is essential. 

• That where delivery of planning obligations has been poor, or where the 
quality and standards of new builds have been inadequate, this should be 
treated as a material consideration in determining future planning applications 
from the same developer or associated parties. 

• That serious and persistent offenders who repeatedly fail to meet obligations 
or quality standards should be placed on a register of poor performers and 
prohibited from bringing forward further development proposals for a defined 
period. 

• That planning reform in Wales must strengthen accountability and 
enforcement to ensure developers deliver on both commitments and quality. 
 

This Council therefore resolves: 
1. To call on the Leader of the Council to write to the Cabinet Secretary for Local 

Government and Housing, and to the First Minister of Wales, welcoming the 
Welsh Government’s work on planning reform and urging that it must include: 

• Stronger monitoring and enforcement of Section 106 agreements and 
planning consents. 

• A requirement for local planning authorities to consider both the track 
record of developers in delivering previous obligations and the quality of 
their completed developments as material planning considerations. 

• Greater powers for councils to refuse planning applications where 
developers have failed to honour commitments or where the standard 
of previous new builds has been poor. 

• The creation of a national register of poor-performing developers, with 
powers to prohibit serious and persistent offenders from undertaking 
new development for a number of years. 

2. To circulate this motion to the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) 
and to all local Members of the Senedd and Members of Parliament 
representing Bridgend County Borough, urging their support. 

 
13 Notice of Motion Proposed by Councillor Jane Gebbie

  

This Council notes: 
 

• BCBC employees are able to join the Rhondda Cynon Taf Pension Fund, 
which, as part of the Wales Pension Partnership (WPP), manages over £3 
billion on behalf of local government employees and retirees. 

• That current investments include holdings in fossil fuel companies, arms 
manufacturers, and multinational corporations accused of contributing to 
human rights violations or environmental degradation. 

• That Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) funds have a fiduciary duty 
to act in the best long-term interests of members, which includes managing 
environmental, social, and governance (ESG) risks. 

• That numerous other public bodies, including city and county councils across 
the UK, have adopted Responsible Investment policies with stronger 



commitments to divest from harmful sectors and align with international human 
rights and climate goals. 

• That the Wales Pension Partnership has adopted a Responsible Investment 
policy but currently allows fund managers significant discretion over ethical 
criteria and sector exclusions. 

 
14 Notice of Motion Proposed by Councillor Rhys Goode

  

This Council recognises the increasing pressures placed upon South Wales Police 
as a result of hosting major national and international events within Cardiff and the 
wider region.  
 
Events such as major sporting fixtures, concerts, political summits, and cultural 
gatherings often require significant additional police presence, planning, and 
resources, with costs and operational pressures borne locally. 
 
We further note that other UK city-regions notably  Belfast and Edinburgh are 
recognised by the Home Office as Capital City regions and  receive additional 
funding and support from the Home Office to reflect the unique policing demands 
associated with hosting high-profile events.  
 
Currently, South Wales Police does not receive equivalent levels of support, despite 
facing comparable challenges and resource demands, such as. being the second 
highest area for Royal vists, Rugby and Cricket Interntional programmes and major 
concert venues.(TBC) 
  
This Council therefore resolves to: 

• Formally call on the UK Government’s Home Office to recognise Cardiff as a 
City region in the same way as Belfast and Edinburgh for future funding. 

• Write to the Home Secretary and to relevant Welsh Members of Parliament 
and Members of the Senedd, urging them to support the case for recognition 
of Cardiff as a city region and call for fair and  sustainable funding for South 
Wales Police. 

• Request a review of current Home Office funding formulas, to ensure fair and 
consistent support for all Wales police forces based on event load, city-region 
status, and policing pressures. 

• Invite the Chief Constable of South Wales Police and the Police and Crime 
Commissioner to present to the Council on the operational and financial 
impacts of major event policing and to discuss potential joint advocacy efforts. 
 
We believe that a fair and equitable approach to policing resources is 
essential to maintain community safety, officer wellbeing, and public 
confidence, and to ensure that South Wales is not disadvantaged in 
comparison to other UK city-regions. 
  

 
15 Urgent Items

  
To consider any item(s) of business in respect of which notice has been given in accordance 
with Part 4 (paragraph 4) of the Council Procedure Rules and which the person presiding at 



the meeting is of the opinion should by reason of special circumstances be transacted at the 
meeting as a matter of urgency. 
 

Note: This will be a Hybrid meeting and Members and Officers will be attending in the Council 
Chamber, Civic Offices, Angel Street Bridgend / Remotely via Microsoft Teams. The meeting 
will be recorded for subsequent transmission via the Council’s internet site which will be 
available as soon as practicable after the meeting. If you would like to view this meeting live, 
please contact cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk or tel. 01656 643148 / 643694 / 643513 / 
643159. 
 
Yours faithfully 
K Watson 
Chief Officer, Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy  
 
Councillors: 
All Members 

mailto:cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD HYBRID IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER CIVIC OFFICES, ANGEL STREET, BRIDGEND, CF31 
4WB ON WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 AT 16:00 
 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor HJ David – Mayor & Chairperson 
 
H T Bennett A R Berrow JPD Blundell E L P Caparros 
Clatworthy RJ Collins C Davies P Davies 
S Easterbrook M J Evans N Farr J Gebbie 
RM Granville GC Haines D M Hughes M R John 
M Jones W J Kendall M Lewis J Llewellyn-Hopkins 
J E Pratt JC Spanswick I M Spiller T Thomas 
JH Tildesley MBE I Williams E D Winstanley T Wood 

 
 

Present Virtually: 
 

S Aspey F D Bletsoe S J Bletsoe N Clarke 
C L C Davies P Ford S J Griffiths D T Harrison 
M L Hughes RM James RL Penhale-Thomas R J Smith 
A Ulberini-Williams G Walter A Wathan AJ Williams 
MJ Williams R Williams   
 
Officers: 
 
Mark Galvin Senior Democratic Services Officer - Committees 
Laura Griffiths Group Manager Legal and Democratic Services 
Lindsay Harvey Corporate Director - Education, Early Years & Young People 
Rachel Keepins Democratic Services Manager 
Carys Lord Chief Officer - Finance, Housing & Change 
Claire Marchant Corporate Director - Social Services and Wellbeing 
Jake Morgan Chief Executive 
Martin Morgans Interim Head of Operations - Community Services 
Michael Pitman Technical Support Officer – Democratic Services 
Kelly Watson Chief Officer - Legal & Regulatory Services, HR & Corporate Policy 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 3



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

 
 
 
 

166. Apologies for absence 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors WR Goode, H Griffiths, H Williams and PW Jenkins. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

167. Declarations of Interest 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The following declarations of personal interest were made by Members:- 
 
Councillor H Bennett – Agenda item 6, as a member of the Public Service Board on behalf of her 
employer. 
Councillor J Pratt – Agenda item 12, as a member of Porthcawl Town Council. 
Councillor JP Blundell – Agenda item 7, as a member of a School Governing Body that is mentioned in the 
report. 
Councillor E Winstanley – Agenda item 7, as her employer is in charge of the Maesteg Town Hall and the 
Porthcawl Grand Pavilion and due to the fact she is a Community Councillor. 
Councillor I Williams – Agenda item 7, as a school governor at Oldcastle Primary and Brynteg 
Comprehensive Schools. Agenda item 12, as a member of Bridgend Town Council. 
Councillor T Thomas – Agenda item 7, as he dealt with Welsh Government on the subject of Empty Homes 
through his employer. 
 
The following declarations of prejudicial interest were made by Members/Officers. 
 
Councillor M Evans – Agenda item 7, as a Community Governor at Croesty Primary and Pencoed 
Comprehensive Schools. 
Councillor Amanda Williams – Agenda item 7, as Chairperson of the Board of Governors at Coety Primary 
School. 
Chief Executive – Agenda item 9, as his position is referenced to in the report. 
Chief Officer – Legal, HR and Corporate Policy – Agenda item 9, as her position is referenced to in the 
report. 

P
age 8



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

 
All the above Members/Officers left the meeting whilst the item they had declared a prejudicial interest in 
were being considered. 
  

Date Decision Made 
      

23 July 2025 

 
 

168. Approval of Minutes 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

RESOLVED:                                            That the minutes of a meeting of Council dated 25 June 2025, be 
approved as a true and accurate record. 

 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

169. To receive announcements from: 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

Announcements were received from the following dignitaries (no decisions required or made):- 
 
• Mayor; 
• Chief Executive 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

170. To receive announcements by the Leader 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

Announcements were received from the Leader (no decisions required or made). 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

P
age 9



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

171. Healthy Travel Charter 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Chief Officer – Finance, Housing and Change submitted a report, the purpose of which, was to update 
Council on the work of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Public Services Board (CTM PSB) on a Healthy Travel 
Charter. 
 
The report confirmed that:- 
 
 • Cwm Taf Morgannwg Public Services Board (CTM PSB) had developed a Healthy Travel Charter  

to bring about far-reaching positive impacts on both health and the environment.  
• The Charter was formerly signed at the July 2025 Public Services Board meeting. 
• An Active Travel User Group has been involved in the work from Bridgend County Borough Council 

(BCBC) and can be further expanded to take the Charter forward and ensure continuity. 
• The Corporate Director - Communities is the lead officer for BCBC in relation to the Charter 
 
A Member asked why there is not more cycle parking available currently within Council buildings. 
 
The Cabinet Member – Climate Change and the Environment ensured that he would actively look into this 
matter further outside of the meeting. 
 
A Member raised the point that feedback from Clubs and Associations and cyclists per se, suggested that 
a number of cycling lanes were not connected to each other and therefore were a little disjointed at certain 
locations. 
 
The Cabinet Member – Climate Change and the Environment reassured Council by confirming that the 
Active Travel User Group was addressing issues such as that immediately above, with assistance in the 
form of funding from Welsh Government. 
 
The Leader added that the Healthy Travel Charter was a wider document that did not just concentrate on 
cycling, but other forms of transport including walking and using other methods of public transport to 
promote more healthy forms of travel.   
 
He further added that the Charter, attached at Appendix 1 of the report, focused on changes that can be 
made to the way we work as an organisation that can enable more active healthy travel and that some of 
the objectives included in the Charter were actively being addressed to ensure these goals are achieved. 
 
A Member whilst welcoming vehicle charging points in Bridgend town centre, noted that these were not of 

P
age 10



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

the ‘super fast charging’ category and therefore she asked if any more provided could be of this type, so 
that vehicles could be charged up in a shorter time. 
 
The Leader advised that this could be considered, adding however, that there would be an increased cost 
connected with the installation of such faster charging models. 
 
A Member concluded debate on this item, by stating that charging points should be more widely available 
in places of need and/or where it is apparent they are used more, in order to make the most of funding 
received from Welsh Government for the provision of these charges. 
 
RESOLVED:                               (1)         That Council noted the content of this update report. 
 

                                                               (2) That Council debated and considered how to deliver the 
proposed activities contained within the Charter (Appendix 1) 

 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

172. Capital Programme Outturn 2024-25 and Quarter 1 Update 2025-26 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Chief Officer – Finance, Housing and Change submitted a report on the above, a summary of which 
was as follows:- 
 
 • To provide an update on the capital programme outturn position for 2024-25, the quarter 1 spend 

and projected spend for 2025-26 as at 30 June 2025, the revised capital programme for 2025-26 to 
2034-35 and the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2025-26. 

• Appendix A to the report, reflected the budgets and spend for the individual schemes in 2024-25. 
• Appendix B showed the budgets, spend to date and projected year end spend as at 30 June 2025  

for the individual schemes in 2025-26. 
• Appendix C stated the revised capital programme for 2025-26 to 2033-35. 
• While Appendix D provided details of the actual Prudential and other Indicators for 2024-25 and 

projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2025-26. 
 
Paragraph 3.5.3 of the Financial Procedure Rules required that the Chief Finance Officer shall report 
quarterly to Cabinet and Council with an update on the Capital Strategy and the Prudential Indicators. The 
report fulfilled that requirement.  

P
age 11



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

 
The Deputy Leader in the absence of the relevant Cabinet Member, advised that as a Council, BCBC was 
continuing to manage a large and ambitious Capital Programme. This could be seen in its investment in 
schools, highways, economic regeneration, as well as in iconic buildings, such as the Maesteg Town Hall. 
 
Officers had accessed £85m to support the local authority’s capital spend this year, which equated to 
around 56% of the total cost of this spend being funded by external means as opposed to BCBC funding. 
 
A Member voiced some concern regarding the Capital Programme. He stated that last year in February the 
Council agreed a programme of over £110m, though it only outturned around half of this amount. He 
added that basing that on this year’s calculations, we could end up delivering even less than this in terms 
of a percentage, this year. 
 
The Leader advised that there were a number of reasons why there had been slippages last year. He 
assured Council however, that there would be increased vigilance going forward in terms of expenditure in 
respect of the Capital Programme and the timely completion of the schemes contained therein. There were 
now monthly Capital Programme Monitoring Programme boards (of which he was a member), and this 
body would keep a close eye on the various projects that were being put forward as part of the programme 
with the aim of these being completed both in time and in budget. The total cost committed to the 
programme was now in the region of £156m, he added. He then gave a resume of some of the schemes 
that were earmarked within the programme, that would bring huge benefit to and improve facilities within, 
the County Borough. 
 
A Member asked if there was an indicative estimate on the capital investments as detailed, in terms of 
whether (or not) they were going to be cost revenue positive for the authority, as opposed to being cost 
negative which, if they were, would in turn put pressures on our revenue budget. 
 
The Chief Officer – Finance, Housing and Change advised that the various capital and revenue 
implications were factored into the Council’s forward planning for its revenue budget. 
 
A Member felt that it would be interesting to benchmark with other local authorities in Wales, to see how 
we compared with regards to slippage of schemes and to the delivery of these on schedule, as well as 
comparing the challenges that each authority faced, for example, were they largely the same or different in 
any way.  
 
The Chief Officer – Finance, Housing and Change, advised that most local authorities were largely in the 
same position as BCBC, in terms of the types of challenges they faced with their Capital Programmes.      

P
age 12



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

 
RESOLVED:                                        That Council: 
 
• Noted the Council’s Capital Programme Outturn for 2024-25 (Appendix A to the report). 
• Noted the Council’s Capital Programme 2025-26 Quarter 1 update to 30 June 2025 (at Appendix B)   
• Approved the revised Capital Programme, noting the slippage into 205-26 of £25.370 million, and 

approves the virements between schemes and new schemes/additions of £44.485 million to the 
capital programme (Appendix C). 

• Noted the actual Prudential and Other Indicators for 2024-25 and the projected indicators for 2025-
26 (Appendix D). 

 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

173. Treasury Management Outturn Report 2024-25 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Chief Officer – Finance, Housing and Change presented a report, in order to:- 
 
• Comply with the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s 

(CIPFA’s) Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice’ (the TM Code) to report 
an overview of treasury activities for the preceding financial year. 

• Report the actual Treasury Management Indicators for 2023-24. 
 
The report outlined the Treasury Management activity for the annual period of 1 April 2024 – 31 March 
2025. 
 
The Chief Officer – Finance, Housing and Change confirmed that as at 31 March 2025, the Council had 
£103.80 million of long term debt, £15.66 million of other long term liabilities and an overall net debt 
position of £82.71 million. 
 
The average interest rate for debt was 4.73% (including Salix borrowing which was interest free). For 
investments during the year, it was 4.39%. 
 
The Council has a manageable maturity structure of borrowing, with its current debt repayable at various 
points over the next 30 years. 
 

P
age 13



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

The Council is required to set and report against Treasury Management Indicators, details of which were 
included in Appendix A to the report. These reflected that the Council operated within the approved limits 
throughout the year. 
 
The Council had also complied with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury 
Management Code and Welsh Government Investment Guidance, advised the Chief Officer – Finance, 
Housing and Change. 
 
RESOLVED:                                           That Council: 
 

• Noted the treasury management activities for 2024-25 for the year 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025. 

• Also noted the Treasury Management Indicators for the period year ending 31 March 2025 against 
those approved in the Treasury Management Strategy 2024-25. 

 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

174. Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Group Manager – Legal and Democratic Services presented a report, in order to seek Council 
approval to appoint the Electoral Registration Officer (ERO), Returning Officer and the Deputy ERO.  
 
 At a previous meeting, Council appointed Jake Morgan as the Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 
of the Council.  The Council is required to comply with the requirements under the Representation of the 
People Act 1983, in relation to the appointment of the Council’s Returning Officer, and Electoral 
Registration Officer. These were statutory roles which the Council is obliged to appoint to.  These roles are 
included in the Job Description of the Chief Executive and it is therefore recommended that the new Chief 
Executive, be formally appointed to undertake these roles. 
 
The appointment of a Deputy ERO Electoral Registration Officer was also a function of the Council and is 
required to ensure that the necessary electoral decisions can be implemented when the ERO is not 
available. Without such an appointment there is a risk that electors may be disadvantaged.  It was 
therefore recommended that the Chief Officer – Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy 
be appointed as the Deputy ERO with full powers, enabling her to act in the incapacity or absence of the 
ERO as necessary.   
 

P
age 14



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

The Group Manager – Legal and Democratic Services added, that to allow for further flexibility, it was 
proposed that delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive to appoint more deputies and to revoke 
or vary such appointments as necessary.   
 
In light of the debate that ensued at the meeting and a series of questions from Members that were 
responded to by the Lead Officer, Council agreed not to support Recommendation (3) of the report, ie that 
Council ‘delegates authority to the Chief Executive to appoint more deputies and to revoke or vary such 
appointments as necessary.’ 
 
It was therefore, 
 
RESOLVED:                                             That Council: 
 
(1) Approved the appointment of the Chief Executive as the Electoral Registration Officer and 

Returning Officer.  
 
(2) Further approved the appointment of the Chief Officer – Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and 

Corporate Policy as the Deputy Electoral Registration Officer. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

175. Appointments to the Standards Committee 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Monitoring Officer presented a report, the purpose of which, was to advise Council of two Independent 
Member (co-opted) appointments to the Standards Committee, as a result of there being two such member 
vacancies on the Committee. 
 
A member noted the point that a panel of the Standards Committee recommended the appointment of the 
two Independent Members as referenced to in the report and that the appointments were reported to the 
full Standards Committee on 22 July 2025. 
 
However, he asked if the suitability of any potential candidates should be shared possibly at a higher level, 
possibly with Council, in light of the fact that members of that Committee sit and make judgements and 
decisions of sometimes a disciplinary nature, on both County Borough and Town and Community Council 
members. 

P
age 15



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

 
The Monitoring Officer whilst suggesting that this could be considered further in the future, added that the 
above process that was followed, was the process as recommended in the appropriate regulations, 
confirming also that there was County Borough Council representation on both the Appointing Panel and 
the Standards Committee.  
 
RESOLVED:                                            That Council approved the appointments of Janet Evans and 

Martyn Daley to the Standards Committee. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

176. To receive the following Question from: 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

Councillor Colin Davies to the Cabinet Member for Education and Youth Services (response circulated 
previously to Members). 
 
A supplementary question was asked by Councillor Davies which was responded to at the meeting. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

177. Notice of Motion Proposed by Councillor Martin Williams 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

The Notice of Motion proposed by Councillor Williams as detailed at item 12 on the meeting Agenda, 
subject to his proposed amendment given verbally at the meeting, which was duly seconded and 
supported by Council was agreed. 
 
The amended Motion was as follows:- 
 
‘That this Council recognises the challenges that we faced in recruiting operatives to cut grass following 
the decision to bring it in house and the impact that had on our communities. 
 
Under the ethos of working collaboratively we therefore resolve to ask the Cabinet to consider contacting 
all town and community councils at the earliest opportunity and offer to pay them to carry out the service in 

P
age 16



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

their area to support this Authority if they are willing and able, should future challenges to the service be 
encountered again.’ 
  

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

178. Notice of Motion Proposed by Councillor Ian Spiller 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

That the Notice of Motion as proposed by Councillor Spiller as detailed at item 13 on the meeting Agenda, 
was agreed unanimously by Council. 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

179. Notice of Motion Proposed by Councillor Tim Thomas 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

A Notice of Motion was proposed by Councillor Thomas, as detailed as item 14 on the meeting Agenda. 
 
An amendment to the Notice of Motion was proposed, duly seconded and following some debate, finally 
agreed by Council. 
 
The Notice of Motion therefore, as amended, was agreed as follows:- 
 
‘That this Council, 
 
1.Supports the UK Government in listening to the public and reversing the proposed welfare reforms that 
would have adversely affected disabled residents across the country, including within Bridgend County 
Borough. 
 
2. Recognises the significant and disproportionate negative impact these welfare changes would have had 
on the wellbeing, financial security, and dignity of local disabled people and their families. 
 
3. Welcomes the Government’s decision to reverse these welfare reforms as a positive step in protecting 
the rights and livelihoods of disabled residents in Bridgend. 
 

P
age 17



COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 23 JULY 2025 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 

 

4. Acknowledges the hard work of disability advocacy groups, campaigners, and residents who have 
voiced their concerns and influenced this decision. 
 
5. ‘Calls on the Leader of Bridgend County Borough Council to write to the PM, the First Minister, and to 
continue lobbying our local MP’s and MS’s to: 
   
•           Ensure the continued importance of welfare considerations in future UK government and Welsh 

Government policies  
•           Emphasise the importance of continued support and protection for disabled residents. 
•           Urge both Governments to continue to engage closely with local Councils, disability organisations,  

and communities in developing future welfare policies. 
 
6. Reaffirms the Council’s commitment to supporting disabled residents by ensuring local services are 
accessible, inclusive, and adequately resourced.’ 
 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 

180. Urgent Items 
 

 

Decision Made 
 

There were no urgent items 

Date Decision Made 
 

23 July 2025 

 
 
 
 
To observe further debate that took place on the above items, please click this link 
  
The meeting closed at 18:23.  

P
age 18



 

Meeting of: 
 

COUNCIL 

 

Date of Meeting: 
 

24 SEPTEMBER 2025 

 

Report Title: 
 

PRESENTATION TO COUNCIL BY THE POLICE AND CRIME 
COMMISSIONER (SOUTH WALES) 

 

 

Report Owner / 
Corporate Director: 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 
Responsible 
Officer: 
 

 
MARK GALVIN 

SENIOR DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER - COMMITTEES 
 

 
Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules: 
 

   
There is no effect upon the Policy Framework and 

Procedure Rules. 

 
Executive 
Summary: 

   
  The report will invite a presentation from the Police and 

Crime Commissioner for South Wales Police.    

 

1. Purpose of Report 
 

  1.1      The purpose of this report is to advise Council of a presentation proposed to be 
delivered to Council, by the local Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales 
Police. 

 
2. Background 
 
2.1      Council will be accustomed to receiving presentations from its key partners, 

stakeholders and other organisations periodically in the past.  
 
3. Current situation / proposal 

 

3.1 The presentation will be led at its September meeting by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the Communications Lead and Insight Manager.   
 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh 
Language) 

 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered 
in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must 
consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there Page 21

Agenda Item 4



will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 
 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to 
Corporate Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this 
report. 

 

6. Climate Change and Nature Implications 
 

6.1 There are no climate change or nature implications arising from this report. 
 

7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 

7.1 There are no safeguarding or corporate parent implications arising from this 
report. 

 

8. Financial Implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 That Council is recommended to note the presentation as referred to at paragraph 3.1 

of the report. 
  

Background documents 
 
None. 

Page 22



 

 
Meeting of:  

COUNCIL 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
24 SEPTEMBER 2025 

 
Report Title:  

 
CARE INSPECTORATE WALES (CIW) IMPROVEMENT 

CHECK OF CHILDRENS AND FAMILY SERVICES JUNE 2025  
 
 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND 

WELLBEING 

Responsible 
Officer:  

                LAURA KINSEY 
           HEAD OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

 
There is no effect upon the policy framework and procedure 

rules. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

This report describes the findings of a Care Inspectorate 

Wales (CIW) Improvement Check (IC) visit to Bridgend 

County Borough Council (BCBC) children and family 

services in June 2025. The improvement check focused on 

understand how well the Council has progressed 

recommendations for improvement set out in a Performance 

Evaluation Inspection and Improvement Check undertaken 

in May and December 2022 and a CIW led Joint Inspection of 

Child Protection Arrangements (JICPA) undertaken in June 

2023. 

 

The IC found that BCBC leaders have consistently prioritised 

children and family services, to support sustained and timely 

improvements. This, in turn, has significantly strengthened 

the quality and delivery of our social services functions.  

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Council the Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 

Improvement Check (IC) findings report and to request that the Councl considers the 
report and scrutinises the associated Action Plan. 
 
 

2. Background  
 
2.1  CIW carry out inspection activity in accordance with the Social Services and Well-

being (Wales) Act 2014 and the quality standards in the Code of Practice in relation 

to the performance and improvement of social services in Wales. This helps them 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



 

determine the effectiveness of local authorities in supporting, measuring and 

sustaining improvements for people. 

 
2.2 Further to  a Performance Evaluation Inspection in May 2022 Care Inspectorate 

Wales (CIW) completed an Improvement Check in December 2022 and noted the 

‘local authority must continue to assure itself of the priority status, pace, quality, 

delivery, and impact of its improvement activity’.  

 

2.3 In June 2023 CIW and partner inspectorates carried out a Joint Inspection of Child 

Protection Arrangements (JICPA) in Bridgend. They found leaders and partners had 

a shared vision and positive approach to safeguarding. The local authority and 

partners had taken action to instigate learning following critical incidents, there were 

ambitious plans to drive forward improvements, and it was important to manage these 

changes with careful oversight. It was a relatively early stage in the Council’s 

improvement journey and whilst there were indication positive changes were being 

progressed further work was needed to stabilize the workforce and embed a model 

of practice that would sustainably improve outcomes for children and families. 

 

2.4  The most recent  IC carried out in June 2025 focussed on progress made in the areas 

for improvement, which were identified during the inspection activities of 2022 and 

2023. 

 

2.5 The scope of the inspection included: 
 

• The experiences of people at the time of the improvement check. 

• The outcomes people achieve through their contact with social services 

• Evidence of improvements made following inspections in 2022/2023 and plans for 

service development and improvement 

 
2.6 In advance of the inspection, a range of information/documentation was submitted 

including: 
 

• Strategy and Structure 

• Key Documents and Operational Protocols 

• Cabinet/Committee Reports 

• Development Work 

• Performance Data and Quality Assurance 

• Workforce and Supervision information 

2.7 The inspection team reviewed the experiences of people’s journey through care and 
support through review and tracking of their social care record. The team reviewed 
25 cases, with more detailed case tracking of 3 of these cases. This included a 
conversation  with the person receiving support and/or their family, carers, advocates, 
or key workers afterwards interviewing the allocated case worker and their manager.  

 

Page 24



 

2.8 In addition CIW also sought the views of staff and stakeholders through focus groups 
and by using a range of surveys to gather information to inform the inspection. The 
latter included public surveys. 

 
2.9   Other activities included observations of meetings and reviews of complaints and 

compliments. 
 
 
3. Current situation/ proposal  
 
3.1 The CIW inspection report is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
3.2 Summary of findings 
 
3.2.1 The table below summarises CIW findings and further details are available 

throughout the full report. It should be noted that there were no areas for improvement 

from the previous inspection identified where no improvements had been made. 

 

Principle Areas of improvement identified in 
2022-23 

Progress identified at 
this Improvement 
Check  

People Seeking, hearing and recording the 
voice of the child 

Improvements made 
and must be sustained 

People People consistently feel listened to and 
treated with dignity and respect 

Some improvements 
made – further action is 
required 

People Workforce recruitment and retention Improvements made 
and must be sustained 

People Recording demographics and 
associates  

Improvements made 
and must be sustained 

People Management oversight Improvements made 
and must be sustained 

People Staff support, supervision, and training Improvements made 
and must be sustained 

Prevention Provision of information, advice, and 
assistance (IAA). People receive the 
right support at the right time 

Some improvements 
made – further action is 
required 

Prevention Placement sufficiency Some improvements 
made – further action is 
required 

Partnerships Thresholds for early help and statutory 
services 

Improvements made 
and must be sustained 

Partnerships Learning from reviews and audits Improvements made 
and must be sustained 

Wellbeing Compliance with statutory 
responsibilities 

Improvements made 
and must be sustained 

Wellbeing Arrangements for supervised contact 
between children and their families 

Improvements made 
and must be sustained 

Page 25



 

Wellbeing Identification and response to child 
exploitation 

Some improvements 
made – further action is 
required 

Wellbeing Ensuring priority status, pace, quality, 
delivery, and impact of its improvement 
activity 

Improvements made 
and must be sustained 

 
3.3 Recommendations and Next Steps 
 
3.3.1 Overall, the inspection is a positive commendation of the work of the Council to 

improve the way vulnerable children and families are supported and the quality of 
outcomes they receive. There are some areas where further work is required, and an 
Action Plan has been developed in response to the recommendations made by CIW 
and can be found at Appendix 2. The actions in the attached plan are cross-
referenced with the actions in the Council’s 3 year strategic plan for children and 
families which was approved by Council in September 2023 to ensure there is 
alignment and no duplication of effort. The progress to implement the actions will be 
overseen through the Social Services and Wellbeing Quality and Performance 
Framework and reported to the Social Services Improvement Board chaired by the 
Leader of the Council. The improvements required will be integrated into the Council’s 
regulatory tracker which is reported to Governance and Audit Committee and can be 
scrutinised regularly by Overview and Scrutiny Committee at a frequency to be 
determined by the Committee. 

 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an Equality Impact assessment in the production of this report. 
It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a 
result of this report.  

 
 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 

a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Authority should work to deliver wellbeing outcomes for people. The following is a 
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have 
been considered in this report: 

 

• Long Term – Social Services is demand led and the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA) focusses on sustainable prevention and well-being 
outcomes for the future. There is a requirement to meet the needs of people in the 
longer term and, because of rising demographics and increasing complexity, the 
remodelling and transformation of services continues to be a priority.  

  

Page 26



 

• Prevention – one of the four themes within the  CIW inspection is Prevention. CIW 
have identified  areas of strength for Prevention in their report. The areas for 
improvement are also included, and actions for improvement have been addressed 
within the  Action Plan at Appendix 2.   

 

• Integration – one of the four themes within the CIW inspection is Partnerships and 
Integration. CIW have identified areas of strength for Integration and Partnerships in 
their report. The areas for improvement are also included, and actions for 
improvement have been addressed within the  Action Plan at Appendix 2.  The 
SSWBA requires local authorities to work with partners, particularly the NHS and the 
Police, to ensure care and support for people and support for carers is provided.  The 
report refers to work with statutory partners. 

• Collaboration – The collaborative approaches described in the report are 
managed and monitored through various strategic and collaborative boards 
across Directorates and with partners 
 

• Involvement – the key stakeholders are the people who use social care. There 
is considerable engagement including surveys, stakeholder meetings, 
feedback forms and the complaints process. The provision of accessible 
information and advice helps to ensure that the voice of adults, children and 
young people is heard. 

 
5.2     This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 

under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 
 

• Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives. 
 

• Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
 
6. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
 
6.1 There are no direct climate change or nature implications associated with the report 

and associated action plan at this stage. 
 
6.2     The importance of decarbonisation to help protect and sustain the environment over 

the long term and in line with our climate change ambitions will be considered and 
promoted as and when strategies identified within the action plan are implemented. 

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1     This report and action plan has a direct link to safeguarding and corporate parenting:   

 
7.2    The Council’s workforce shares a responsibility both collectively and individually to 

ensure that children and adults at risk are protected from harm. Council employees, 

Page 27



 

Councillors, volunteers, contractors, and partners who encounter children or adults 
at risk in the course of their duties are expected to understand their responsibility and 
where necessary take action to safeguard and promote the welfare of people so that 
everyone can live their life free from harm, abuse, and neglect.  The children we 
provide with care and support are among the most vulnerable in our community, and 
the services they receive are vital in keeping them safe. This action plan will ensure 
we continue to provide a high standard of service. 

 
7.3     When a child or young person enters the care of the Council, the role of being a parent 

is taken on by the local authority.  This constitutes Corporate Parenting.  The Council 
has the responsibility to seek positive outcomes for care experienced children and 
young adults who are care leavers in the same way a good parent would for their own 
child. Bridgend’s Corporate Parenting Strategy sets out the following commitments:   

 

• We will keep you safe, give you somewhere comfortable to live where you are 
cared for properly and make sure you have all that you need.  

• We will make sure that all of those that work with you and support you are well 
trained and treat you with dignity and respect 

• We will work with you to understand your housing needs and make plans so 
that we can support you.  

• We will help you with the skills and information you need and develop a clear 
pathway of support for you to live independently.  

• We will strengthen the support given by all of your corporate parents; improve 
the contact we have with you, and we will keep in touch to see how you are 
doing after you are 18 years of age. 
 

7.4 These will continue to be delivered through the action plan.  From early years into 
adulthood all our children, young people and young adults should be kept safe, happy 
and have every opportunity to thrive. 

 
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 
 
9. Recommendation(s) 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Council notes the CIW findings report and associated Action 

Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Background documents 
 
 CIW Improvement Check report 
 
Local Authority Action Plan 
 

Page 28



 

Page 1 of 15 

 

 

Ein cyf / Our ref: BCBC IC 23/06/2025 

 

Dyddiad / Date: 04/09/2025  

 

 

Dear Director, 

 

This letter describes the findings of our Improvement Check (IC) visit to Bridgend 

County Borough Council (BCBC) children’s services, in June 2025.  

 

1. Introduction  

 

1.1 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) completed a Performance Evaluation 

Inspection in May 2022. In December 2022 we completed an IC to follow-up on 

areas for improvement and noted the ‘local authority must continue to assure 

itself of the priority status, pace, quality, delivery, and impact of its improvement 

activity’.  

 

1.2 In June 2023 CIW and partner inspectorates carried out a Joint Inspection of 

Child Protection Arrangements (JICPA) in Bridgend. We found leaders and 

partners had a shared vision and positive approach to safeguarding. The local 

authority and partners had taken action to instigate learning following critical 

incidents, there were ambitious plans to drive forward improvements, and it was 

important to manage these changes with careful oversight.  

 
1.3 CIW carry out inspection activity in accordance with the Social Services and 

Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and the quality standards in the Code of Practice 

in relation to the performance and improvement of social services in Wales. 

This helps us determine the effectiveness of local authorities in supporting, 

measuring and sustaining improvements for people. 

 
1.4 This IC focused on progress made in the areas for improvement, which were 

identified during the inspection activities of 2022 and 2023. The table below 

summarises our findings and further details are available throughout the report. 

 

 
Claire Marchant 
Director of Social Services 
Children and Family Services 
Bridgend County Borough Council  
Civic Offices 
Angel Street 
CF31 4WB 
 

Page 29



Page 2 of 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Principle Areas of improvement identified in 

2022-23 

Progress identified at 

this Improvement 

Check  

People Seeking, hearing and recording the 

voice of the child 

Improvements made 

and must be sustained 

People People consistently feel listened to and 

treated with dignity and respect 

Some improvements 

made – further action is 

required 

People Workforce recruitment and retention Improvements made 

and must be sustained 

People Recording demographics and 

associates  

Improvements made 

and must be sustained 

People Management oversight Improvements made 

and must be sustained 

People Staff support, supervision, and training Improvements made 

and must be sustained 

Prevention Provision of information, advice, and 

assistance (IAA). People receive the 

right support at the right time 

Some improvements 

made – further action is 

required 

Prevention Placement sufficiency Some improvements 

made – further action is 

required 

Partnerships Thresholds for early help and statutory 

services 

Improvements made 

and must be sustained 

Partnerships Learning from reviews and audits Improvements made 

and must be sustained 

Well-being Compliance with statutory 

responsibilities 

Improvements made 

and must be sustained 

Well-being Arrangements for supervised contact 

between children and their families 

Improvements made 

and must be sustained 

Well-being Identification and response to child 

exploitation 

Some improvements 

made – further action is 

required 

Well-being Ensuring priority status, pace, quality, 

delivery, and impact of its improvement 

activity 

Improvements made 

and must be sustained 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



Page 3 of 15 

 

 

 

2. Glossary of Terminology and Quantity Definitions 

 

A glossary of terminology is contained in Appendix one and a table of quantity 

definitions in Appendix two.   

 

3. Summary of Improvement Check Findings 

 

3.1 BCBC leaders have consistently prioritised children’s services, to support 

sustained and timely improvements. This has significantly strengthened the 

quality and delivery of social services functions. The local authority has moved 

from having a fragile workforce and critical deficits in capacity, to an overall 

position of stability. This is the most significant change made since 2022-23, 

which underpins the local authority’s capacity to drive forward and sustain 

improvements. This positive improvement has been achieved through 

sustained focus on workforce well-being and practice quality.  

 

3.2 The local authority promotes learning and takes action to make improvements 

in a timely way. Following critical events, the local authority has prioritised 

improvements with safeguarding arrangements. The JICPA 2023 found the 

Bridgend Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) facilitates adherence to the 

Wales Safeguarding Procedures (WSP) and encourages close partnership 

working between agencies, but further improvements were needed in respect of 

IT systems which support information sharing and the sufficiency of partner 

resource. These improvements have been made, with an improved IT system 

and sufficient partner resource in place.  

 
3.3 In 2023-24 leaders developed their 3-year strategic plan for child and family 

services1 (entitled ‘Think Family’) and a detailed business case for additional 

funding. This received corporate support from council and enabled the 

development of additional posts, including five Principal Officers (PO) who 

support case management teams, implement family support strategies, oversee 

early help services, oversee commissioning and placements, and drive the 

transformation of child and family services. There is also a Signs of Safety 

(SoS) consultant and officers to drive forward practice in relation to quality 

assurance, policy, and corporate parenting/participation. The robust corporate 

and political support for child and family is positive practice, which has 

made a significant contribution to improved outcomes for people.  

 
3.4 The local authority is embedding new arrangements for an integrated IAA, early 

help, locality (place-based teams working within communities) social work, 

locality early intervention and edge of care services. This positive change is 

supporting to improve outcomes for people, whilst reducing demand for 

 
1 Think Family - Improving Outcomes for Children and Families in Bridgend  

Page 31



Page 4 of 15 

 

statutory services. This is creating capacity for an improved focus on practice 

standards for children who need care and support. In this context, practitioners 

are consistently meeting statutory duties, and child protection processes are 

generally in line with requirements of the WSP.  

 

3.5 Improvements in practice quality are driven by a 5-stage implementation plan 

for the SoS methodology. SoS is built on a set of principles and values that are 

solution focused, strengths based, and safety orientated2. Whilst practice 

remains variable, leaders are working with staff to build skills and confidence, 

and the consistency of practice is improving. Whilst it will take time to embed 

this organisational change, practitioners are developing a shared understanding 

of practice standards. The local authority should strengthen implementation 

through improved focus on supporting partner agencies to understand and 

embed approaches within their own organisations. Leaders are aware of this 

issue and the PO for transformation has plans to strengthen communication 

strategies and training opportunities, in collaboration with partner agencies.  

 
3.6 Leaders and practitioners have demonstrated sustained commitment and focus 

on securing improvements. This is complimented by constructive relationships 

with partners and a commissioned programme of independent advice and 

quality assurance. When combined with robust quality assurance activities, this 

provides assurance that areas for improvement will be identified and monitored 

in a timely way.  

 

4. Key Findings and Evidence 

 

Key findings and some examples of evidence are presented below in line with 

the four principles of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. 

 

People - We asked:  

How well is the local authority ensuring that people have a say in their lives and 

can achieve what matters to them? How effective are leaders at developing a 

stable, highly skilled, well qualified, and supported workforce? 

 

Strengths 

 

4.1 The local authority has co-produced a corporate parenting strategy with care 

experienced young people, in the Bridgend Youth Forum. These young people 

have been fully involved in selecting priorities and the design and content of the 

strategy. The approach taken is ‘nothing about you without you’ and BCBC is 

committed to meaningful participation in all aspects of corporate parenting. 

 

4.2 Improvements in practice quality are dependent on the sufficiency and efficacy 

of the workforce. In 2023 41% of the local authority workforce were agency 

 
2 What Is Signs of Safety? - Signs of Safety   

Page 32

https://www.signsofsafety.net/what-is-sofs/


Page 5 of 15 

 

staff, including a managed agency team which was in place for over 2 years. 

Through sustained improvements, the local authority ensures practitioners 

typically work with fewer than 20 children. ‘Think Family’ prioritised a ‘Grow 

your Own’ programme for social work and there will be 12 Newly Qualified 

Social Workers (NQSW) appointed next year. Leaders explored opportunities 

for enhanced marketing campaigns, including international recruitment, and 

received a Social Care Wales accolade in 2025 for developing and inspiring the 

workforce3. In August 2024 the local authority successfully exited the 

arrangement for a managed agency team, and agency staff accounted for 7% 

of the workforce in June 2025. This is a significant change which 

demonstrates their recruitment and retention strategy is delivering 

desired outcomes.  

 
4.3 Nearly all staff describe a significant culture shift in the last 2-3 years. This is 

characterised by an increasingly reflective and collaborative approach across 

all teams. This shift has improved staff morale, with teams developing a strong 

sense of collaboration and shared purpose. Our staff survey response was 

highly positive, with 86% indicating they would recommend working in BCBC to 

a friend. Leaders are described as compassionate, committed, and focused on 

workforce well-being. This positive practice has significantly improved 

workforce recruitment, retention, and workforce stability.   

 
4.4 The workforce includes many international and newly qualified social workers, 

who need time and support to develop experience. The local authority has 

implemented a case consultation process, which supports practitioners to 

access senior management oversight and consultation in complex situations. 

Operational management complete personal supervision in a timely way and 

teams consistently use SoS and reflective spaces to promote outcome focused 

interventions. The quality of case supervision would be strengthened further 

with improved focus on the child’s lived experience, outcome focused actions, 

follow-up, and evidence of reflective discussions. 

 
4.5 Leaders and managers have a strong understanding of service strengths and 

areas for improvement. The local authority implemented a system for enhanced 

scrutiny and compliance monitoring following critical events and child practice 

reviews. Since that time, oversight has been strengthened further with an 

increasing focus on quality and a quality assurance framework supports 

oversight of agreed practice standards, reflection, and learning. This positive 

practice strengthens the local authority’s ability to evaluate how service 

delivery impacts people’s outcomes. 

 
4.6 Practitioners are positive about training and how this supports their professional 

development. SoS training is valued, and the training department demonstrate 

an innovative approach to practice improvement. For example, the SoS method 

has been adapted to use an alternative approach for Care Experienced 

 
3 2025 Accolades awards ceremony, winners and… | Social Care Wales  

Page 33

https://socialcare.wales/the-accolades/2025-accolades


Page 6 of 15 

 

Children (CEC), namely Signs of Stability. This positive practice is valued by 

staff and supports to develop workforce efficacy.   

 
4.7 Practitioners are increasingly seeking and hearing the voice of the child and 

leaders have retained focus on improving practice in this area. We found good 

examples of Signs of Safety being used to promote child centred approaches to 

direct work with children. This includes regular use of direct work tools, such as 

‘three houses’ and ‘words and pictures’. Practice would be strengthened with 

consistency and increased focus on how the voice of the child is impacting 

assessments, plans and outcomes.  

 

Areas for improvement 

 

4.8 The Signs of Safety methodology promotes a relationship grounded and 

strength-based approach to practice. Leaders are embedding this 

organisational change in a phased way and sustained improvements are 

evident. However, practice remains variable and some teams are further ahead 

with improvements, than others. This means some children and families are 

experiencing the impact of improvements more than others. For example, when 

safeguarding arrangements work well, professionals work with the whole family 

and their network to co-produce safety plans and reduce risks in a timely way. 

When it works less well, family strengths are not identified or utilised, and plans 

become service led. In some files we also found fathers should have been 

involved sooner in assessments and plans. Leaders are aware of this issue 

and should retain focus on achieving consistent practice, across all staff 

and teams.  

 

Prevention - We asked:  

How well is the local authority preventing the need for care and support and 

ensuring the best outcomes for people? How effective are service 

developments at ensuring people receive the right support at the right time? 

 

Strengths 

 

4.9 The IAA team is responsible for receiving contacts and referrals, providing 

advice and assistance, assessing needs, and undertaking safeguarding 

enquiries. The MASH acts as the single point of contact for all new 

safeguarding concerns and brings together staff from BCBC, education, police, 

and health services. IAA and MASH work closely together, with a shared focus 

on improving access and pathways to support. The partnership working and 

collaboration of agencies in the MASH is positive practice.  

 

4.10 In 2023–24, leaders developed their 3-year strategic plan for C&F services, 

entitled ‘Think Family’. This committed the Council to introducing new 

arrangements for an integrated IAA, early help, locality social work, locality 

early intervention and edge of care services. A commissioning strategy was 

Page 34



Page 7 of 15 

 

implemented to drive improvement and investment across this continuum of 

support. Family support services were integrated with Children and Family 

Services, while education engagement and pupil support services remained the 

responsibility of the education directorate.  

 
4.11 Whilst the impact of these changes is the subject of ongoing review, early 

indicators appear positive. For example, in November 2023-2024 there was a 

16% reduction in the total number of children allocated to specialist teams, 

including a 48% reduction in child protection allocations. Practitioners reported 

increased confidence and improved decision-making through shared expertise 

and closer collaboration. Most importantly, exit surveys indicate nearly all 

people receiving early help services feel more able to make positive changes, 

reporting improved resilience, having better emotional well-being and family 

relationships, and being more confident to support their child’s development. 

Similarly, 92% of children supported by edge of care services in 2024-25 were 

successfully prevented from entering the care system. This is positive 

practice which indicates need is being met in a timely way, whilst 

reducing the need for care and support. 

 

Areas for improvement  

 

4.12 The local authority works closely with an improvement partner to review service 

outcomes and areas for development. This process highlighted the need for 

family support to streamline systems, develop more intensive targeted support, 

and reform parenting support. There are some vacancies in key posts and gaps 

in service sufficiency, including services for adolescents, mental health, 

emotional well-being, neurodiversity, and vacancies for specialist exploitation 

workers and the integrated family support service. These gaps have led to 

some delays in people receiving timely support, and we identified examples 

where contingency planning for ending support could be 

improved. Recruitment is underway, and leaders should continue to 

develop services in line with their Family Support Commissioning 

Strategy. The local authority should also review its communication 

strategy to ensure staff and partners are clear about available services 

and referral pathways.  

 

4.13 Leaders are working through local and national challenges, to develop 

placement sufficiency for supported accommodation and regulated services. A 

Children, Young Person and Transition Commissioning Strategy 2023-2028 

outlines plans for improvement, but there remains a projected gap in sufficiency 

beyond 2028. The general shortage of foster carers and the specific shortage 

of skilled foster carers and residential care homes who can care for children 

with the greatest needs, are of particular concern. Leaders should continue 

to implement plans in the local authority commissioning strategy, to 

support timely improvements.  

 

Page 35



Page 8 of 15 

 

 

 

4.14 Whilst placements Operating without Registration (OWR) are only used in 

exceptional circumstances, and their use is reducing, there are a small number 

of children who are placed in services providing care and support that are not 

registered as required by law. The local authority must ensure children are 

not placed in unregistered services and must continue its efforts to 

identify suitable, registered placements. 

 

4.15 Placement sufficiency in foster care is partly dependent on the support for 

carers and the local authority approach to retention. Leaders have plans to 

improve approaches with matching, training, and placement support. The 

fostering service and Care Experienced Children Team (CECT) have recently 

appointed permanent managers, and practitioners report improved practice and 

morale. Whilst the fostering service and CECT are increasingly working 

together to strengthen placement stability, foster carers report mixed views 

about the impact and sustainability of these changes. Leaders should ensure 

the fostering service and CECT retain priority focus, to ensure 

improvements are made in a timely way.  

 

Well-being – We asked:  

How well is the local authority protecting people from abuse and neglect? How 

effective are service developments at addressing priority areas for improvement 

to safeguard children?  

 

Strengths 

 

4.16 The local authority responds to safeguarding enquiries in a timely way and 

responds to referrers as required in the WSP. Partners are consistently invited 

and contribute to the safeguarding process. Nearly all children receive visits in 

line with the requirements of the WSP, and child protection conferences and 

CEC Reviews are timely. The local authority has addressed improvements 

required from the JICPA and ensures minutes and plans are shared following 

these meetings. Core groups would be strengthened further if meetings were 

consistently in person and with improved focus on developing the outline plan 

from conference. 

 

4.17 Practitioners mostly identify and make the active offer of advocacy. It is positive 

the offer of formal advocacy is expanding, and parental advocacy is now 

considered alongside advocacy for children. We saw examples of Independent 

Reviewing Officers (IRO) checking and ensuring children were provided with 

the active offer. Despite this, the uptake of advocacy is somewhat lower than 

expected and leaders are working with practitioners to better understand this 

issue. We identified examples where the offer of parental advocacy would have 

been appropriate and was not considered. However, informal advocacy is 

Page 36



Page 9 of 15 

 

nearly always available to parents in the safeguarding process, when formal 

advocacy is not offered or accepted. 

 
4.18 The local authority has developed a central contact team who support 

supervised contact for CEC and children subject to the Public Law Outline 

(PLO) process. This dedicated resource is significantly improving the timeliness 

and quality of contact, whilst creating capacity for practitioners to focus on care 

and support planning. 

 
4.19 Leaders have developed an effective Assuring Quality and Learning 

Framework to systemically monitor and evaluate practice. This aims to support 

learning and development, improved practice, and the best possible outcomes 

for people. An essential element of the framework is to promote critical thinking 

and professional curiosity through meaningful feedback from practitioners, 

partners, and people with lived experience. For example, staff complete 

appreciative enquiries4, and leaders have recently adopted the Most Significant 

Change5 method to hear people’s stories and develop an understanding of how 

and when change happens for people. This positive practice is rolling out 

across all teams and leaders should continue to support this advanced 

approach to learning and quality assurance.  

 

Areas for improvement    

 

4.20 Leaders are aware of increasing concerns regarding the exploitation of children 

and the impact of online harm. A regional strategy was co-produced with 

people and partners in April 2025. Regional practice guidance, training, 

prevention panels, and tools were created for implementation. A local multi-

agency plan has clear actions and a governance structure to oversee 

improvements. This includes exploitation training for the workforce and multi-

agency partners. The local authority has invested in 3 specialist posts, which 

will strengthen the strategic and operational response to these concerns. This 

is a significant improvement following the JICPA 2023, and these developments 

are beginning to strengthen practice and management oversight. However, the 

strategy is not yet fully embedded, and there remains inconsistencies in how 

exploitation is identified across agencies. Leaders should continue to embed 

consistent approaches to safeguarding children from exploitation. This 

should include continuing to explore opportunities for multi-agency 

training, reflection, and shared learning. 

 

4.21 Whilst the local authority generally records demographics and associates, we 

found case recordings were not always completed in a timely or consistent 

manner. Records should be accurate, objective, understandable, complete, and 

up-to-date. They should fully reflect and respect the views of the person 

 
4 A strengths-based approach to creating change. This involves listening to the experiences of people, exploring 

what is already working, and how to build on that.  
5 Deep handbook Eng.pdf  

Page 37

file:///D:/Users/AndersonB001/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/Q8OKE175/Deep%20handbook%20Eng.pdf


Page 10 of 15 

 

concerned, contain an appropriate level of analysis to support decisions made, 

and evidence sound professional judgement and decision making. Leaders 

should work with practitioners to develop and embed agreed standards 

for record keeping. 

 
4.22 Whilst many assessments and plans provide a detailed summary of service 

interventions and next steps, there is a loss of focus on proportionality and 

analysis of need. Some assessments and plans would be strengthened with an 

improved focus on risk, harm, strengths, safety, the voice of the child, and 

outcomes. It is particularly important the child and significant family members 

are consistently included in this process and plans are co-produced. SoS 

provides an opportunity for family network meetings and safety plans to reduce 

escalations through this strength-based approach. Leaders are working with 

staff to build skills and confidence, and the consistency of practice is improving. 

Leaders should continue to review the quality of assessments and plans 

and share learning to support practice improvements.   

 
4.23 The IRO service is piloting the SoS approach in child protection case 

conferences. This provides an opportunity to make the conference process 

more inclusive, and strength based. Parents/caregivers are actively 

encouraged to attend and contribute. However, the voice of the child, their lived 

experience and their wishes and feelings could be heard in a more impactful 

way. Subject to their age and level of understanding, children must be 

invited and supported to take part in meetings held in line with the WSP; 

and all meetings held in line with child protection processes should start 

with the child’s story6.  

 
4.24 Recordings for case conference do not sufficiently focus on the information 

recorded being understood by family members. The written record of 

conference is a crucial working document and leaders should ensure 

record keeping is in line with the requirements of the WSP.  

 
4.25 The IRO service plans to review the SoS pilot and will seek the views of family 

members, as part of this process. Leaders should continue to ensure 

improvements to the conference process are co-produced with people. 

 

Partnership - We asked:  

How well are partners working together to deliver high-quality, sustainable 

outcomes for people? How well have strategic partnerships continued to work 

together, to secure continuous improvements? 

 

Strengths 

 

4.26 We saw collaborative partnership working at operational and strategic levels. 

This is critical to ensure improvements are delivered and sustained, and the 

 
6 Full report - Rapid Review of Child Protection Arrangements FINAL FOR PUBLICATION 

Page 38

https://www.careinspectorate.wales/sites/default/files/2023-09/230928-Rapid-review-of-child-protection-arangements-en.pdf


Page 11 of 15 

 

well-being of children and families is consistently promoted and protected. 

Leaders have a positive professional support network from which it can 

draw expertise, knowledge, support, and constructive challenge. 

 

4.27 Effective and mature partnership arrangements between agencies are 

supporting a coordinated multi-agency response to safeguarding concerns. 

There is a positive focus on safeguarding across the local authority. A 

culture of safeguarding is promoted as everyone’s collective 

responsibility. 

 
4.28 Leaders have responded to areas for improvement identified through inspection 

activities. The initial response prioritised improvements required with workforce 

stability and safeguarding arrangements. Subsequent priorities included 

improvements to early help and prevention, fostering services, and contact 

arrangements. The local authority has also worked with partners to embed SoS 

and strengthen commissioned arrangements. Whilst some improvements are 

more established than others, leaders have retained focus on priorities and 

sought to maintain and sustain progress. There has been a positive 

approach to change management. 

 
4.29 The local authority and multi-agency partners have developed an improved 

understanding of threshold for referrals into the MASH. MASH have developed 

a professionals advice line for discussions about safeguarding concerns. 

Partners told us the professional advice line has had a positive impact. 

This is positive practice.  

 
4.30 Operational partners work well together and there is confidence in decision 

making for safeguarding. This is supported by effective systems for escalation 

and a healthy culture of professional challenge. For example, fortnightly MASH 

interface meetings and a Joint Operational Group (JOG) provide opportunity for 

multi-agency reflection and constructive challenge. This is positive practice 

and leaders should continue to strengthen these arrangements.  

 

Areas for improvement   

 

4.31 The local authority has brought the majority of early help services into the Child 

and Family directorate, from the Education directorate. This change has been 

well received by most staff and is supporting improved discussions about 

prevention and thresholds for care and support. However, some staff would 

benefit from an improved understanding of these changes. Leaders should 

continue to work with education partners to develop a shared 

understanding of roles and responsibilities.  

 

4.32 There is draft regional guidance on thresholds for care and support. This was 

developed with multi-agency partners and is nearing publication. Leaders 

Page 39



Page 12 of 15 

 

should continue to work with partners locally and regionally, to 

implement threshold guidance in a timely and robust way.   

 
4.33 Partners identified some inconsistent practice in relation to exploitation, 

professional concerns, and the operational response to the Children (Abolition 

of Defence of Reasonable Punishment) (Wales) Act 2020. Leaders should 

continue to work with partners and seek feedback on these specific areas 

of practice, to ensure improvements are made in a timely way.  

 
4.34 Some partners would welcome further multi-agency training in respect of SoS, 

exploitation, thresholds, and safeguarding. Leaders should continue to work 

with partners to develop an agreed approach to multi-agency training and 

practice. 

 
4.35 The Cwm Taf Morgannwg Emergency Duty Team (EDT) covers Bridgend, 

Merthyr Tydfil, and Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCT). The service must provide help 

in a crisis to vulnerable adults, children in need and their families. Partners and 

practitioners reported challenges with staff sufficiency, record keeping, and 

practice. Leaders should work with regional partners to review these 

arrangements and promote improvements in a timely way.   

 

5. Next Steps  

 

CIW expects the local authority to consider the areas identified for improvement 

and take appropriate action to address and improve these areas. CIW will 

monitor progress through its ongoing performance review activity with the local 

authority. Where relevant, we expect the local authority to share the positive 

practice identified with other local authorities, to disseminate learning and help 

drive continuous improvement in statutory services throughout Wales.  

 

6. Methodology  

Fieldwork 

 

• Most inspection evidence was gathered by reviewing the experiences of 24 

people through review and tracking of their social care record. We reviewed 

21 social care records and tracked 3 

• Tracking a person’s social care record includes having conversations with the 

person in receipt of social care services, their family or carers, key worker, the 

key worker’s manager, and were appropriate other professionals involved 

• We engaged, through interviews, observations and/or focus groups, with 8 

people receiving services and/or their carer 

• We engaged, through interviews and/or focus groups with 48 local authority 

employees (this included social workers, team managers, operational and 

strategic managers, the head of service, and director of social services 

• We interviewed a range of partner organisations 

• We reviewed a sample of staff supervision files 

Page 40



Page 13 of 15 

 

• We observed reflective sessions and an initial child protection case 

conference 

• We reviewed supporting documentation sent to CIW for the purpose of the 

inspection 

• We administered surveys to local authority social services staff, partner 

organisations and people 

 

Our Privacy Notice can be found at https://careinspectorate.wales/how-we-use-

your-information.  

 

7. Welsh Language  

 

CIW is committed to providing an active offer of the Welsh language during its 

activity with local authorities. The active offer was not required on this occasion. 

This is because the local authority informed us people taking part did not wish 

to contribute to this improvement check in Welsh.  

 

8. Acknowledgements 

 

CIW would like to thank staff, partners and people who gave their time and 

contributed to this inspection. 

 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
 

 

Lou Bushell-Bauers 

Head of Local Authority Inspection 

Care Inspectorate Wales 

  

Page 41

https://careinspectorate.wales/how-we-use-your-information
https://careinspectorate.wales/how-we-use-your-information


Page 14 of 15 

 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Glossary of Terminology  

 

Term What we mean in our reports and letters 

 

Must  Improvement is deemed necessary in order for the local 

authority to meet a duty outlined in legislation, regulation or 

code of practice. The local authority is not currently meeting 

its statutory duty/duties and must take action.  

Should Improvement will enhance service provision and/or 

outcomes for people and/or their carer. It does not 

constitute a failure to meet a legal duty at this time; but 

without suitable action, there is a risk the local authority may 

fail to meet its legal duty/duties in future.  

Positive practice Identified areas of strength within the local authority. This 

relates to practice considered innovative and/or which 

consistently results in positive outcomes for people 

receiving statutory services.  

Prevention and 

Early Intervention 

A principle of the Act which aims to ensure there is access 

to support to prevent situations from getting worse, and to 

enhance the maintenance of individual and collective well-

being. This principle centres on increasing preventative 

services within communities to minimise the escalation of 

critical need.  

Voice and Control  A principle of the Act which aims to put the individual and 

their needs at the centre of their care and support; and 

giving them a voice and control over their outcomes. This 

can help them achieve their well-being outcomes and the 

things that matter most to them.  

Well-being  A principle of the Act which aims for people to have well-

being in every part of their lives. Well-being is more than 

being healthy. It is about being safe and happy, having 

choice and getting the right support, being part of a strong 

community, having friends and relationships that are good 

for you, and having hobbies, work or learning. It is about 

supporting people to achieve their own well-being and 

measuring the success of care and support.  

Co-Production  A principle of the Act which aims for people to be more 

involved in the design and provision of their care and 

support. It means organisations and professionals working 

with them and their family, friends and carers so their care 

and support is the best it can be.  

Page 42



Page 15 of 15 

 

Multi-Agency 

working  

A principle of the Act which aims to strengthen joint working 

between care and support organisations to make sure the 

right types of support and services are available in local 

communities to meet people’s needs. The summation of the 

Act states there is a requirement for co-operation and 

partnership by public authorities.  

What matters ‘What Matters’ conversations are a way for professionals to 

understand people’s situation, their current well-being, and 

what can be done to support them. It is an equal 

conversation and is important to help ensure the voice of 

the individual or carer is heard and ‘what matters’ to them. 

 

 

Appendix 2 

 

Quantity Definitions Table  

 

Terminology  

 

Definition 

Nearly all With very few exceptions 

Most 90% or more 

Many 70% or more 

A majority Over 60% 

Half 50% 

Around half Close to 50% 

A minority Below 40% 

Few Below 20% 

Very few Less than 10% 

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

Children’s Social Care 
June 2025 – Care Inspectorate Wales – Improvement Check 

ACTION PLAN 

PRINCIPLE 1 PEOPLE (Pe) 

REF AREA FOR IMPROVEMENT ACTION RESPONSIBLE TIMESCALE BRAG 

Pe1 
Retain focus on implementing Signs 

of Safety model of practice, 

achieving consistent ways of 

working across all staff and teams.  

 

Workforce Transformation workstream meets 6-
weekly and governs SofS implementation including 
QA activity ensure that Sofs is embedded across 
teams. 

Consultant Social Worker will support specific teams 
to ensure SofS is embedded across all teams.(RIF 
funded). 

SofS Champion event to be held to ensure full 
understanding of role and responsibility for each team 

CIG to continue to be used as a practice forum to 
celebrate good practice and areas for development 

PO Transformation March 2026  

Reflective Sessions involving partners to continue to 
be held. 

   

    

 

P
age 45



   
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 46



   
 

PRINCIPLE 2 – PREVENTION (Pr) 

REF AREA FOR IMPROVEMENT ACTION RESPONSIBLE TIMESCALE BRAG 

Pr 1 

Continue to develop services in line 
with the Family Support 
Commissioning Strategy; review the 
communication strategy to ensure 
staff and partners are clear about 
available services and referral 
pathways 

Implement the recommendations and actions 
contained within the Family Support 
Commissioning strategy 

Family Support 

Action Plan_05062025 v0.1.docx 

Multi-Agency board to monitor implementation of 
the strategy 

PO Family support March 2027  

Pr 2 

Continue to implement plans in the 

local authority commissioning 

strategy, to support timely 

improvements.  

 

 

Implement the Eliminate Profit action plan to 
develop services to prevent children from 

becoming looked-after and those that need to exit 
care. 

FOSTERING 

Eliminating Profit and Radical Reform Grant funding - 25_26-27_28 - proforma (E) final.docx 

 

Head of Service/PO 
Commissioning 

March 2027  

Pr 3 

Ensure that children are not placed 

in unregistered services and 

continue efforts to identify suitable, 

registered placements. 

To increase foster carer availability and capacity. 

Increase internal residential provision capacity. 

PO Placements and 
Commissioning, GMs 

June 2026  

P
age 47



   
 

 Ensure there are clear and timely plans for 
children’s move on from care.  

Use the re-modelling fostering board to monitor 
progress linked to the above actions 

Pr 4 

Ensure the fostering service and 

CECT retain priority focus, to 

ensure improvements are made in a 

timely way.  

To continue to monitor performance, compliance, 
staff surveys, outcomes, staffing to prevent any 

impact on service delivery 

 

IRO service to continue to monitor quality of care 
planning and escalate issues to TM’s and GMs 

when required to do so. 

 

PO Case Management and Transition to improve 
practice across CECT and Care leaving teams 

ensuring that SofS and care planning is evident in 
all teams 

GM Provider Services 
and GM Case 

Management and 
Transition 

June 2026  

P
age 48



   
 

PRINCIPLE 3 – Wellbeing (W) 

REF AREA FOR IMPROVEMENT ACTION RESPONSIBLE TIMESCALE BRAG 

W 1 
Continue to embed consistent 

approaches to safeguarding 

children from exploitation. This 

should include continuing to explore 

opportunities for multi-agency 

training, reflection, and shared 

learning. 

 

    

 To implement the exploitation strategy and develop 
our exploitation service and then monitor the impact of 
the service on outcomes for children. 

 

Exploitation 

Strategy.docx  

Multi-agency training to be delivered to teams via 
Regional Safeguarding board. 

 

Exploitation Champions to continue to meet and 
promote the exploitation strategy and approaches to 
working with children and families. 

 

GM Locality Hubs June 2026  

    

W 2 Work with practitioners to develop 
and embed agreed standards for 
record keeping. 

Refresh record keeping guidance and ensure teams 
are implementing consistently via QA activity. 

Training to be developed and delivered to teams to 
ensure consistency in recording. 

QA Officer/PO 
Transformation 

June 2026  

W 3 
Continue to review the quality of 

assessments and plans and share 
Continue to implement the QA framework, MSC and 
service based audits to identify good practice and 
areas for development. 

PO Transformation/SMT June 2026  

P
age 49



   
 

PRINCIPLE 3 – Wellbeing (W) 

REF AREA FOR IMPROVEMENT ACTION RESPONSIBLE TIMESCALE BRAG 

learning to support practice 

improvements.   

 

 

Reflective sessions to continue to be held across 
teams and partners. 

 

CIG to continue to be a forum to promote good 
practice 

 

Action learning sets to continue to be held across 
teams. 

W 4 
Subject to their age and level of 

understanding, children must be 

invited and supported to take part in 

meetings held in line with the WSP; 

and all meetings held in line with 

child protection processes should 

start with the child’s story. 

 

To record and reflect that children are being invited to 
CP conferences and that SofS is being implemented 
consistently with the voice of the child evident 
throughout. 

 

Implement SofS conferences for all CP conferences. 

IRO team development to ensure child’s story 
commences a CP conference 

PO Transformation and 
IRO Team 

Manager/SCWDP 

June 2026  

W 5 
Ensure case conference record 

keeping is in line with the 

requirements of the WSP.  

 

To review the approach to minute taking and that 
notes are proportionate and reflect the strengths, risks 
and needs within families clearly. 

 

GM Business 
Support/IRO Team 

Manager/GM Locality 
Hubs 

June 2026  

P
age 50



   
 

  

PRINCIPLE 3 – Wellbeing (W) 

REF AREA FOR IMPROVEMENT ACTION RESPONSIBLE TIMESCALE BRAG 

 Training to be provided to business support staff on 
expectations on minute taking. 

W 6 Continue to ensure improvements 
to the conference process are co-
produced with people 

To continue implement SofS conferences consistently 
and ensure that the voice of children and families are 
at the centre. 

 

Increase the number of children participating in their 
CP conference through the child’s social worker 
having early discussions with families regarding 
attendance. 

 

 

GM 
IAA/Safeguarding/IRO 
Team Manager 

June 2026  

P
age 51



   
 

 

 

PRINCIPLE 4 – Partnerships (Pa) 

REF AREA FOR IMPROVEMENT ACTION RESPONSIBLE TIMESCALE BRAG 

Pa 1 Continue to work with education 
partners to develop a shared 
understanding of roles and 
responsibilities. 

To continue with attendance at Team Bridgend, 
Primary Federation and BASSH. 

 

Continue with interface with EEYP directorate 

 

SofS multi-agency training to commence with 
Education services by end of 2025 

GM IAA/Safeguarding 

 

 

PO Family Support 

June 2026  

Pa 2 Continue to work with partners to 
implement threshold guidance in a 
timely and robust way.   

To launch local threshold guidance and hold raising 
awareness sessions of the guidance with relevant 
partners. 

 

Reflective sessions continue to be held with partners 
to develop shared understanding of thresholds. 

 

SofS multi-agency training to delivered to all partners. 

GM IAA/Safeguarding March 2026  

Pa 3 
Continue to work with partners and 

seek feedback on specific areas of 

practice - exploitation, professional 

concerns, and the operational 

response to the Children (Abolition 

To review with partners in our multi-agency forums 
such as JOG progress related to exploitation, 
professional concern and any other areas of multi-
agency practice. 

Deputy HOS March 2026  

P
age 52



   
 

of Defence of Reasonable 

Punishment) (Wales) Act 2020 - to 

ensure improvements are made in a 

timely way.  

 

Reflective sessions continue to be held with partners 
to develop shared understanding of thresholds. 

 

SofS multi-agency training to delivered to all partners 

Pa 4 
Continue to work with partners to 

develop an agreed approach to 

multi-agency training and practice. 

To review what multi-agency training is currently 
delivered and where opportunities present to enhance 
multi-agency sessions. 

 

Develop joint training with Health, Education and SWP 
on best practice linked to children and family support 

SCWDP March 2026  

Pa 5 
Work with regional partners to 

review EDT arrangements and 

promote improvements in a timely 

way.   

 

 

To attend EDT management board and feed into 
service development. 

 

Create an interface with EDT with the GM 
IAA/Safeguarding to discuss any operational issues. 

 

 

GM Locality Hubs  

 

 

GM IAA/Safeguarding 

September 
2025 

 

September 
2025 

 

 

 

BRAG STATUS - KEY 
 Action Complete 
 Action On Track 
 Action Mainly On Track 

With Some Minor Issues 

P
age 53



   
 

 Action Not On Track, Not 
Yet Meeting Performance 

Targets 
 

P
age 54



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
24 SEPTEMBER 2025 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
SOCIAL SERVICES ANNUAL REPORT 2024-25 

 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND 

WELLBEING 

Responsible 
Officer:  

   
DEBBIE MORGAN 

GROUP MANAGER, BUSINESS STRATEGY, 
PERFORMANCE & IMPROVEMENT 

 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

There is no effect upon the Policy Framework and 
Procedure Rules. 

 

Executive 
Summary:  
 
 
 

The Social Services Annual Report 2024-25 is a statutory 
requirement providing the Council, the people of Bridgend 
County Borough, regulators and  partners with an overview 
of the effectiveness of Social Services and Wellbeing in the 
county borough in the last year.  
 
The report reflects on 2024-25, highlighting achievements 
and challenges whilst outlining  priorities for 2025-26. New 
report guidance has been introduced for the reporting  year, 
with performance being assessed across the 4 areas of 
People, Prevention, Partnership and Integration and Well-
being, with each area focusing on 2 quality standards. 
 
As well as the performance assessment section of the report, 
it also includes a Director’s summary, information on 
leadership, workforce, inspections and reviews and 
complaints and representations. 

 
The report highlights our key risks and financial resources 
noting the key challenges and pressures the Directorate 
and the Council faces in fulfilling its statutory social 
services and wellbeing duties for the people of the county 
borough. 
 
 

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Social Services Annual Report 2024-25 

(Appendix one) to Council for approval.   

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



 

2. Background  
 
2.1 Following the implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

(SSWBA), Welsh Government developed a performance framework which aimed to 
ensure local authorities report on and performance evaluate against the well-being 
outcomes of the SSWBA. The Act seeks to do this by: 

 

• transforming the way in which social services are delivered, primarily through 
promoting people’s independence and giving them a strong voice and control.  

• promoting partnership working; and 

• enhancing the preventative role of social care and health, setting out 
overarching well-being duties to reduce or delay the need for care and support. 

 
2.2 Initial guidance for the Social Services Annual Report was published in 2017, 

however, to reflect developments since 2017, including the new Performance 
Management Framework, as well as feedback from local authorities and 
stakeholders, in May 2024, Welsh Government and the Association of the Directors 
of Social Services Cymru issued the “ Local Authority Social Services Annual Report 
(Director’s Report) Guidance”. 

 
2.3 This new guidance comes into effect in 2025.  This means reports reflecting the 2024-

25 financial year will need to follow the new guidance. The new guidance clearly sets 
out what is to be included in the report and how Welsh Government will measure 
performance. 

 
2.4 The draft Annual Report was presented to the Social Services, Health and Wellbeing 

Overview Scrutiny Committee on 11th September 2024.  The Committee welcomed 
the report as an excellent picture of the service provision and in highlighting some 
areas, such as workforce, as an area of excellence. The Committee noted their 
thanks to Officers within the Directorate for the good work undertaken. The 
Committee did express concern regarding financial considerations, in particular, the 
reliance on grant funding and were keen that the Directorate maintain momentum to 
ensure sustainability of the level of excellence that it is reaching and striving towards 
within budgetary constraints.  

 
 
3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 As outlined in the Annual Report guidance, the SSWBA requires local authorities, 

health boards and Welsh Ministers to promote the well-being of people who need 
care and support and carers who need support. It further adds that the Act seeks to 
ensure: 

 

• People have control over what support they need, making decisions about their 

support as an equal partner. 

• There is proportionate assessment that focuses on the individual.  

• Carers have an equal right to an assessment for support to those they care for.  

• Easy access to information and advice is available to all.  

• Arrangements to safeguard people are stronger.  

• A preventative approach to care and support needs.  

Page 56



 

• Local authorities and health boards work in partnership to drive integration, 

innovation and service change including new forms of provision. 

3.2 Welsh Government has now made the Annual Report an integral part of the 
Performance Improvement Framework, which focuses on eight quality standards 
under the four key areas of people, prevention, partnership and integration and 
wellbeing as noted in Table 1. These areas are addressed in the performance 
assessment section of the report with previous guidance measuring performance 
under six quality standards. 

 
Table 1 

 

Area Quality Standards  

1. People 1. All people are equal partners who have choice, voice 

and control over their lives and are able to achieve what 

matters to them. 

2. Effective leadership is evident at all levels with a highly 

skilled well qualified and supported workforce working 

towards a shared vision. 

2. Prevention 3. The need for care and support is minimised and the 

escalation of need is prevented whilst ensuring that the 

best outcomes for people are achieved. 

4. Resilience within communities is promoted and people 

are supported to fulfil their potential by actively 

supporting people who need care and/or support 

including carers to learn develop and participate in 

society. 

3. Partnership and 
Integration 

5. Effective partnerships are in place to commission and 

fully deliver fully integrated, high quality sustainable 

outcomes for people. 

6. People are encouraged to be involved in the design and 

delivery of their care and support as equal partners. 

4. Well-being 7. People are protected and safeguarded from abuse and 

neglect and any other types of harm. 

8. People are supported to actively manage their well-

being and make their own decisions so that they are able 

to achieve their full potential and live independently for 

as long as possible. 

 
 
3.3  The Annual Report Guidance gives clear instruction on how to structure the report 

and highlights the key areas to focus on, which as well as the eight quality standards 
within section 3 of the report, also includes key information on leadership, the 
workforce, financial resources, inspections and reviews as well as complaints and 
representations.  

Page 57



 

 
3.4  The report must begin with a Director’s summary focusing on the following areas: 
 

• main achievements. 

• key risks and challenges. 

• priorities and overarching objectives for 2025-26. 

 
3.5 Throughout the Annual Report there is evidence of key service developments made 

throughout the reporting year, the impact made and how we have engaged with the 
people that access our services. Examples of achievements included in the Director’s 
summary note: 

 

• a strengthened and stabilised workforce. 

• further embedding of the “signs of safety” practice model in Children and Family 

Services and the “outcomes focused, strengths based” practice model in Adult 

Social Care. 

• integration of the early help and edge of care services. 

• the remodelling of care and support at home. 

• the range of services provided by our prevention and wellbeing service to support 

people within a community setting. 

3.6 The most significant risks the Directorate faces and how they will be mitigated are 
also included in the Director’s summary. Examples include: 

 

• the increasing complexity of need linked to an aging population. 

• ensuring sufficient provision of care and support, including placement sufficiency 

for care experienced children. 

• the impact of the Health and Social Care (Wales) Bill (2025) and the challenging 

timescales and financial implications of the removal of profit for children’s social 

care 

• the replacement of the current social services digital case management system 

• increased pressures on our partners. 

3.7 Whilst specific priorities are noted in the performance assessment section, under the 
four areas of people, prevention, partnerships and integration and well-being the 
Directorate’s strategic priorities for 2025-26 are outlined in the Director’s summary: 

 

• Supporting workforce wellbeing, retention and recruitment to continue to achieve 

a highly motivated, well supported skilled workforce. 

• Embedding our models of practice and using our quality assurance and learning 

and development programmes to address variation in quality. 

• Enhancing our prevention, early intervention and edge of care services to support 

more people to live independently and well and for children to live safely with their 

own families. 

• Embedding our operating models in adults, children and families and prevention 

and wellbeing which have early help and prevention at their core. 

• Hearing and acting upon the voice of the people we work with and alongside. 

Page 58



 

• Addressing deficits in the sufficiency of services, particularly children’s not for 

profit residential and fostering services and supported living, shared lives and 

extra care for adults. 

• Understanding better current and future needs and projections for social services 

and wellbeing services, including the impact of new legislation and demographics, 

to align service and financial plans which mean we are as best placed as possible 

to achieve sustainable social services at a cost affordable to the Council. 

• Investing in partnerships with other public services, the third sector and 

community groups to improve outcomes for individuals and families in the most 

effective and cost effective way. 

• Implementing a new digital system which will modernise the way our workforce 

practice, whilst we support them to prepare for social care being at the fore of the 

Council’s digital strategy. 

3.8 It is important to note that all priorities are reflected in the Directorate’s 2025-26 
Business Plan and link to our 3-year strategic plans (“Think Family” in Children and 
Family Services” and  “Building on Strengths, Improving Lives’ in Adult Social Care). 

 
3.9  In developing the Annual Report, engagement and consultation activity has taken 

place via a number of channels including People First Bridgend, the Bridgend Youth  
Forum, domiciliary care community meetings and the social services complaints and 
compliments process.  It is important the voice of the people we work with is heard 
so that areas of good practice are shared and areas for improvement addressed.  

 
3.10 Finally, it is important to note that the report acknowledges the support of the whole 

Council, our partners in South Wales Police, Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health 
Board (CTMUHB) and other statutory partners, the Cwm Taf Morgannwg regional 
partnership, our cultural and leisure partners Awen and Halo, and other third sector 
partners. It also pays tribute to the exceptional commitment to the most vulnerable 
people across the borough and the professionalism and commitment of the workforce 
across both statutory and preventative services. 

 

 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
            
5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 

Well-being Objectives 
 
5.1 The implementation of the duties and responsibilities under the SSWBA, supports the 

promotion of two of the seven goals of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015. By promoting an environment that maximises people’s physical and mental 
well-being and by supporting children, young people, adults and their carers and 

Page 59



 

families to fulfil their potential no matter what their circumstances, the well-being goals 
of a healthier and more equal Bridgend and Wales are supported. 

 
5.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 

a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Council should work to deliver well-being outcomes for people.  The following is a 
summary to demonstrate how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals 
have been considered in this report. 

 

• Long Term: Social Services is needs led and the SSWBA focusses on 
sustainable prevention and well-being outcomes for the future. There is a 
requirement to meet the needs of people in the longer term and, due to increased 
contacts, rising demographics and increasing complexity, the continued 
improvement and transformation of services remains a priority. The prevention 
section of the report demonstrates how we are thinking long tern by supporting 
resilient communities. For example, our prevention and wellbeing service and 
their partners are ensuing people are connected to their communities and that 
carers have a range of support and services they can access to support them in 
their caring role. 
 

• Prevention:  The report highlights developments by the directorate in line with the 
SSWBA with the new guidance focussing on prevention as one of its 4 key areas 
for performance assessment. Key examples noted in report include the integration 
of early help and edge of care services in Children and Family Services providing 
timely support to prevent intervention by statutory services. In Adult Social Care 
the remodelling of the care and support at home service has enabled a more 
effective response to need to support people in maintaining their independence. 

 

• Integration: The implementation of the SSWBA requires local authorities to work 
with partners to ensure care and support for people and support for carers is 
provided with another area of the performance assessment section focusing on 
partnership and integration. Key examples included in the report note how the 
Integrated Cluster Network Teams in Adult Social care work jointly with CTMUHB 
to deliver and adapt services to people within the community. The Multi-agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH) co-locates adult and children safeguarding and 
partners from police, health, education and probation. The prevention and 
wellbeing service work with third sector partners HALO and AWEN to deliver 
cultural, leisure and wellbeing services across the borough 

 

• Collaboration: The collaborative approaches noted in the report, are managed 
and monitored through various regional collaborative boards. These include the 
Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Partnership Board (RPB) and the Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board (CTMSB). Working regionally enables 
the directorate to strategically plan and deliver local services by optimising 
available resources. 

 

• Involvement:  Our most important stakeholders are the people who use our 
services, and it is important their voice is heard and acted upon. One of the 4 key 
areas within the performance assessment section, focusses on people and 
ensuring they have a voice, choice and control over their lives and what is 
important to them. Within Children and Family Services we have implemented the 
“Most Significant Change” model to gather feedback from people and understand 

Page 60



 

the impact we are making. In Adult Social Care the “Better Together Bridgend” 
partnership brings together people with a learning disability to plan service 
improvements with the Council and providers to work together to plan and co-
produce services. 

 

6. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
 
6.1 There are no climate change or nature implications arising from this report. 
 

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 How we support and continue to improve and strengthen our safeguarding 

arrangements is a key theme throughout the Annual Report and remains a key 
priority. 

 
7.2  Key safeguarding actions are noted within the “Well-being” section and include: 

 

• the implementation of the “no wrong door” approach across Children and Family 

Services to target early intervention to prevent situations getting worse. 

• and the introduction of several panels and groups to support our statutory 

safeguarding duties within Adult Social Care. These include the complex care 

panel, the self-neglect panel and the suicide and self-harm prevention group. 

 

7.3      The Directorate’s safeguarding priorities for 2025-26 include: 

 

• the implementation of the Regional Exploitation Strategy. 

• ensuring learning from Single Unified Safeguarding Reviews and other in-depth 

analysis is systematically embedded through learning, training and development. 

• and monitoring the attendance and engagement at corporate safeguarding board 

meetings to ensure the Council is protecting children and vulnerable adults. 

 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 Whilst there are no direct financial implications from this report, the short, medium 

and long term sustainability of social services, well-being and prevention presents 
growing challenges on the Council to meet statutory responsibilities for the most 
vulnerable and deliver a balanced budget. Part 8 of the SSWBA requires the Head of 
Paid Service and the Corporate Director of Social Services to ensure Members have 
clear advice on the level of resources required for a local authority to effectively 
deliver its social services functions. 

 
8.2 The report highlights the significant issues in respect of the directorate’s budget to 

meet the need for social care services in Bridgend. Whilst the budget outturn position 
for Adult and Children’s Social Care in 2024-25 was an overspend of £1.009 million 
against a net budget of £102.916 million, this was only possible due to a one-off 
funding grant and without this grant, the outturn would have increased the overspend 
to £2.986 million. 

 

Page 61



 

8.3 With over 10% of the Social Services and Wellbeing budget being dependent on 
specific grant funding, there is a significant financial risk to the Council should these 
grants be reduced or withdrawn.  

 
8.4 The annual report also highlights key areas of financial pressure for the directorate 

including: 
   

• Residential placements within Children and Family Services. 

• The impact of the Health and Social Care (Wales) Bill (2025) on not for-profit 

providers. 

• Pressures in adult social care within learning disabilities, mental health, physical 

disabilities and older people’s services driven by increase in cost, volume of 

people supported and complexity of need 

8.5 In February 2025, Council approved £8.8 million in budget pressures for 2025-26 as 
part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2025-26 to 2028-29 to support the 
Directorate in addressing these ongoing pressures. The Social Services 
Improvement Board is overseeing actions to address the service and financial 
pressures. 

 
 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Council approves the 2024-25 Director of Social Services 

Annual Report. 

 
 
Background documents 
None 

Page 62



Social Services 

BR I DG EN D COU NT Y  
BROU G H COU N CI L

CY N GOR BWRD EISTREF  
S I ROL  PEN -Y- BONT A R  OGWR

ANNUAL 
REPORT 

2024-25
Page 63



Contents 
1. Directors Summary  3 

2. Context 14 

•   Leadership 17 

•   Workforce 18 

•   Financial Resources 21 

3. Performance Assessment 22 

• People 23 

• Prevention 40 

• Partnership & Integration 44 

• Well-being 56 

4. Other Information 64 

• Inspections and Reviews 64 

• Complaints and Representations 66 

• Other Sources of Information 68 

5. Glossary  68 

Page 64



1 D I RECTORS SU M M A RY 

This is my fifth annual report as Corporate Director of Social Services 

and Wellbeing in Bridgend. Preparing this report is one of the most 
important duties of a Director of Social Services. The annual report sets 

out the Council’s effectiveness in delivering social services and wellbeing 

for our residents. It helps celebrate what is going well, acknowledge 

where we need to improve and set out priorities for the coming year. 

This report is prepared as a statutory requirement under the Code of Practice issued under 
Part 8 of the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act (2014). 

I must start by thanking our social services and wellbeing workforce - in the Council and 
commissioned services - who have gone above and beyond to make life better for our 
most vulnerable citizens. I am proud of how they have supported people with compassion, 
skill and professionalism. They focus on building relationships and taking time to listen and 
understand what matters to children, families, adults and carers. It is a privilege for us all to 
work with individuals and their families at some of the most challenging times of their lives. 

We have a clear purpose for social services and wellbeing in Bridgend: 

“We exist to exercise our legal and moral duties to help those who need care and support 
in Bridgend to have the best possible life. We have clear strategic plans and priorities for 
children and families and adult social care and wellbeing in Bridgend.” 

The environment we are working in is challenging with a high and growing number of 
contacts with children and family services and adult social care. Our population is growing 
and ageing. Poverty, age, disability and illness, domestic abuse and use of substances have 
a major impact on individuals and communities. Children and young people face challenges 
unknown to previous generations including a growth in safeguarding related cybercrime. 

Alongside changing needs, there is new progressive legislation to remove profit from 

children’s social care in Wales. The financial position of local government remains 

challenging. The proportion of local authority budgets spent on social services across 
Wales has increased lessening the proportion available to invest in preventative and 
wellbeing services which reduce the need for long term care and support. 

Despite the challenges, this report is optimistic. Successful workforce planning, succession 
planning, a focus on workforce wellbeing and learning and development means we have 
a well-supported, well-motivated workforce. We have reduced our reliance on agency 
workers which gives more continuity to the people we support. We have strong and 
effective models of practice and are reducing variability in standards. We have a range 
of services which are good quality and delivering positive outcomes and have plans to 
address gaps in services. We have effective early intervention and prevention and aim to 
support more people earlier and avoid people’s needs escalating. We have robust and 
effective relationships with partners, which we will continue to nurture and invest time 
in. These relationships have been fundamental in our improvement journey over the last 3 
years. They will be central to our continued transformation – as we aim to move our overall 
assessment of effectiveness from good to excellent. 

3 Page 65



In 2024-25 we have stabilised our workforce, 
embedded our signs of safety model of practice 
and integrated prevention and edge of care 
services. This has helped us have a positive 
impact for children and families in Bridgend. 

We have made significant and sustained 

improvements in 2024-25. We have progressed 
at pace from a local authority where there our 
regulator, Care Inspectorate Wales, had ‘serious 
concerns’ in 2022. We developed a ‘whole 
Council approach’ to making the improvements 
needed, took bold action, based on a strong 
understanding of the local data, and analysis of 
evidence of what works. Our key improvement 
actions were: 

• Developed a clear business case and 
strategic plan, supported by investment, 
to strengthen the children’s workforce and 
early help services in September 2023, 
unanimously supported across the council. 

• Strong and effective governance including 
a cross-party improvement board chaired 
by the Leader of Council. 

• A focus on the workforce – both innovation 

in securing a permanent workforce in 
the short term through international 
recruitment and sustainable investment in 
the ‘grow our own’ programme of internal 
succession planning and commitment and 
practice of compassionate leadership, 
workforce wellbeing and ongoing learning 
and development. 

• A clear practice model accompanied by 
low social work caseloads which enable 
the workforce to build strong relationships 
with families, building on strengths, whilst 
acting swiftly to address danger. 

• The integration of early help and edge 
of care services so children and families 
access the right support from the right 
person at the right time. 

• Effective partnership working based on a 
clear purpose, appropriate professional 
challenge and strong mutual support. 

• Strong data and intelligence, quality 
assurance and the support of an 
independent improvement partner. 

Children and   
Family Services 

Our 3-year strategic plan for children and families ‘Think Family’ 
was published in September 2023, and focuses on: 

• The voice of children and families 

• Our workforce 

• Our practice 

• The impact of our services and interventions 

• Our response to families with complex needs 

• Our work with partners 

• Our intelligence and information systems 

4 

  D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY 

Page 66



An improvement check in June 2025 considered 
the effectiveness of children’s services in 
Bridgend including progress against previous 
Care Inspectorate Wales recommendations and 
found: 

“BCBC leaders have consistently prioritised 
children’s services, to support sustained and 
timely improvements. This has significantly 

strengthened the quality and delivery of social 
services functions. The local authority has 
moved from having a fragile workforce and 
critical deficits in capacity, to an overall position 

of stability. This is the most significant change 

made since 2022-23, which underpins the local 
authority’s capacity to drive forward and sustain 
improvements. This positive improvement has 
been achieved through sustained focus on 
workforce wellbeing and practice quality.” 

In terms of impact, we have reduced the number 
and proportion of children and young people 
who experience care and support and require 
safeguarding interventions in Bridgend. We 
have helped more families in Bridgend live well 
together and raise their children to be resilient 
and live the lives that they want to live as adults. 
We still need to do more to focus a greater 
proportion of our resources on cost-effective 
preventative support for families with complex 
needs rather than expensive substitute care 
experiences. We are working with our partners 
to make sure more families get the right help at 
the right time and reduce the number of times we 
have to intervene in a crisis 

It is important to acknowledge the progress 
made and celebrate the workforce who have 
improved outcomes for children and families 
in Bridgend. It is also important to avoid 
complacency both about the areas where we 
still need to improve and, the oversight and 
scrutiny required to assure ourselves regarding 
the quality of practice. The focus in the next year 
includes areas identified by CIW as requiring 

further improvement, as well as areas we have 
identified ourselves. 

We need to: 

• Improve the sufficiency of foster carers 

and residential provision in Bridgend for 
our most vulnerable children. This includes 
opening 2 more residential homes for 
children. 

• Continue to improve Bridgend’s fostering 
service, improving how we recruit, support 
and retain foster carers, match children to 
the right foster family and improve access 
to learning and development for foster 
carers. 

• Reduce the variation in our practice and 
consistently record our work to a high 
standard. 

• Strengthen quality assurance and ensuring 
more children are actively involved in their 
own care plans and reviews. 

• Address gaps in our preventative 
services, particularly to meet the needs of 
adolescents for whom there is a higher risk 
of entry into the care system. 

• Continue to improve practice and 
outcomes in our care experienced children 
and our fostering team, as they benefit 
from more recent workforce stability 
and consistency of management and 
leadership. 

• Work with partners to improve out of 
hours emergency duty arrangements, 
understanding of our practice model, the 
response to professional concerns, and 
safeguarding children from exploitation. 

  D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY 

5 Page 67



The strategic plan builds on our strengths 
– we have well established, highly 
performing, integrated teams with a range 
of health and social care professionals 
working closely together to meet the 
needs of ‘Mrs Jones’ in a way that is 
seamless for the individual and families. 

We work particularly effectively for individuals 
and families living with long term conditions and 
age-related frailty. Our focus is on maximising 
independence and reducing dependency. At the 
end of March 2025, Bridgend County Borough 
Council was supporting the second lowest 
rate of people in Wales in long term care home 
accommodation. 

Overall, the quality of adult social care services in 
Bridgend are also of a high standard. In 2024-25 
Care Inspectorate Wales undertook six regulatory 
inspections of Bridgend County Borough Council 
registered care homes and an inspection of the 
Council’s care and support at home service. 
Overall the inspections demonstrated that staff 
are highly trained and person centred in their 
practice and individuals and families can have a 

high degree of confidence in the quality of care 

provided. 

There has been a focus in the last year on 
remodelling care and support at home. More 
people have retained or regained skills following 
a period of ill health and prior to receiving a 
long-term package of domiciliary care in their 
own home. The majority of people who receive 
reablement have a positive outcome and their 
need for long term care is reduced or mitigated 
entirely. Less people have been delayed in their 
pathway of care following a hospital admission. 

Adult safeguarding is also an area of strength. We 
have strengthened practice and ensured people 
get the right response from the right person at 
the right time. The team has worked effectively 
with partners to oversee improvements in how 
people in the secure estate in Bridgend are 
safeguarded. This is a complex area of work and 
the leadership of the Council’s team has been 
commended by partners. There has also been 
an innovative approach with partners to suicide 
and self-harm prevention. A consultation line 
has been introduced which ensures referrers 

Adult   
Social Care 

Our 3-year strategic plan for adult social care ‘Building on Strengths, 
Improving Lives’ was published in November 2024 and focuses on: 

• Operating Model 

• Outcomes-Focused Strengths-Based Practice Model 

• Transforming Services 

• Learning Disabilities 

• Community Mental Health 

• Lifelong Conditions or Complex Care Needs 

• Supporting Priorities including workforce, learning and development and ICT 

6 

  D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY 

Page 68



have timely access to information, advice and 
assistance and we have also improved the way we 
manage deprivation of liberty safeguards. 

We know there are some areas of adult services 
where further improvements are needed. 
Our community learning disability team has 
experienced a number of workforce challenges 
and we have yet to fully embed a progression 
approach which builds on people’s strengths to 
maximise their independence. Our short term 
social work services – our Early Intervention 
and Prevention Hub and Hospital Social Work 
Team have also experienced difficulties in always 

having sufficient capacity to meet the levels of 
need presenting to them. We are working through 
focussed improvements in these areas and 
implementing plans to strengthen the workforce 
and practice. 

Our priorities for improvement in 2025-26 are: 

• Ensure people are only admitted to hospital 
where this is medically necessary and 

people move smoothly to their next care 
setting on discharge from hospital – working 
with Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health Board. 

• Continue to transform the way we support 
people with learning disabilities. 

• Improve the arrangements for supporting 
young people and their families during the 
transition from childhood to adulthood. 

• Ensure there is sufficient accommodation 

care and support services to meet the 
needs of all our population groups in 
a way that supports people to live as 
independently as possible for as long 
as possible. We will recommission care 
and support at home services, develop a 
business case with partners for additional 
extra care and supported living provision 
and expand shared lives provision. 

• Improve the way that we understand the 
needs of, and support, informal carers. 

  D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY 

7 

In 2024-25 we integrated early help and 
edge of care services into the Social 
Services and Wellbeing directorate. 

Demand and referrals for early help have been 
increasing significantly. We have strengthened 

the early help offer and improved outcomes for 
families. New front door arrangements have 
helped us with early identification of risk, allowing 

teams to intervene before needs escalate. Earlier 
identification has allowed teams to undertake 

preventative work rather than reacting to crises. 
there has been a 67% reduction in the number of 
families stepping up to statutory services, which 
highlights the effectiveness of this early and 
preventative work. Impact measures have shown 

that 96% of families reported feeling more able 
to make positive lifestyle and behaviour changes, 
and 94% of families reported improved family 
resilience. 

The prevention and well-being offer in Bridgend 
has continued to be sector leading in supporting 
the most vulnerable citizens of the county borough 
to be healthy, well and connected in 2024-25. We 
understand people are experts in their own lives 
and are committed to co-producing solutions with 
people and groups. There are some excellent 
examples such as the Bridgend Inclusive Network 
Group (BING) which deliver support and training 
and over time has become sustainable and our 
young carers ambassadors who support their 

Early Help, Prevention 
and Wellbeing 

Page 69



peers in our young carers network to access 
support and design wellbeing activities. 
There are examples of positive practice working 
with people of all ages in the county borough 
including: 

• Local community connectors and 
community navigators who work with people 
across the county borough to support them 
to make meaningful connections and live 
well in their own communities, developing 
new community activities such as 
bushcraft where these don’t currently exist. 
Community connectors support individuals 
who are at the edge of needing statutory 
services; community navigators work with a 
wider range of people. 

• The carer’s wellbeing service signposted 
4650 carers to appropriate services in 
2024-25. 

• The young carers networks which are 
engaging over 146 young carers in ‘we are 
valued’ days and has supported over 549 
through the young carers card. 

• Our new youth hub which meets twice a 

week in Bridgend Resource Centre and 
provides social opportunities children and 
young adults with additional needs 

• Accredited training and supporting for 
people with meaningful occupation in 
Awen’s Wood-B and B-Leaf supported 
employment. 

• Our healthy living partnership with Halo 
leisure trust which has received the highest 
level of industry accreditation and has 
supported autism friendly swimming and 
the Feel Good for Life programme for those 
living with dementia, people who are lonely 
and isolated and their carers. 

• Our cultural trust partner Awen who provide 
a range of library, cultural and wellbeing 
services to support people to be well and 
connected to their community. 

• Our active young people’s programme 
which engages children of different ages in 
sports, games, arts and creative activities. 

• Our Bevan exemplar super agers 
programme which keeps us fit, active and 

socially connected as we grow older. 

Workforce 
Our workforce has been part of significant 
change programmes, embracing our 
models of social work practice in social 
services and wellbeing. 

We have had a strategic workforce board for 
3 years which has focused on retention and 
recruitment, workforce planning, learning and 
development, workforce wellbeing and culture. 
Our own staff survey evidenced this as did 
the Care Inspectorate Wales survey of the 
children’s services workforce found 86% staff 
would recommend working for us in Bridgend 

County Borough Council. We have achieved a 
significant reduction in agency social workers, 
reduced staff turnover, improved recruitment and 
have evidenced effective succession planning. 
We are not complacent – we understand that 
a proportion of our workforce are not yet very 
experienced and we are committed to supporting 
and nurturing them. Some very experienced 
colleagues and senior leaders are nearing 
retirement and any change at a leadership level 
needs to be carefully planned and managed to 
mitigate the risk that staff become unsettled. Our 
workforce continues to be our highest priority. 

8 

  D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY 

Page 70



  D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY 

9 

Social care costs are increasing due to new legal duties, a growing population, an 
ageing demographic and greater complexity of needs in younger adults and children 
and families and rising costs of providing care. The impact of covid lockdowns on 
the most vulnerable is still being fully understood. 

The budget outturn position for Adult and Children’s Social Care in 2024-25 was an overspend 
of £1.009 million against a net budget of £102.916 million. This means the directorate was within 
0.98% of the budget set. But without one-off grant funding we would have overspent by £2.986 
million. As so much of our budget ( over 10%) is made of specific grants, there is a high service and 

financial risk if these grants, which largely fund core services, were to be withdrawn or reduced. 

Social care is the second largest area of Council spend after education. The social services and 
well-being budget represents 30.25% of the Council’s overall net revenue budget at £115.909m. 
The Council budget for 2025-26 built in additional funding following detailed planning between 
finance and social services and wellbeing colleagues. This was to reflect the costs of the real 
living wage for care workers, the costs of care experienced children and services for older adults, 
learning disabilities and mental health. 

Over 75% of care is provided by providers who the Council has entered into commissioning 
arrangements with. Legally, local authorities are required to understand the cost of care and reflect 
this in its commissioning arrangements. The impact of the real living wage, employer’s national 
insurance increases and other inflationary factors are resulting in the cost of care increasing. 

The Council also has a statutory duty to ensure there is sufficient provision of care and support 
to meet the needs of the population – areas such as fostering and residential care for care 
experienced children and specialist residential care for adults where there is insufficient capacity 

experience significant cost pressures. ‘Top-up’ fees are increasingly charged by adult residential 
and nursing home providers in addition to the standard fee paid by the local authority or families. 
These have risen and cause stress on family and local authority budgets. The Council has 
developed commissioning strategies which it is implementing to mitigate these risks including 
developing more in-house children’s homes, a strong focus on retention and recruitment of foster 
carers and plans to develop more extra care and supported living provision for adults. It should 
be noted that there is significant pressure on capital as well as revenue budgets and the social 
services directorate is very largely dependent on regional capital grants to progress our capital 
priorities. 

The Code of Practice for Part 8 of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act requires that ‘as 
a member of the corporate management team, a director of social services may be required to 
consider overall resource implications, including budgetary issues. The head of paid service 
and the director of social services have a responsibility to ensure councillors have clear advice 
on the level of resources required for a local authority to effectively deliver its social services 
functions’. In light of robust analysis and professional advice, the Council has supported pressures 
in Social Services as far as it has been able to in recent budgets, including an investment of £2 
million in the Children’s workforce in 2024-25 and £8.8 million in 2025-26  budget including £3.25 

Financial Performance, 
Risks and Issues 

Page 71



Children’s Placement Sufficiency 

The Health and Social Care (Wales) Act 
(2025) received royal assent on 24 March 
2025. The focus of the legislation is 
removing profit from children’s social care 
in Wales which has created some additional 
instability in the children’s social care market 
during the transition period, with a number 
of residential providers electing to withdraw 
whilst others have not yet disclosed their 
longer-term intentions. 

There are insufficient foster care families in 

Foster-Wales Bridgend and an ageing foster carer 
population. The number of new foster carers we are 
recruiting are less than those leaving the service. 
There are at any time a small number of children 
living in residential care who could be supported 
in foster care. In 2024-25, there were also a small 
number of children at any one time living in settings 
which are “operating without registration”. This is 
a significant risk as the safeguards of a registered 

provision are not in place. The financial implications 

of high-cost placements, registered and operating 
without registration, is very high. 

To manage this risk there is a renewed focus on 
our strategy to safely reduce the numbers of care 
experienced children. We are expanding our edge of 
care services which keep children safely living with 
their family. A detailed placement commissioning 
strategy has been developed which sets out the 
services that need to be developed to manage 
the transition to a not for profit children’s social 
care system over the next 5 years. A fostering 
remodelling project is enhancing the offer and 
support to Bridgend foster carers. The Council 
is developing further in-house provision for care 
experienced children. The short term ‘eliminating 
profit’ grant funding to support the impact of the 

new legislation is supporting the transition but this 
is currently due to end in March 2028 which may 
create a revenue gap. Further service and financial 
modelling is being undertaken. 

million investment in care experienced children and over £2 million to reflect the impact of the 
increases in the real living wage for care workers. 

There are significant ongoing financial pressures for Council to be aware of in future medium term 

financial strategies: 

• The impact of the Health and Social Care (Wales) Bill (2025) which will remove profit from 

children’s social care by 2030. We know the transitional and ongoing costs will significantly 

exceed the grant funding we have been given. This is evident in the Welsh Government’s 
Regulatory Impact Assessment. To mitigate this, we will continue to safely reduce the overall 
numbers of care experienced children and develop more in-house provision which achieves 
better outcomes and is more cost effective. 

• The impact of demographics on need for social care –we will continue to mitigate needs for 
care and support through targeted prevention and reablement services but not all needs for 
care and support can be prevented. We need to continue our transformation programme in 
Bridgend. At a national policy level, a stainable funding solution for funding social services is 
required, which does not place overall local authority budgets at risk and result in reducing 
other services which are in themselves essential in preventing the need for care and 
support. 

There are a number of other risks and issues being managed and mitigated in social services and 
wellbeing which are reflected in corporate and directorate risk registers. The most significant are: 

10 

  D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY 

Page 72



D I  R  ECTO RS  SU  M M A  RY  

11 

Levels of Contact into Social Care Services 

The number of referrals to children and 
family services has continued to increase. 
South Wales Police are the highest referrer. 
Further work will be undertaken with key 
partners. 

The need for adult services also continues to 
grow as the population is increasing, and ageing. 
A new Early Intervention and Prevention Hub has 
been implemented from February 2025 which 
is channelling assessments through a new adult 
services front door, focusing on signposting and 

advice with less ongoing care and support plans. 
The level of contacts to this service has also 
increased and we need to ensure that service 
capacity always meets the level of demand. 

There have been significant increases in levels of 
care and costs of care for people with learning 
disabilities in recent years. There have been 
pressures in the social work teams due to court of 
protection safeguarding work and agency workforce 
has increased. A transformation programme and 
outcome surgeries have been established to 
improve practice and commissioning. 

Digital System Replacement 

The Council is facing a number of challenges and risks in relation to a new system for 
its current safeguarding and case management IT System. 

A new system has been procured but there is a significant amount of work to be undertaken to move 

from the current WCCIS system to the new Mosaic system. This is an area of significant concern 

which will be closely monitored corporately through our corporate risk register throughout 2025-26. 

Pressures on Partner agencies 

Service and financial pressures are 
impacting all parts of public services and 
many organisations are making big changes 
to focus on their core business. 

There is a risk this means a greater expectation on 
Council services and gaps in the support available 
to people from other agencies. We need to work 
through changes with partners to ensure people 
continue to access the support they need, whilst 
being clear what the local authority’s responsibilities 

are and the expectations on other partners to fulfil 
their responsibilities. This works best were there are 
integrated service arrangements such as the MASH 
and integrated adult community teams. 

Page 73



Priorities for 2025-26 

Supporting workforce wellbeing, retention and recruitment to continue 
to achieve a highly motivated, well supported skilled workforce. 

Embedding our models of practice and using our quality assurance and 
learning and development programmes to address variation in quality. 

Enhancing our prevention, early intervention and edge of care services to 
support more people to live independently and well and for children to live 
safely with their own families. 

Embedding our operating models in adults, children and families and 
prevention and wellbeing which have early help and prevention at their core. 

Hearing and acting upon the voice of the people we work with 
and alongside. 

Addressing deficits in the sufficiency of services, particularly children’s not 
for profit residential and fostering services and supported living, shared 
lives and extra care for adults. 

Understanding better current and future needs and projections for social 
services and wellbeing services, including the impact of new legislation 
and demographics, to align service and financial plans which mean we are 
as best placed as possible to achieve sustainable social services at a cost 
affordable to the Council. 

Investing in partnerships with other public services, the third sector and 
community groups to improve outcomes for individuals and families in the 
most effective and cost effective way. 

Implementing a new digital system which will modernise the way our 
workforce practice, whilst we support them to prepare for social care 
being at the fore of the Council’s digital strategy. 

12 

  D  I  R  ECTO RS  SU  M M A  RY  

Page 74



Looking to the Future – 
Sustainably Improving 
at a Time of Challenge 
for Public Services 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with a review of the last 

year, the progress we have made, the risks and issues we face and the 

areas where we will continue to improve. 

Despite challenging levels of demand our performance is good and compares well with other 

local authorities in Wales. Our workforce is stable, well-motivated and committed to the Council. 

We have a strong and highly motivated management and leadership team. We work well with 

partner agencies. Our reviews show improvements in the quality of our practice – and this is 

reflected in the inspections undertaken by Care Inspectorate Wales. 

But there will always be areas which require improvement and we have focussed activity to 

deliver this. The risks set out in this report are considerable. The change of digital system in the 

next year presents a particularly significant risk. Our frontline workforce, managers and leaders 

all depend on an effective system to undertake their work and keep people safe. The financial 

risks to the Council remain challenging. We need to continue with a whole Bridgend community 

approach - one Council and partners - to work together to safeguard and improve outcomes for 

the most vulnerable. 

My final word is one of sincere thanks, to all Councillors, my colleagues across the Council and 

in partner agencies. Your support has been unwavering and fundamental in achieving a well- 

functioning and, for the most part, highly performing social services and wellbeing service for the 

people of Bridgend. The progress set out within this report could not have been achieved without 

your leadership, challenge and commitment. 

Diolch o galon, 

Claire Marchant 
Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing 

JULY 2025 

  D I R ECTO RS SU M M A RY 

13 Page 75



2 CONTE X  T  

What do we do? 
The Social Services and Wellbeing directorate is made 
up of statutory services - Adult Social Care, Children and 

Family Services, Safeguarding and Corporate Parenting. 
We also lead the Prevention and Wellbeing service which 

includes the healthy living partnership with Halo Leisure 
and the cultural partnership with Awen Cultural Trust. 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

Early Intervention & Prevention 

Assessment and Care Planning 

Safeguarding (Adult Protection) 

Mental Health services 

Substance Misuse 

Residential & Nursing Care 

Extra Care 

Supported Living 

Domiciliary Care (Home care) 

Reablement & Residential 
Reablement 

Shared Lives 

Equipment, Adaptations & 

Telecare 

Respite Care 

Direct Payments 

Day Care 

Advocacy 

CHILDREN AND 
FAMILY SERVICES 

Early Intervention 

& Prevention 

Assessment and 
Care Planning 

Safeguarding 
(Child Protection) 

Foster Care 

Residential Care 

Care Leavers 

Direct Payments 

Respite Care 

Advocacy 

We work with other parts 
of the Council, partners, 
and the people of Bridgend, 
to promote wellbeing, 
connection and to safeguard 
and protect people with 
care and support needs. 

Our services We provide a range of services, including: 

PREVENTION AND 
WELLBEING 

Early Intervention 
& Prevention 

Active 4 Life 

Community Engagement 

Aging Well 

Carer / Young Carer 
Support 

BAVO Partnership 
• Building Community 

Resilience 

Awen Partnership 
• Libraries 
•  Theatres / Cultural Hubs 
•  Work Based Initiatives 

Halo Healthy Living 
Partnership 

•  Life Centres 
•  GP Referral Scheme 
•  Falls Prevention 
• Health and Wellbeing 

Membership 
• Free Swim Initiative 

14 Page 76

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/social-care-and-wellbeing/multi-agency-safeguarding-hub-mash/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/leisure-culture-and-libraries/halo-leisure-centres/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/leisure-culture-and-libraries/awen-cultural-trust/


  C O N T E X T 

Who do we support? 
We work with the most vulnerable children 

and adults, their families and carers, to enable 

them to live safely and well. This is often in 

challenging circumstances resulting from age, 
disability, poverty, or risk of neglect and abuse. 

This year, (as at 31st March) we were 

providing services to 1011 children 
and young people; and 1977 adults. 

The tables below shows the number of people receiving managed care and support 
(excluding those going through the assessment process, who are not yet in receipt of a care plan). 

* These figures 
include 242 
children with a 
disability and 126 
care leavers.   
A child or young 
person can be in 
more than one 
category. 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES NUMBER OF PEOPLE SUPPORTED* 

Care and Support 608 
Child Protection 75 
Care Experienced Children 333 

** The Adult Social 
Work and Early 
Intervention 
and Prevention 
Teams support 
adults aged 18+ 
including older 
adults, those 
with cognitive 
impairment, 
a physical 
disability and / or 
sensory loss or 
impairment. 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE NUMBER OF PEOPLE SUPPORTED** 

Adult Social Work Teams 1388 
Learning Disability 347 
Mental Health 159 
Early Intervention and Prevention Hub 72 
Secure Estates 11 

We also work with many more children and families and adults and carers preventatively. 

15 Page 77



2024-25:   
The year in summary 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

24% INCREASE 
14828 contacts received in the year 

7% INCREASE 
6210 contacts received in the year 

31% INCREASE 
2553 contacts provided with advice 
and assistance 

36% INCREASE 
2509 new care and support 
assessments completed in the year 

1244 contacts provided with 
advice or assistance 

58% DECREASE 
694 section 47 enquiries held 

34% DECREASE 
1576 new care and support 
assessments completed in the year 

4% DECREASE 
341 new care and support 
assessments that progressed to 
a care and support plan 

9% DECREASE 
387 new care and support 
assessments progressed to a 
care and support plan 

7% DECREASE 
in the number of adults with a care 
and support plan at 31st March*

4% DECREASE 
in the number of adults in receipt of 
homecare as at 31st March 

6% DECREASE
 in the number of adults 
supported in residential or 
nursing care at 31st March 

25% DECREASE 
in the number of children with a care 
and support plan at 31st March 

37% DECREASE 
in the number of care experienced 
children at 31st March 

60% DECREASE 
in the number of children 
on the child protection 
register  at 31st March 

1011 
2038 

333 
737 

75 495 

* This figure includes 61 adults known to the Child Disability & Transition Team as they are aged 18+ years.   
(Please note these would also be included in the 1011 children with a care and support plan.) 

  C O N T E X T 

16 Page 78



Bridgend County Borough Council 

Delivering Together 
Our Corporate Plan 2023-28 

  C O N T E X T / /  LE ADERSHIP 

Political 
& Senior 
Leadership 
The Council has 51 Councillors 
who are elected every five 
years by the community. They 
represent public interest as 
well as individuals living in the 
ward in which they have been 
elected. They represent the 
people of Bridgend County 
Borough and set the overall 
Council strategy and budget 
framework. 

The constitution sets out how the 
Council operates, how decisions 
are made and the procedures to be 
followed. Each year, Council elects a 
Mayor to chair the Council, perform 
a civic role and promote the County. 
Council also appoints a Leader of 
the Council who appoints Cabinet 
Members, each with a responsibility 
for a specific portfolio of services. 
Cabinet is responsible for most major 
decisions, provides leadership, and 
proposes the budget framework and 
budget to Council. 

Leadership 
‘Delivering Together Our Corporate Plan 2023-28’ sets out 
the council’s priorities and how we will work with local people 

and partners to provide services over the next five years. 

The plan was produced using feedback from staff, residents of all ages and 
backgrounds, users and providers of council services, elected members, partner 
organisations, and other local authorities. 

The Council’s Corporate Management Board is led by the Chief Executive and includes 
the three Corporate Directors, the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer. 

Governance & 
Accountability 
The Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
meet at least 4 times a year to scrutinise 
performance, budget and service developments, 
making recommendations on future policy and 
delivery of services. 

The Cabinet Committee Corporate Parenting Committee, 
chaired by the Deputy Leader, meets quarterly to make 
important policy decisions on service provision for care 
experienced children and care leavers. 

The Corporate Director of Social Services and Wellbeing is 
a member of the Council’s Corporate Management Board 
(CMB) and fortnightly Cabinet / Corporate Management 
Board (CCMB). CCMB and scrutiny oversee the directorate’s 
progress and performance against each of the Council’s 
key objectives. This governance ensures robust corporate 
leadership and a clear link between the directorate’s strategic 
and operational priorities and the Council’s overall objectives. 

In the Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate we monitor 
quality assurance, performance and management information 
monthly at team, service and directorate level. There is an 
in-depth quarterly performance and quality review of each 
group of services. This provides the Corporate Director 
and Heads of Service with robust and effective managerial 
oversight ensuring we are on-track to achieve the priorities of 
the Council’s corporate plan, the Directorate’s business plan, 
key statutory and local performance indicators and quality 
assurance activity. 

17 Page 79

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/council/council-and-democracy/council-constitution/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/2pohxlek/corporate-plan-2023-28.pdf


Recruitment & Retention 
Retention and recruitment of the workforce is our top priority. A well-motivated, 
well supported, highly trained workforce is essential to high quality services and 
positive outcomes for the people we support. 

Our total number of staff increased by 7% over the last year and 12% compared to 
March 2023. Children and Family Services increased by 16 staff members due to service 
configuration, improved recruitment and retention and a number of Early Help and Edge 

of Care Services transferring to the Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate between 
April and July 2024. 

We have implemented an effective retention and recruitment strategy and have 
significantly improved the workforce position across Social Services and Wellbeing, with 

improving recruitment, reduced vacancy rates and less reliance on agency workers. 
Since May 2023 the overall number of agency social worker staff has decreased by 
62% from 77 in May 2023 to 29 in May 2025. Our retention rate has improved from 81% 
during quarter 4 of 2023-24 to 86% in 2024-25. 

Sickness absence is higher than we would like with both Children and Family Services 
and Adult Social Care experienced an increase in the last year. Supporting staff wellbeing 
is important so we have promoted flexible working options and individual and team 
wellbeing. We work with human resources to manage sickness and absence through 
Council policies and ensure staff access the support they need. The importance of 
wellbeing is reflected in our staff survey with 93% of staff indicating that they know how 
to access support when needed and over 90% of staff feel supported by their manager. 

Workforce 

SERVICE AREA 
31st March 2024 31st March 2025 

FTE Headcount FTE Headcount 

Adult Social Care 592.01 765 571.39 734 

Children and Family Services 245.06 289 352.43 405 

Prevention and Wellbeing 28.21 33 25.73 30 

Business Strategy, Performance and Improvement 67.12 71 72.74 77 

Commissioning 12.62 13 9.62 10 

Total 945.03 1171 1031.91 1256 

  C O N T E X T / /  W  O  R  K  FO  R  C E  

18 Page 80



  C O N T E X T / /  W  O  R  K  FO  R  C E  

Growing Our Own 

Social Care 
Accolades 2025 
In April 2022, we commenced a project to recruit 
international social workers to Children and Family 
Services. We recruited 13 workers who relocated 
between March 2023 and November 2024. 

The project has been recognised as excellent practice, 
winning a 2025 Social Care Wales award in the ‘developing 
and inspiring the workforce’ category. 

Two staff members were also nominated and were 
recognised as highly commended finalists. Ffion Cole, 
Principal Officer, Children and Family Services for the 

Inspirational Leadership award and Casey Baker, 
Social Care Worker, Adult Social Care for the 
WeCare Wales award. 

More on why Ffion, Casey and the international recruitment 
project were nominated and recognised can be found here. 

We work closely with schools and Bridgend 
College, providing positive information about 
careers in social care. We provide apprenticeships 
for people wishing to start a career in social 
care. We have a Social Services Practitioner 
programme which provides a pathway for people 
working in roles in social care to gain qualifications 
and, if they wish to do so, to progress towards the 
social work degree. Both programmes received 
positive feedback from managers. 

Growing our own social workers helps 
make sure we have enough newly qualified 

social workers. We offer secondment and 
traineeship opportunities onto social work 
degree and master’s programmes and 
staff who qualify via these routes remain 
employed with us for longer. In 2024, 6 
staff members qualified as Social Workers 

and in 2025, 12 qualified and all were 

successful in securing a position with us. 

19 Page 81

https://socialcare.wales/the-accolades/2025-accolades


What Next? 
We are helping a broader range of people 
to enter careers in the social care sector 
through apprenticeships, work experience, 
and collaboration with schools, colleges 
and universities. We are also improving our 
marketing of social care careers, showing 
it as an attractive career option with high 
job satisfaction and good progression 
opportunities. 

We intend to recruit people into social care roles 
based on their values, recognising that care is a 
vocation. This will help us develop a confident and 

healthy workforce and continue to reduce reliance 
on agency staff. 

We have established our own Social Care Academi. 
The Academi offers staff, foster carers, carers 
and volunteers from across the Social Care sector 

access to learning and development opportunities. 
This includes e-learning, on-line and in person 
training enabling individuals to develop the skills and 
knowledge needed to work effectively. For example, 
residential care staff who provide physical care 
and support for individuals have attended training 
on manual handling, medication awareness, health 
and safety and first aid. Our Social Workers have 

accessed training such as Safeguarding Children 
and Adults, Court Skills, Childrens Rights and 
Participation, Recording skills & Mental Health 
First Aid. 

Academi staff work with schools, colleagues, 
careers and employability services to promote 
careers in care. The support people considering 
working in care with pre-employment training and 
work placement opportunities. 

Staff Feedback 
To understand the views and experiences of our workforce over the last year, we 
asked staff to complete a survey. Here is what they told us. 

91% 
Agree or strongly agree that they 
understand what is expected in 
their role 

85% Either agree or strongly agree that 
they can make a difference in their role 

69% 
Agree or strongly agree that they 
have the right tools and support to 
effectively undertake their role 

79% 
Agree or strongly agree that they have 
opportunities to contribute decisions 
within their team 

95% 
Agree or agreed to a certain extent 
that they can easily access training 
relevant to their post 

58% 
Feel they have the right opportunities 
available to progress their career in 
social care 

79% Agree or strongly agree that they 
feel supported by their manager 

89% Agree or strongly agree that they feel 
supported by the colleagues 

78% Reported their morale as either 
moderate, high or very high 

70% Feel valued at work 

93% Know how to access support 
if needed 

84% 
Would either recommend or maybe 
recommend working in social care 
in Bridgend 

  C O N T E X T / /  W  O  R  K  FO  R  C E  

20 Page 82



  C O N T E X T / /  F  I N  A N  C  I  A L  R  E  S  O  U R  C  E  S  

In 2024-25 we continued to 
experience both service and 
financial pressures in children and 
family and adult services. 

Independent residential 
placements are high cost and 
add pressure to the Children and 
Family Services’ budget. The 
overall number of care experienced 
children decreased over the year, 
but the number in residential 
placements remained static. But 
as of 31st March, we were funding 
19 placements when the budget 
only covers a maximum of 8. A 
very small number of placements 
are also “Operating without 
Registration” which also increases 
risk and financial pressures. 
Whilst these placements risks are 
managed they need higher staff 

ratios and are more expensive. 

Children and Family Services, 
along with all local councils in 
Wales must write a Placement 
Commissioning Strategy and 
update each year, explaining how 
we will provide care, housing and 
support for care experienced 
children. This strategy must also 
show how we will reduce and 
eventually stop using for-profit 
care providers in line with new 
duties under the Health and Social 
Care (Wales) Act 2025. Although 
Welsh Government provides some 
funding, it does not cover all costs, 
which places additional financial 
pressure on us. 

Within Adult Social Care there 
continues to be pressures in 

learning disabilities and older 
people’s services driven by 
complexity of need. This means 
that the people who access our 
services often have multiple needs 
that span a number of our services. 
An increase in our aging population 
also places additional financial 
pressure on services as more 
people need help and support 
for longer which increases costs 
linked to staff, time and additional 
resources to meet the demand. 

To support us in addressing these 
ongoing pressures, in February 
2025, Council approved £8.8 
million in budget pressures for 
2025-26 as part of the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 2025-26 to 
2028-29: 

Financial Resources 

SSWB 

2024-25 
Expenditure 

Budget 
£’000 

2024-25 
Income 
Budget 

£’000 

2024-25 
Net 

Budget 
£’000 

2024-25 
Actual 

Outturn 
£’000 

2024-25 
Actual 

Variance 
£’000 

Older People (aged 65 and over) 44,527 (12,859) 31,668 31,082 (585) 

Adults (aged under 65) 52,938 (11,876) 41,062 41,459 396 

Childrens and Families Services 31,365 (1,179) 30,186 31,384 1,198 

Total 128,830 (25,914) 102,916 103,925  1,009 

2025-26 BUDGET PRESSURE ALLOCATION 

Learning Disabilities Day Opportunities £519,000 

Mental Health Home Care £679,000 

Learning Disabilities Home Care £325,000 

Learning Disabilities Residential and Nursing Care Placement £438,000 

Older People Direct Payments £369,000 

Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment   
Home Care £274,000 

Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment Equipment £266,000 

Older People Supported Accommodation £201,000 

Ongoing pressures of Care Experienced Children £3.250 million 

Implications of Real Living Wage on commissioned contracts £2.020 million 

The Social Services Improvement 
Board is overseeing actions to 
address the service and financial 
pressures in the Children and Family 
Services and Adult Social Care 
budgets. Good progress has been 
made in the first year of the Children 
and Family Services 3 year strategic 
plan, approved in September 
2023. A separate plan to make 
adult social care and support more 
sustainable was approved by Cabinet 
in November 2024. This followed a 
similar plan to sustainably improve 
children and family services approved 
by Cabinet in September 2023. 

As reported in the Revenue Budget Outturn 2024-25 to Council on the 25th June 2025, the 
net budget for Adult and Children’s Social Care was £102.916 million and the actual outturn 
was £103.925 million resulting in an over spend of £1.009 million. 

21 Page 83



3 PERFORM A N CE  ASSESSM ENT  

This section asks local authorities 

to address eight quality standards 

under four sections of People, 
Prevention, Partnership and 

Integration and Well-being. 

This assessment is completed for both children 
and family services and adult services and 
describes how the local authority has aimed to 
achieve these standards throughout the year. 

The self-assessment approach asks local 
authorities to address the following four questions: 

Each section is split into an assessment of Children and Family Services, Adult Social Care and, where 
work has been taken across the whole of our Social Services and Wellbeing directorate the relevant 
section will start with an update called “Across Social Services and Wellbeing.” 

At the end of each of the 4 sections you will also find our priorities for 2025-26. 

What do we know about the 
quality and impact of what we 
are doing? 

What are we doing well and how 
can we do better? 

What are our priorities for 
improvement particularly over 
the coming year? 

How do we know? 
e.g. what evidence from 
research, engagement and the 
metrics are we using to inform 
this assessment? 

What progress did we make 
on the areas for improvement 
identified in last year’s report? 

What difference did we make? 

1. 

3. 

2. 

4. 

22 Page 84



  PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O  P L E  

Quality Standards 

“All people are equal 
partners who have choice, 
voice and control over their 
lives and are able to achieve 
what matters to them” 

“Effective leadership is 
evident at all levels with 
a highly skilled well 
qualified and supported 
workforce working 
towards a shared vision” 

People 

23 Page 85



Voice 
and Control 
People’s views play an important 
role in helping us understand 
where we have done well and 
areas where we could do better. 
Engagement and involvement are 
at the centre of everything we do. 

This year we have done a range of 
engagement and consultation exercises. 

Direct Payments 
Direct payments help people have more flexibility and control in 
how their care and support is delivered. 

The graph shows there was a 3% decrease in the number of adults receiving a direct payment 
at 31st March 2025, and an 18% increase in the number of children and young people. A review 
of direct payments has been completed and a policy and guidance developed. A clear and 
consistent approach to the use of direct payments is in place from January 2025. 

Across Social Services 

Domiciliary 
Care 

Community 
Meetings 

People 
First 

Positive 
Regulatory 
Inspections 

Bridgend 
Youth 
Forum 

Quality 
Assurance 

Complaints & 
Compliments 

15 

Across Social Services 

Voice and Control 
People’s views play an important 
role in helping us understand 
where we have done well and 
areas where we could do better. 
Engagement and involvement are 
at the centre of everything we do.  

This year we have done a range of 
engagement and consultation 
exercises.  

Direct Payments 

Direct payments help people have more flexibility and control in how their care and support is 
delivered. 

The graph shows there was a 3% decrease in the number of adults receiving a direct payment 
at 31st March 2025, and an 18% increase in the number of children and young people. A review 
of direct payments has been completed and a policy and guidance developed. A clear and 
consistent approach to the use of direct payments is in place from January 2025. 

Advocacy Support 

Advocates help make sure that the rights, needs and voice of people are heard.  

Below is a table noting the number of “Active Offers” of advocacy support to children and 
adults during the year, and the number who then went on to receive support from an advocate. 

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 
Number of 'Active Offers' of advocacy for children 
during the year  78 71 54 

Of which, number of children where an Independent 
Professional Advocate was provided 

70 64 39 

24 

  PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 86



  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Advocacy Support 
Advocates help make sure that the rights, needs and voice of people are heard. 

The table shows a decrease in the offer of an 
advocate in both service areas compared to 
2023-24. 

The 24% decrease in children being offered an 
advocate is due to a decrease in the number 
of children becoming care experienced and 
those being subject to an initial child protection 
conference. Focused work to increase the delivery 

of the active offer for eligible children has been done 
and data has improved between September and 
March 2024. 

Within adult social care our advocacy services have 
not had enough capacity to take on new referrals. 
To improve this position, we will undertake a review 
of the delivery of this contract to reflect current 
demands. 

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 

Number of 'Active Offers' of advocacy for children during the year 78 71 54 

Of which, number of children where an Independent Professional 
Advocate was provided 

70 64 39 

Number of adults where the need for an Independent Professional 
Advocate was identified 

181 125 102 

Of which, number of adults where an Independent Advocate was provided 173 87 67 

We have worked across the directorate in the following areas to support effective leadership. 

Workforce 
Development 
A workforce development plan has been 
created to improve the experience of our 
workforce so they feel well supported 
and valued. We achieve the right balance 
of skills and experience in our teams 
and retain and recruit a high standard of 
practitioner to our service. 

Our retention and recruitment strategy is 
working, providing a clear opportunities for the 
provision of mentoring support and training 
opportunities for managers. Mentoring support 
through Social Care Wales and our improvement 
partner has helped with our succession planning. 

Management 
and Leadership 
Pathway 
Our management and leadership 
development pathway and 
program is part of our support for 
all managers to develop their skills 
in leading teams and services. 

We worked with our improvement partner 
to deliver a bespoke management and 
leadership development programme and 
first line managers have been offered 
the ILM Level 3 Award in Leadership and 
Management. 

Below is a table noting the number of “Active Offers” of advocacy 
support to children and adults during the year, and the number 
who then went on to receive support from an advocate. 

Supporting Effective Leadership 

25 Page 87



Voice and 
Control 
Understanding 
Family Engagement 

CASE STUDY: 

Signs of Safety 
in Practice 
A 14 year old Child A, was referred to 
Children and Family Services in 2023 due 
to concerns about exploitation, fractious 
family relationships and going missing. 
These circumstances saw A move from 
their parent’s care into local authority foster 
care, moving 4 times during 2023-24. A was 
known to use substances and there was 
continued concern for their safety and 
well-being. 

A was allocated a social worker and in December 
2024 the social worker and the safeguarding team 
asked for support to run a Signs of Safety family 
network meeting to move towards re-uniting the 
family. The consultant social worker supported the 
family and professionals to engage in a mapping 
exercise to consider what was working well, worries, 
complicating factors and next steps for A, to build 
a family led safety plan that worked for both A and 
their family. 

During the meeting, family and professionals 
worked together to establish the risks and worries 
through “Danger Statements”, developing safety 
goals and identifying areas of strength and safety. 
The meeting was rich in discussion and by working 
jointly with A and their family, a co-produced plan 
was established to support A in moving home in a 
safe and planned way. 

 By January 2025 A returned home to their parent’s 
care. They worked together to ensure the family 
felt equipped to keep A safe. The support offered 
by the social worker, the residential home and 
Youth Offending Service, supported the successful 
reunification and in April 2025 A was safely 

removed from the child protection register due to 
the positive progress made. 

A’s story shows the positive outcomes that can 
be achieved through the collaborative, relational, 
strengths based social work which in Children and 
Family Services is achieved through the Signs of 
Safety model. The social worker has been praised 
by A’s Independent Reviewing Officer for being child 

focussed and relational in their social work practice. 

Children 
and Family 
Services 

We have focussed our quality 
assurance on understanding 
how well care and support plans 
provide evidence of how children, 
young people and their families 
participated in shaping their plans 
and that the plans focussed on 
what mattered to those involved. 
We concluded that our care and 
support plans evidenced the voice 
of the child and that both the child 
and family were clearly involved in 
their plans. 

We have embedded the ‘signs of 
safety’ model of practice. We have also 
sustainably reduced children’s social 
worker caseloads. This has supported 
practitioners to build relationships with 
children and families spending more 
time working directly with them. It helps 
them understand their strengths and 
connections and developing safety plans 
that are owned by those involved. Signs 
of safety places the family at the heart of 
decision making. An independent review 
has confirmed that we are providing 

the right support at the right time. This 
helps us understand the child and family 
even in situations where an immediate 
response to safeguarding is required. 

26 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 88



Developing a Skilled and 
Supported Workforce 
Supporting Practice Framework Implementation 

Story Panel 

Over the last year we 
completed a training needs 
analysis. It looked at how 
our training programme 
focusses on the needs of our 
workforce to ensure the best 
possible support is provided 
to children and their families. 

This analysis has helped us to 
strengthen our practice and 
develop family safety plans that 
support sustainable long-term 
approaches and move away from 
short term service plans. 

Over 180 members of our 
workforce are now trained in our 
‘signs of safety’ practice model. 

We now have a ‘story panel’ 
where stories can be shared 
to hear the lived experience 
of families. It allows us 
to reflect and review the 
effectiveness of what we 
do and the impact of our 
involvement. Below is an 
example of stories shared. 

Hearing these stories and lived 
experiences helps us to reflect 
and consider how effective our 
current policies are in promoting 
‘what matters’ conversations and 
positive outcomes that are led by 
the child and their family. 

‘Most Significant Change’ 

The ‘Most Significant Change’ (MSC) model helps us gather 
feedback from people we work with to show how our services 
are making a difference. These stories tell us things we may 
miss with facts and figures alone and helps us understand how 

effective our services are and how to improve them in a more 
person centred way. 

Within Children and Family Services we ran a pilot using the 
MSC model to support care experienced children and their 
families in voicing what matters to them to support reunification 

and build lasting long-term relationships. This pilot enabled us 
to understand the impact of our work, was positively received 
and will be rolled out further across the service. 

We have appointed a Signs of Safety Consultant Social Worker 
to embed this model across the service and a Workforce 
Development Officer who has provided internal training and 

will now focus on training partners. 

‘They started listening 
to me more. For a while 

I said I wanted to see 
my mum and dad more 

and wanted to see them 
alone. They started to 
listen to me, and then I 

started to live down here. 
I started to notice more 

changes when X became 
involved and when X 

brought me down here 
for the first time.’ 

‘I dislike social 
services – they took 
12 years away from 
me, they could have 

worked with my mum 
and dad.’ 

‘When they tell kids 
they have a place 

open, an extra week 
would be nice, instead 

of two days to pack. 
I have school and 

exams and was very 
stressful and does not 

help at all’   

‘I think they could 
have looked at the 
case a bit better.’

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

27 Page 89



Voice and Control 
To ensure the people of Bridgend have control over what matters to them, we 
design services alongside them and make sure they are targeted to the needs of 
local communities. 

Adult Social Care 

Better Together Bridgend 
Better together Bridgend is a partnership between people with a learning disability, 
supported by People First, support providers and the council. The partnership has 
co-produced a plan to improve services in Bridgend. 

The group has a programme board chaired by a person with a learning disability. 
The workstreams of Better Together Bridgend include work on developing day opportunities 
by developing a hub and spoke model around the community hubs, extending the take up of 
annual health checks for people with learning disabilities, and support for parents to create 
a parents’ forum. 

Having a Say Group 

The Having a Say Group began back in 2022, bringing together people with learning disabilities 
who are living in their own homes supported by staff working under the umbrella of BCBC 
Supported Living services. It began as an opportunity for an informal get together for people 
to socialise, see friends and re-establish their networks in person following the restrictions and 
isolation they felt during COVID but the group has evolved into strong, supportive networks. 
People plan social events and parties, invite other groups to come and share information about 
their services; these have ranged from charities and advocacy groups to BCBC’s safeguarding 
team and Contracts Monitoring team. 

Through the meetings and events people have built meaningful connections and collaborative 
relationships; these inclusive approaches have helped people to place lived experiences at the 
heart of the discussions, decision-making and their own personal development. 

At each meeting people have the opportunity to share good news, celebrate achievements, and 
recognise the everyday successes that often go unnoticed; by sharing experiences they have 
developed environments that value encouragement and support. Alongside sharing positive 
updates, the group also provides a space for people to reflect on learning experiences. From 
overcoming barriers to navigating support systems, people are empowered to share their stories 
and help other learn. These open discussions help with people’s understanding and also spark 
conversations about how services can improve and better meet people’s needs. 

The minutes and action log are produced in easy read form. 

The group is now supporting our safeguarding team with the development of communication and 
accessible information for vulnerable people living in Bridgend. 

28 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 90



  PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E  

29 Page 91



Strength Based / Outcome Focused 
Practice Model 
We delivered training to support consistent implementation of our model of practice 
to ensure it is embedded across the service. This is reinforced in supervision and 
peer support. 

Fortnightly meetings are held to monitor the performance and impact of the model and make sure 
it is consistent across all areas of the service. 

The Welsh 
Language 

CASE STUDY: 

Mwy Na Geiriau / 
More than Just Words 
Adult A’s first and preferred language is Welsh. As a 
result of this, A’s capacity assessment was completed 
in Welsh, where discussions with their family also took 
place in Welsh due to this being their preferred and 
first language. 

A enjoyed interacting with the practitioner in Welsh, held their 
hand and was smiling throughout the assessment process. 

The outcome of the assessment was that A lacked capacity 
regarding their hospital discharge plans but enjoyed the 
opportunity to interact with someone in the language they 
understood best. 

The family advised that A had only spoken to them in Welsh. 
As a family, they were also pleased to be supported by the 
practitioner through the medium of Welsh during the difficult 
time of navigating the hospital discharge process. 

“Mwy Na Geiriau / More 
Than Just Words” is 
a strategic framework 
produced by Welsh 
Government, which 
along with the Welsh 
Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011 promotes 
Welsh language 
and culture in social 
services, social care and 
health across Wales. 

It is important that the 
people we work with have an 
opportunity to communicate 
in their language of choice. 

Developing a Skilled and 
Supported Workforce 
Training and development have been targeted across a number of our services to 
ensure we are providing opportunities for staff to develop their skills and are suitably 
qualified to undertake their roles. Some areas of training delivered during the year 
are highlighted below. 

30 

  PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O P L E  

Page 92



Falls Prevention 
Falls prevention training for 
support workers highlights the 
main causes of falls and their 
impact on older adults. It gives 
practical information and advice 
on what can be done to reduce 
the risk of falls. 

The training has been delivered to all 
our domiciliary care staff, carers in 
care homes and has been adapted 
to support community staff from 
third sector partners, Bridgend 
Association of Voluntary Organisations 
(BAVO) and Care and Repair. 
Training is currently being delivered 
to independent domiciliary care 
providers in the area, with training 
being provided to 325 people during 
the year. 

Telecare/ Technology 
Enhanced Care 
The telecare e-learning module is now 
mandatory and forms part of the induction for 
all staff ranging from carers to social workers. It 
has enabled staff to be more aware of telecare 
and to recognise equipment when they are 
in a person’s home so that they can contact 
the telecare team if they identify any technical 
issues. The module also gives guidance on how 
to complete a telecare referral correctly so that 
delays can be avoided. 

The telecare team have been pro-active in setting up 
monthly ‘just checking’ drop-in sessions for practitioners 
so that diagnostic data can be used as part of the 
assessment process to right size packages of care. 
Meetings have also been set-up with all the social work 
teams to help raise the profile of technology enabled care 

to support our frontline services to free-up care capacity. 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

People: 2025-26 Key Priorities 
ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES 

Co-design and support community based health 
and wellbeing activities across both Awen and Halo 
partnerships. 

Work with carers who have a caring reasonability's 
for loved ones, family members with a dementia 
diagnosis to develop a carers networks and 
understand what is needed. 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

Continue to implement our workforce plans to 
make sure we keep continue to build on good 
process in the recruitment and retention of staff. 

Continue to train and support our staff to use the 
signs of safety model of practice across all areas of 
the service. 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

Complete an evidence based review 
of the Bridgend Resource Centre and 
review capital and revenue opportunities 
for optimal use of community buildings 
across the borough. 

Deliver a comprehensive rolling training 
and development programme to support 
the consistent implementation of the 
adult social care model of practice, 
to ensure it is embedded across the 
service. 

Develop a business justification case for 
a ‘core and cluster’ model of supported 
living for people with learning disabilities 
at the Sunnyside site. 

31 Page 93



Quality Standards 

“The need for care and support 
is minimised and the escalation 
of need is prevented whilst 
ensuring that the best outcomes 
for people are achieved” 

“Resilience within communities 
is promoted and people are 
supported to fulfil their potential 
by actively supporting people 
who need care and/or support 
including carers to learn develop 
and participate in society” 

Prevention 

32 

  PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 94



  PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O  P L E  

Promoting Resilient 
Communities 
Our 3 year strategic plans for children and families and adults emphasise the 
importance of prevention and early intervention in keeping families together, 
supporting independence and connection to friends, family and community. 

Our Prevention and Wellbeing Service and Early Help and Edge of Care Services, our healthy 
living, cultural trust and third sector partners play an important role in helping us support people 
within their communities by working with to stop problems getting worse and people needing long 
term care and support from social services. 

Resilient and 
Connected Communities 
The ‘Building Resilient and Co-ordinated Communities’ programme supports 
individual and community well-being. It is a cross sector programme with Bridgend 
Association of Voluntary Organisations (BAVO) and the broader third sector, to 
support individual and community well-being. This partnership approach has 
secured Regional Partnership investment to address areas such as loneliness and 
isolation, connecting people to support within communities, developing carer well-
being and building community networks of common purpose (e.g. disability, older 
adults). 

Local Community Connectors (LCCs) form part of our Prevention and Wellbeing Service. 
They aim to support a person’s independence by providing support to avoid or delay the 
need for statutory care by promoting individual strength and resilience. They recognise and 
support the value of individual gifts, skills and assets, the powerful and positive role of families 
and relationships and the contribution that local communities can make as an alternative to 
professional health and social care services. 

Across Social Services 

33 Page 95



Carer Wellbeing 
We offer a range of services to support carers across the borough. 

• The Bridgend Carers Wellbeing 
Service, delivered by the 
charity TuVida, supports unpaid 
carers in Bridgend.  It provides 
a range of services including 
advice on caring, access to 
breaks, support groups, free 
training, carer grants, and 
health and wellbeing support. 
The service aims to help carers 
manage their caring role while 
maintaining their own health 
and wellbeing. Over the year 

the service received 553 
referrals, with 1522 carers 
supported or signposted to a 
relevant service. 

• The Halo Carers respite 
programme delivered 9 
community sessions, providing 
18 hours of replacement care 
and had 60 attendances. 

• Over the year, Cwmpas have 
supported 83 unpaid carers to 
access local support. 

• The peer mentoring project run 
in partnership with Bridgend 
Carers Centre for young 
carers aged 7 to 25. It gave 
57 young carers the chance 
to make new friends, feel like 
they belong and be less lonely. 
All young carers told us they 
feel better in themselves, with 
improved mental health, more 
confidence, higher self-esteem 

and improved life skills. 

Over the next year we will create a strategic carers group within Bridgend to ensure the views 
of all unpaid carers are heard and acted upon to co-produce a carers strategy. The groups will 
include representatives from the Council and carer representatives from 3rd sector organisations. 

Resilient and Connected Communities: 

2024-25 Summary 
THE BUILDING RESILIENT AND CO-ORDINATED 
COMMUNITIES PROGRAMME: 

Signposted 2288 people to relevant services 

Supported 564 people to make new friends or 
improve their support networks. 

LOCAL COMMUNITY CONNECTORS: 

Supported 272 organisations to develop 
or deliver preventative opportunities based 
on “what matters” conversations 

Noted 137 people attending network meetings 

Reported 587 people had increased 
social connections 

NEXT STEPS: 

Build stronger cohesive partnerships 
across the 3rd sector 

Hold workshops with referring partners 
to ensure the right people are being 
referred to the right service 

Strengthen engagement with early help 
services to help inform and shape the 
family support offer 

Ensure capacity to support the needs of 
those signposted to the community 

34 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 96

https://www.tuvida.org/bridgend
https://www.tuvida.org/bridgend
https://www.bridgendcarers.co.uk/
https://www.bridgendcarers.co.uk/


  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Young 
Carers 
The Bridgend Young Carers 
Network is a partnership between 
the Council, Bridgend Carers 
Centre, Whitehead Ross, Tu-Vida, 
Awen, Halo, Bridgend Inclusive 
Network Group, BAVO, Bridgend 
College and primary and secondary 
schools across the borough. 

The network began its journey in 2022 
and has continued to grow, providing a 
platform for young carers and young adult 
carers to have their voices heard and 
needs addressed. It is led by young carer 
ambassadors aged 11 to 25 years who 
play a vital role in leading activities and 
generating interest in joining the network. 

The group has grown from 3 to 17 
ambassadors all playing a crucial role in 
co-designing and supporting the voice 
of other young carers to be heard and 
acted on, whilst breaking down barriers 
for young carers to thrive and reach their 
full potential. While many young carers 
excel at home, perform well academically 
and maintain strong friendships, others 
face significant challenges and require 

additional support. 

One of the main obstacles they encounter 
is finding the time and space to focus 

on their own health and well-being. The 
Bridgend Young Carer Network organises 
termly events that bring young carers 
together to share experiences, learn from 
one another, and make new friends. 

Young carers and care-experienced 
parents are being identified earlier and 

supported in ways that help them stay 
healthy, manage responsibilities, and 
remain in education or work. These 
community-focused supports are helping 
build resilience and reduce pressure on 
statutory services. 

Support for 
Young Carers 

NEXT STEPS 
To further support young carers we will: 

Create a series of short advocacy films for 
schools to improve school-based staff’s 
awareness in this area 

Continue to strengthen relationships with 
young carers and adult and parent carers 
groups. 

Supported by the Healthy Living 
Partnership 

• 294 Young Carers are accessing 
a Halo Membership. 

• 549 Young Carer ID cards 
have been issued. 

17 Young Carer Ambassadors in 
schools across the borough. 
167 primary school children are 
involved, and 381 comprehensive 
and young adult carers. 

154 Young Carers attended 
“We are valued” days, supported 
by educational settings. 

35 Page 97



Young Carers Event 
The Young Carers Network currently supports 146 young carers. In March 2025 
they held an event which not only offered an opportunity for young carers to 
gather information to help with their caring role but gave them time for themselves. 

It is also provided an opportunity for Young Carers to have time away from their responsibilities, 
their caring role, school and any other pressure they may be experiencing. 

36 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 98



  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Preventing the Escalation 
of Care & Support 
Early Intervention and Prevention 

Children and 
Family Services 

Early Help and Edge of Care joined Children and Family Services between April and July 2024. 
New referral processes were implemented in September 2024 in line with our ‘no wrong door’ 
principle of people accessing the right support from the right person at the right time. 

For more information on the impact of Early Help, please refer to the Well-being section of this report. 

Early Help is a preventative service which 
focusses on spotting and addressing issues at the 
first opportunity. It helps build trusted relationships 

and provides the right support at the right time to 
reduce more intensive support at a later date. The 
service provides a range of support. 

Parenting 

Managing 
Challenging 
Behaviour 
(0-25 yrs) 

Disability 
Support 

Domestic 
Violence 

Play 
Therapy 

Support for 
Young Carers 

Benefits / 
Debt 

Management 

Employment 

Mental Health 
& Emotional 
Well-being 

Early Help 
Services 

37 Page 99



Edge of Care provides services to families who are already in receipt of care and support to help them make 
the necessary changes to prevent children from becoming care experienced, focussing on 6 key areas. 

Edge of Care 

EDGE OF CARE SERVICES ANALYSIS OF EDGE OF CARE: 
2024-25 

CONNECTING FAMILIES 

97 cases in total 

85 families received support 

96% of cases successfully supported 

BABY IN MIND 

28 families 

28 families received support 

82% of cases successfully supported 
through trauma-informed support 

INTEGRATED FAMILY SUPPORT SERVICE 

22 cases in total 

86% of cases successfully supported 

RAPID RESPONSE 

61 cases in total 

95% of cases successfully supported 

222 referrals were received by 
Edge of Care during the year  

92% of families who engaged 
with the service were successfully 
supported to prevent children 
and young people from entering care 

RAPID RESPONSE 
Short term support for children 
and families in crisis 

BABY IN MIND 
Intensive pre and post birth support 
for families and wider networks to 
ensure the baby can remain in the 
care of the family safely 

DADS SUPPORT WORKER 
One to One or group support to 
develop fathers’ relationships with 
their children 

CONNECTING FAMILIES 
Medium term support for children 
and families where there are 
concerns about children’s safety 

INTEGRATED   
FAMILY SUPPORT 
Long term support for families 
affected by trauma 

RISE 
Long term support for families whose 
children have been placed into care 
and subsequently adopted 

38 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 100



  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Contacts to 
the Service 

Care and Support 
Assessments 

However, whilst contacts have increased the 
proportion of contacts where advice and assistance 
was required has decreased from 19% of all 
contacts received in 2023-24 to 8% in 2024-25. This 
demonstrates the impact of our drive to focus on 
early intervention and prevention via non statutory 
(social services) support. 

With early help co-located within MASH and locality 
safeguarding hubs, the ability to ensure children and 
families get the right support from the right service 

has increased in the last 12 months. To demonstrate 
this between January to March 2025 there were 237 
referrals received into Early Help which equates to a 
22.8% increase when compared to the same period 
in 2024. 

We have identified a need to separate referrals 
and contacts. Classifying all contacts as a referral 
makes our figures appear greater than other local 
authorities, as a number of referrals can be related to 
the same incident. 

The decrease in assessments demonstrates the 
effectiveness of our Signs of Safety screening tool 
which has assisted clearer decision making alongside 
our drive for early intervention via preventative 
approaches. Overall, 45% of new assessments were 
able to be supported outside of statutory services 
compared to 43% in 2023-24. 

Following a recent independent review of front 
door arrangements, it was confirmed that practice 
and decision making is safe and reflects our model 
of practice. We have identified a range of areas 
including threshold, decision-making and joint 
working for improvement. 

Over the last year the number of 
contacts received by Children and 
Family Services increased by 24%. 

Over the year we completed 1576 
new care and support assessments for 

children and young people which is a 
34% decrease compared to 2023-24. 

37 

Contacts to the Service 

Over the last year the number of contacts received by Children and Family Services increased 
by 24%.  

However, whilst contacts have increased the proportion of contacts where advice and 
assistance was required has decreased from 19% of all contacts received in 2023-24 to 8% 
in 2024-25. This demonstrates the impact of our drive to focus on early intervention and 
prevention via non statutory (social services) support.  

With early help co-located within MASH and locality safeguarding hubs, the ability to ensure 
children and families get the right support from the right service has increased in the last 12 
months. To demonstrate this between January to March 2025 there were 237 referrals 
received into Early Help which equates to a 22.8% increase when compared to the same 
period in 2024. 

We have identified a need to separate referrals and contacts. Classifying all contacts as a 
referral makes our figures appear greater than other local authorities, as a number of referrals 
can be related to the same incident.  

37 

Contacts to the Service 

Over the last year the number of contacts received by Children and Family Services increased 
by 24%.  

However, whilst contacts have increased the proportion of contacts where advice and 
assistance was required has decreased from 19% of all contacts received in 2023-24 to 8% 
in 2024-25. This demonstrates the impact of our drive to focus on early intervention and 
prevention via non statutory (social services) support.  

With early help co-located within MASH and locality safeguarding hubs, the ability to ensure 
children and families get the right support from the right service has increased in the last 12 
months. To demonstrate this between January to March 2025 there were 237 referrals 
received into Early Help which equates to a 22.8% increase when compared to the same 
period in 2024. 

We have identified a need to separate referrals and contacts. Classifying all contacts as a 
referral makes our figures appear greater than other local authorities, as a number of referrals 
can be related to the same incident.  

38 
 

 

Care and Support Assessments 

Over the year we completed 1576 new care and support assessments for children and young 
people which is a 34% decrease compared to 2023-24.  

 

The decrease in assessments demonstrates the effectiveness of our Signs of Safety screening 
tool which has assisted clearer decision making alongside our drive for early intervention via 
preventative approaches. Overall, 45% of new assessments were able to be supported 
outside of statutory services compared to 43% in 2023-24. 

Following a recent independent review of front door arrangements, it was confirmed that 
practice and decision making is safe and reflects our model of practice.  We have identified a 
range of areas including threshold, decision-making and joint working  for improvement.  

 

Adult Social Care 

 

Preventing the Escalation of Care & Support  
Intervening early and preventing escalation of need helps people to remain independent 
where possible. To promote independence a number of initiatives were introduced across our 
community based services. 

 

Home Care Remodelling: The Support at Home Journey 

We have improved Support at Home - increasing the effectiveness of short-term interventions 
for people in the community to reduce or eliminate the need for longer-term care at home. 

We have upskilled all care staff who now work in dedicated localities to increase care capacity 
and reduce travel time. We also aimed to assess 75% of people who appeared to require care 
and support via the Support at Home Assessment Team. By mapping people’s current 
provision, we were able to create 3 v locality support networks. Each network comprises of a 
Team Leader and 2 co-ordinators each supported by a number of dedicated direct care 
staff.  The new structure was introduced in October 2024.  

The new model has enabled a much more efficient and effective response to identifying and 
providing support. It has  supported people to maintain their independence by providing an 

38 
 

 

Care and Support Assessments 

Over the year we completed 1576 new care and support assessments for children and young 
people which is a 34% decrease compared to 2023-24.  

 

The decrease in assessments demonstrates the effectiveness of our Signs of Safety screening 
tool which has assisted clearer decision making alongside our drive for early intervention via 
preventative approaches. Overall, 45% of new assessments were able to be supported 
outside of statutory services compared to 43% in 2023-24. 

Following a recent independent review of front door arrangements, it was confirmed that 
practice and decision making is safe and reflects our model of practice.  We have identified a 
range of areas including threshold, decision-making and joint working  for improvement.  

 

Adult Social Care 

 

Preventing the Escalation of Care & Support  
Intervening early and preventing escalation of need helps people to remain independent 
where possible. To promote independence a number of initiatives were introduced across our 
community based services. 

 

Home Care Remodelling: The Support at Home Journey 

We have improved Support at Home - increasing the effectiveness of short-term interventions 
for people in the community to reduce or eliminate the need for longer-term care at home. 

We have upskilled all care staff who now work in dedicated localities to increase care capacity 
and reduce travel time. We also aimed to assess 75% of people who appeared to require care 
and support via the Support at Home Assessment Team. By mapping people’s current 
provision, we were able to create 3 v locality support networks. Each network comprises of a 
Team Leader and 2 co-ordinators each supported by a number of dedicated direct care 
staff.  The new structure was introduced in October 2024.  

The new model has enabled a much more efficient and effective response to identifying and 
providing support. It has  supported people to maintain their independence by providing an 

38 
 

 

Care and Support Assessments 

Over the year we completed 1576 new care and support assessments for children and young 
people which is a 34% decrease compared to 2023-24.  

 

The decrease in assessments demonstrates the effectiveness of our Signs of Safety screening 
tool which has assisted clearer decision making alongside our drive for early intervention via 
preventative approaches. Overall, 45% of new assessments were able to be supported 
outside of statutory services compared to 43% in 2023-24. 

Following a recent independent review of front door arrangements, it was confirmed that 
practice and decision making is safe and reflects our model of practice.  We have identified a 
range of areas including threshold, decision-making and joint working  for improvement.  

 

Adult Social Care 

 

Preventing the Escalation of Care & Support  
Intervening early and preventing escalation of need helps people to remain independent 
where possible. To promote independence a number of initiatives were introduced across our 
community based services. 

 

Home Care Remodelling: The Support at Home Journey 

We have improved Support at Home - increasing the effectiveness of short-term interventions 
for people in the community to reduce or eliminate the need for longer-term care at home. 

We have upskilled all care staff who now work in dedicated localities to increase care capacity 
and reduce travel time. We also aimed to assess 75% of people who appeared to require care 
and support via the Support at Home Assessment Team. By mapping people’s current 
provision, we were able to create 3 v locality support networks. Each network comprises of a 
Team Leader and 2 co-ordinators each supported by a number of dedicated direct care 
staff.  The new structure was introduced in October 2024.  

The new model has enabled a much more efficient and effective response to identifying and 
providing support. It has  supported people to maintain their independence by providing an 

39 Page 101



Preventing the Escalation 
of Care & Support 

Home Care Remodelling: 
The Support at Home Journey 
We have improved Support at Home - increasing the effectiveness 
of short-term interventions for people in the community to reduce or 
eliminate the need for longer-term care at home. 

We have upskilled all care staff who now work in dedicated localities to increase 
care capacity and reduce travel time. We also aimed to assess 75% of people 
who appeared to require care and support via the Support at Home Assessment 
Team. By mapping people’s current provision, we were able to create 3 v locality 
support networks. Each network comprises of a Team Leader and 2 co-ordinators 
each supported by a number of dedicated direct care staff. The new structure was 
introduced in October 2024. 

The new model has enabled a much more efficient and effective response to 

identifying and providing support. It has supported people to maintain their 
independence by providing an opportunity to access reablement services, and, 
where care and support is required ensure it is proportionate to the person’s needs. 
During 2024-25, 509 people completed a period of reablement, an increase of 35% 
when compared to 2024-25 where 377 people completed a period of reablement. 

Next steps are, provide further training to upskill care staff in improved reablement 
practices and pursue a vision for a multi-disciplinary service at the front door of 
adult services to increase the earlier interventions. 

Adult Social Care 

Intervening early and preventing escalation of need helps people to remain 
independent where possible. To promote independence a number of 
initiatives were introduced across our community based services. 

40 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 102



  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Bed to Chair: 
A Rehabilitation Project for 
Adults with Complex, Long-term Conditions 
It was recognised that some people who require therapy led reablement required 
more support. 

To address these gaps, we have provided community based support for people most at risk of 
admission to hospital or long-term care via reablement interventions. 

The project has had a positive impact both on individuals and the service. By increasing capacity 
at the early stages of the referral process and providing more timely intervention, not only have 
people retained independence and improved their wellbeing but their risk of being admitted to 
hospital was reduced, which will reduce the reliance on long term care and support 

There were 495 people supported by the local authority in care home placements at the end of 
March 2025 compared with 524 at the end of March 2024 which demonstrates the outcomes 
from this targeted work with our most vulnerable citizens. This achievement is particularly positive 
given the growing and ageing population in Bridgend 

CASE STUDY: 

Care Home Avoidance 
Adult B lives in sheltered accommodation and was referred to a Social Worker for admittance 
to a care home due to increasing self-neglect resulting in significant health problems. B 
was declining care from the current care agency and was at risk of being evicted from their 
sheltered accommodation. 

B was discussed in the Multi-disciplinary Team and an assessment focussed on what mattered to B. A plan was 
put in place to allow them to remain in their sheltered accommodation and reduce the risks. This included: 

• a Therapy Technician program designed by the Occupational Therapist. 

• a recliner chair purchased. 

• a physiotherapy program commenced on strength-based work 

• and a mobility aid ordered and strength built to access the toilet independently. 

This meant that B’s care calls were able to be reduced from 4 to 2 per day, the district nurse support was 
withdrawn and through the Social Worker, the Care Agency was changed and a new program of care designed 
introducing reablement approaches. 

This approach meant that B was able to remain in their home and be as independent as they could be. This was 
a much better outcome for B as well as making saving on care home fees for the local authority. 

41 Page 103



Contacts to 
the Service 

Over the latter part of the year, we implemented a change to the processes of our Early Intervention 
and Prevention Hub (EIPH), with contacts being directed via our Corporate Front Door. 

Whilst the increase in those receiving advice and support has increased in line with the increase 
in overall contacts our work with the Council’s Corporate Front Door ensures only those contacts 
requiring social care assistance are being handled by the EIPH service. 

This data now includes the new proportionate assessment completed by the EIPH. 
The reduction in the number of assessments resulting in a care and support plan is positive 
indication that practitioners are effectively using the “Strengths Based, Outcome Focussed” 
approach during assessments. 

The need for care and support plans have decreased as we are working with people to 
understand their strengths and resources which reduces the necessity for some people to 
have a care and support plan to have their needs met. 

There was a 7% increase 
in new contacts received during 
2024-25 compared to 2023-24. 

Care and Support 
Assessments 

During 2024-25, 2509 new care and 
support assessments for adults were 

completed, which is an increase of 37% 
when compared to the previous year. 

40 

from this targeted work with our most vulnerable citizens. This achievement is particularly 
positive given the growing and ageing population in Bridgend 

Contacts to the Service 

There was a 7% increase in new contacts received during 2024-25 compared to 2023-24. 

Over the latter part of the year, we implemented a change to the processes of our Early 
Intervention and Prevention Hub (EIPH), with contacts being directed via our Corporate Front 
Door.  

Whilst the increase in those receiving advice and support has increased in line with the 
increase in overall contacts our work with the Council’s Corporate Front Foor ensures only 
those contacts requiring social care assistance are being handled by the EIPH service. 

Care and Support Assessments 

During 2024-25, 2509 new care and support assessments for adults were completed, which 
is an increase of 37% when compared to the previous year. 

This data now includes the new proportionate assessment completed by the EIPH. The 
reduction in the number of assessments resulting in a care and support plan is positive 
indication that practitioners are effectively using the “Strengths Based, Outcome Focussed” 
approach during assessments.  

The need for care and support plans have decreased as we are working with people to 
understand their strengths and resources which reduces the necessity for some people to 
have a care and support plan to have their needs met. 

40 
 

from this targeted work with our most vulnerable citizens. This achievement is particularly 
positive given the growing and ageing population in Bridgend 

 
Contacts to the Service 

There was a 7% increase in new contacts received during 2024-25 compared to 2023-24.  

 
Over the latter part of the year, we implemented a change to the processes of our Early 
Intervention and Prevention Hub (EIPH), with contacts being directed via our Corporate Front 
Door.  
 
Whilst the increase in those receiving advice and support has increased in line with the 
increase in overall contacts our work with the Council’s Corporate Front Foor ensures only 
those contacts requiring social care assistance are being handled by the EIPH service. 
 

Care and Support Assessments 

During 2024-25, 2509 new care and support assessments for adults were completed, which 
is an increase of 37% when compared to the previous year.  

 

This data now includes the new proportionate assessment completed by the EIPH. The 
reduction in the number of assessments resulting in a care and support plan is  positive 
indication that practitioners are effectively using the “Strengths Based, Outcome Focussed” 
approach during assessments.  

The need for care and support plans have decreased as we are working with people to 
understand their strengths and resources which reduces the necessity for some people to 
have a care and support plan to have their needs met. 

 
42 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 104



  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

The Reablement 
Service 
As stated earlier, the total number of reablement 
packages provided during the year rose by 35%, 
as a result of the remodelling of the Support at 
Home service which is described above. 

Delayed 
Pathways of 
Care 
The number of people delayed in their 
transfer of care on the ‘discharge to recover 
and assess’ pathway has decreased from 
104 in 2023-24 to 70 in 2024-25. 

This information is a count of people on a set 
census day each month who are still in hospital 48 
hours after a clinician has determined that they are 
medically fit to return home. These improvements 
have been achieved despite our workforce working 
across multiple hospital sites due to the major 
works required at the Princess of Wales Hospital. 

Whilst there has been a positive impact for those 
people whose needs were maintained there has been 
a small decrease in those whose needs were reduced 
or avoided. The service has observed that the level of 
need of the people accessing reablement has increased 

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 

Reablement Packages that 
mitigated the need for 
support 

67% 67% 56% 

Reablement Packages that 
reduced the need for support 12% 14% 17% 

% of Reablement packages 
that maintained the need for 
the same level of support 

15% 14% 16% 

% of Reablement packages 
that neither reduced, 
maintained nor mitigated the 
need for support 

7% 5% 11% 

Prevention: 
2025-26 
Key Priorities 
ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES 

Preventative services to connect people 
to community based support. 

Bridgend Carers Wellbeing Service 
to support referrals and conduct what 
matters conversations. 

Strategic group created to support unpaid 
carers and identify objectives within the 
carers action plan. 

Community based activity offers for carers 
developed with Halo and Awen and 3rd 
sector partners. 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

Implement our commissioning strategies 
for Family Support and Children with 
disabilities. 

Reduce the number of care experienced 
children and reunify children with their 
families whenever it is safe to do so. 

Implement our placement commissioning 
strategy and reduce our use of 
unregistered placements. 

Continue with the remodelling of fostering 
services so that we retain the carers we 
already have and recruit into the local 
authority. 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

Strategic group created to support unpaid 
carers to improve the way we work with 
adult carers. 

Carry out a review of the assisted 
recovery in the community service in 
partnership with CTMUHB and other 
stakeholders. 

43 Page 105



Quality Standards 

“Effective partnerships are 
in place to commission and 
fully deliver fully integrated, 
high quality sustainable 
outcomes for people” 

“People are encouraged to 
be involved in the design and 
delivery of their care and 
support as equal partners” 

Partnership and Integration 

44 

  PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 106



  PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O  P L E  

Regional Arrangements 
We have a number of regional partnerships that work across the whole of the service. 

We work closely with Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board (CTMUHB), Merthyr Tydfil County 

Borough Council and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council and other partners in the Regional 
Partnership . The aim of the Regional Partnership is to improve the wellbeing, health and social care services 
of people living across the 3 areas. The Deputy Leader of BCBC is the chair of the Regional Partnership 

To ensure we have effective arrangements in place to protect all people of all ages from harm, with our 
regional partners we are a member of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Safeguarding Board. 

At a local level, several of our services are integrated with key partners. 

Local Arrangements 
At a local level, several of our services are integrated with key partners. 

The Bridgend Multi-Agency Safeguarding Team (MASH) co-locates our Children and 
Family Services and Adult Safeguarding teams with a number of agencies including South 
Wales Police, education and probation to provide a collaborative approach to safeguarding 
across the borough. More information on Bridgend MASH can be found on our website. 

In Adult Social Care our Integrated Cluster Network Teams work jointly with CTMUHB to 
deliver services to people within the community. Our integrated approach for adults is 
based across 3 ‘networks.’ These bring together a range of social care and community 
health professionals to meet the needs of people with chronic and long-term conditions. 

Each network covers a geographical area of the county aligned with our GP surgeries. 
This ensures that people receive integrated care within their communities which can adapt 
as their needs change. Taking a multidisciplinary approach means that we can respond 
to issues that arise quickly, preventing things getting worse. Taking a holistic approach to 
meeting people’s needs and working closely with their families ensures they don’t need 
to repeat their story to multiple professionals and ensures they have greater choice and 
control in the way their care is delivered. 

Across Social Services 

45 Page 107

https://ctmregionalpartnershipboard.co.uk/
https://www.cwmtafmorgannwgsafeguardingboard.co.uk/En/Home.aspx
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/social-care-and-wellbeing/multi-agency-safeguarding-hub-mash/


A MESSAGE FROM OUR PARTNER: 

“Trust and confidence in the child protection arrangements in Bridgend faced 
considerable pressure following several high-profile child deaths. Bridgend 
Children’s Services played a pivotal role in this response and, in my view, deserve 
significant recognition 

Upon identifying that certain aspects of the arrangements required improvement, they engaged 
fully and transparently with partners. While performance data can often be a sensitive matter, 
Bridgend was proactive in discussing in granular detail the areas that needed attention. This 
openness allowed partners to provide constructive feedback and gain a comprehensive 
understanding of the interdependencies at play. 

In keeping with the commitment to trust and transparency, there was positive engagement with 
practitioners across all agencies. This inclusive approach ensured that challenges were openly 
discussed, and all practitioners had the opportunity to contribute to the development of solutions. 

While there is always room for improvement, and we should continually strive to deliver the best 
possible service to our most vulnerable, Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) quickly 
adopted the stance that such progress must be built on a foundation of trust, confidence, and a 

shared understanding of the barriers, challenges, and strategic goals.” 

Detective Superintendent 
SOUTH WALES POLICE 

Third Sector 
Arrangements 
Our Prevention and Wellbeing Service works with third sector partners, 
Awen Cultural Trust and Halo Leisure in the delivery of leisure, cultural and 
wellbeing services. These are key to supporting preventative services for 
children, young people, adults their families and carers. 

Our partners have had a successful year: 

• In June 2024, Halo’s Healthy Living Partnership, including the Council and other 
partners, received an excellent rating following an assessment by QUEST. QUEST 
is a quality assurance scheme for the sport and leisure industry measuring national 
standards and for service planning. Receiving this rating demonstrates BCBC and 
Halo’s commitment to providing high-quality services and customer satisfaction. 

• Awen libraries which is managed the Awen Cultural Trust in Partnership with the 
Council was named Welsh Library of The Year at the 2025 British Book Awards. The 
award recognises libraries who bring the world of books to the wider community. 

46 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 108



  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Addressing the Gaps 
in Social Care 
In April 2024, Cabinet approved three 
commissioning strategies across the key 
population areas, which set out our priority 
areas and commissioning intentions over 
the next 5 years. 

The strategies were developed using analysis 
from Population Needs Assessments and Market 
Stability Reports produced in 2022/23, as well as 
local data to identify key trends about the people 
of Bridgend and our services. This data has 
enabled us to understand how our current services 
are performing and to project future service 
requirements over the coming years. 

Some of the key areas of work identified in 

the commissioning strategies included the 
development of a Placement Commissioning 
Strategy in Children and Family Services as well as 
a detailed Accommodation-Based Service review, 
and a review of Daytime Opportunities within Adult 
Social Care 

A Children and Families Placement Commissioning 
strategy has been submitted to Welsh Government 
and our key priorities include: 

• Enhancing our Residential Provision

• Increasing Supported lodgings and
Supported accommodation options

• Reducing our independent high-cost
residential use.

• Eliminating Operating Without Registration
use

We have also started a project to remodel our 
fostering services. The aims of this are to: 

• Increase the  number and diversity of Foster
Wales Bridgend carers.

• Improve carer recruitment conversion and
reduce terminations.

• Enhance carer support, wellbeing and
retention.

• Reduce reliance on Independent Foster
Agencies and residential placements.

• Embed carer voice through consistent
communication and Foster Carer charter
delivery.

Within Adult Social Care, we completed an 
accommodation mapping exercise, the findings 

of which were approved by Cabinet in March 
2025. Key priority areas identified include the 

development of a new extra care service in the 
south of the county borough, and to ensure 
service accommodation provision (both internal 
and commissioned) is able to meet increasing 
complexities and increasing dementia rates moving 
forward. 

The key next steps are to finalise business cases 

in these priority areas in order to help secure 
any capital and revenue available to support the 
developments needed. 

There has also been a review of daytime 
opportunities in Bridgend, which have been 
approved by Cabinet, where the following priority 
areas were identified. 

• A progressive and enabling service, enabling
people to progress/realise their potential or
move to their next stage of care

• Meaningful occupation for younger adults
going through transition and adults of
working age

• Carer respite and high-quality care, support
and meaningful activity for those with the
most complex needs

• Community connection to meet the social
needs of people with care and support needs

Over the next year we will continue to develop 
and mobilise children’s residential care as set out 
in the business justification case and Placement 
Commissioning Strategy and continue to improve 
the way we support foster carers to improve our 
retention and recruitment of foster carers. 

47 Page 109



Effective Partnerships 
Mental Health Support for Children 
and Young People 

Children and 
Family Services 

We developed a multi-agency action plan with CTMUHB, Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr 
County Borough Councils to improve mental health support for children and young people. 

This has led to better joint working between the health board and local authorities. We are jointly 
developing an approach that ensures children and families access emotional wellbeing support from the 
right service at the right time. This regional approach will be termed SPACE and is intending to go live in 
January 2026. 

CASE STUDY: 

Working with Health to Safeguard from Harm 
Child B was hospitalised following self-harming themselves. Their parent was extremely 
concerned about how to safeguard B from any harm with worries that a further attempt would 
be made to harm themselves again. 

Health and Social Services worked together to hold risk management meetings and be clear about what risks 
were evident and how they were being managed. Health clearly outlined their risk assessment and rationale 
about why community support was the best course of action for B. 

It was a concerning situation, but partners worked well together with clear roles and responsibilities. B remains 
with a family member and is being supported by Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services and social 
services to recover from their experiences and safeguard from harm. 

Homelessness 
We have developed plans to improve the response to care leavers who 
experience homelessness. Working closely with our housing partners 
we intend to develop a joint protocol to address and try and prevent 
these issues from occurring in the future. 

We have also been developing additional supported accommodation options for care 
leavers to ensure smooth transitions for children and young people into adulthood. 

48 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 110



  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

People As Equal Partners 
Family Support Services Commissioning 
Strategy and Young People 

Due to increased demand on our statutory services, our improvement partner 
reviewed current services and local needs. 

They identified clear areas of focus to enhance preventative services and alleviate pressure on 

statutory support and ensure children and families access the right support at the right time. 

As part of this review, a Family Commissioning Strategy was developed which clearly sets out 6 
key areas for Early Help, Edge of Care and partner agencies to focus on over the next 2 years. 

The strategy will support collaboration with communities and local organisations 
to build a broader network of support for families, in ways that are more familiar 
and rooted in their own communities. We are starting to see stronger relationships 
between local services, voluntary groups, and the families they support 

1. STREAMLINED SERVICES 

Integrate Early Help, MASH, 
and Social Work into a single 
front door 

Develop clear referral routes and 
aligned access, assessment, and 
planning pathways 

Promote a "no wrong door" 
approach for families and 
professionals 

2. MORE INTENSIVE TARGETED 
SUPPORT 

Expand Tier 3 services for 
families with complex needs 

Equip Family Support staff with 
skills to deliver sustained, high-
impact intervention 

Reduce reliance on statutory 
services by offering earlier 
intensive help 

5. SUPPORT FOR 
NEURODIVERSE CHILDREN   
& MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS 

Collaborate with NHS to 
invest in support for complex 
neurodevelopmental and 
emotional needs 

Create intensive family support 
pathways tailored to these young 
people 

Reduce pressure on families and 
prevent breakdown 

4. SUPPORT FOR OLDER 
CHILDREN & ADOLESCENTS 

Address rising demand related to 
family conflict, exploitation, and 
school exclusion 

Develop flexible and responsive 
support offers, including 
out-of-hours provision 

Build capacity to reduce 
unplanned care entry for 
teenagers 

3. PARENTING SUPPORT 
REFORM 

Shift from general parenting 
programmes to targeted, 
evidence-based interventions 

Increase coaching-style, one-to-
one support for families at risk 

Commission new models and 
partners to deliver intensive 
support 

6. FAMILY PARTNERSHIPS   
& PRACTICE MODEL 

Embed trauma-informed, 
strengths-based approaches and 
Signs of Safety 

Promote true partnership working 
with families, reducing over-
reliance on services 

Strengthen understanding of the 
local support system among staff 

FAMILY COMMISSIONING STRATEGY: KEY PRIORITIES 

49 Page 111



Bridgend Youth Voice Forum 
Bridgend Youth Voice is a forum for care experienced young people and care 
leavers aged 12 to 21 years. It acts as a sounding board to the Council and its 
partners for service improvement on all issues for care experienced children, 
young people and care leavers. 

The forum is facilitated by TGP Cymru who are commissioned by us to deliver specialist 
independent participation support and to champion the views and rights of our children and 
young people. They are supported by our Corporate Parenting and Participation Officer. 

The forum also collaborates with the Children’s Commissioner for Wales, Voices from Care 
Cymru, Children in Wales, Foster Wales and Welsh Government on a range of initiatives to 
improve the lives of children in care. The forum is valued by our young people, carers and staff. 

To understand our impact over the year we asked our Youth Forum three important questions. 

What has gone well with people or things 

that have happened? 

• Supportive Social Workers, Personal 
Advisors and Foster Carers 

• Feel listened to 

• Supported to undertake activities that 
matter and are important 

What has not gone so well? 

• Feel there are different rules in place for us 
compared to other young people 

• Feeling pressured to accept support 

• Feeling unaccepted by peers 

How can the support be improved and what ideas/ 
solutions do you have? 

• Less red tape to reduce the stigma of being care 
experienced 

• More understanding that we do not have to stay in 
the local area 

• Not being introduced as the “new kid” at school 
and ensuring the right educational support is in 
place 

• A regional forum to provide opportunities to meet 
with other care experienced young people 

• Advocacy champions in schools/teams to ensure 
all children and young people know their right to 
advocacy 

“This is so important for
these young people to
have these forums have
definitely enhanced our
boys’ confidence. This
is very important and
makes a huge difference
to young people!” 

“I feel accepted even 
though I have autism,

and I feel I can influence 
important decisions.” 

“I feel like I have 
a place to make 

changes for young 
people in care.” 

“Forum gives me a 
place where I feel 

accepted, and my voice 
is listened to.” 

“I can be myself and 

discuss my mental 

health openly.” 

50 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 112



  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Effective Partnerships 
Adult Social Care 

Hospital Discharge 
In partnership with the Health Board 
we have improved how we work 
together to manage discharges from 
hospitals more effectively. The aim 
of the plan was to support people to 
recover and regain skills to minimise 
poor discharges which result in return 
to hospital or can result in someone 
losing their independence at home. 

We achieved this aim by: 

• working within the Discharge to Recover 
and Assess (D2RA) framework and 
timelines. 

• phasing implementation of  Enhanced 
Community Care Level 4 capacity within 
the Community Resource Team. 

• collaborating with the Regional 
Partnership  to develop and implement an 
optimal model for community services. 

• and, utilising the local authority escalation 
plan to facilitate focussed whole system 
activity to assist CTMUHB in improving 
their position at times of high pressure. 

WHAT IS LEVEL 4 ENHANCED 
COMMUNITY CARE? 

It is a model that helps us work with key 

partners to support… 

• an integrated health and social care 
approach to avoid crisis and escalation of 
health and care needs where feasible. 

• community services to promote faster 
recovery from illness, prevent unnecessary 
acute hospital admissions, support timely 
discharge and maximise independence. 

• step up support to prevent hospital 
admission or step-down support to enable 
people to leave hospital early, while still 
receiving the treatment, care and support 
they need. 

• people  to be cared for in their own homes 
or usual place of residence. 

• the use a combination of technology and 
face-to-face support, remote consultation, 
remote monitoring and/or remote 
intervention 

Housing 
The council is currently working in partnership with a registered social landlord and 
the health board to develop a range of supported housing options close to a Wellness 
Centre as part of a new development. 

This involves the development of a core and cluster support arrangement which will provide tenants 
with person centred and flexible support. The accommodation options include, supported living and 
targeted support in one or two bedroom flats. A business case has been produced which explains 
how the core and cluster arrangement will operate and how staffing resources will be used to help 

people live independently. 

51 Page 113



Supporting 
Autism Spectrum 
Disorder and 
Neurodiversity 
We are key partners in the Regional 
Neurodivergence Improvement 
Programme. Leading on an ambitious 
agenda to improve access, inclusion 
and support for Neurodivergent adults. 

The group’s remit includes mental health and 
emotional wellbeing, leisure and community-
based support, criminal justice system and 
substance misuse, staying safe, employment 
and housing. 

The Substance 
Misuse Service 
Substance Misuse services in Bridgend 
are delivered in 4 tiers, which are: 

• Tier 1: Prevention & Early 
Identification/Intervention. 
Consists of a range of drug-
related interventions that can be 
provided by generic providers, 
depending on their competence 
and partnership arrangements 
with specialised substance misuse 
services. 

• Tier 2: Advice & Support Services. 
Interventions are provided by 
specialist substance misuse 
providers and include a range of 
harm reduction interventions, and 
interventions that engage, retain, 
and support people in treatment. 
Support for families and concerned 
others are also considered to be 
tier 2 interventions. 

• Tier 3: Specialist Treatment 
Services. Specialist provisions 
including all clinical functions, 
substitute prescribing programmes 
and community detoxification. 

• Tier 4: Services provide substance 
misuse Inpatient Detoxification 
and Residential Rehabilitation 
programmes. 

Tier 1 and 2 services are provided by an 
independent sector group who works in 
partnership with the Council and Health Board. 
Tier 3 services are a partnership between the 
Council and Health Board to provide social 
work, nursing and clinical services. All these 
partners are based in the same building and 
work together to offer a range of substance 
misuse services from a hub base which is 
accessible to the public. 

The Mental Health 
Operational Group 
The Mental Health Measure 
Operational Group (MHMOG) 
meets once a month to ensure all 
partners are meeting the statutory 
requirements outlined in the Mental 
Health Act Measure (2010) and Social 
Services and Wellbeing (Wales) 
Act 2014. It provides an example of 
effective partnership working with our 
neighbouring Local Authority’s and 
healthcare partners. 

We aim to enhance and offer high quality 
services for those in need of mental health 
care. We are working together to make care 
more joined up and personal, so it is easier 
to get the right support when needed. The 
group facilitates decision-making, training 
opportunities, and open communication 
between partners. 

52 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 114



  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

People As Equal Partners 
Social Opportunities Panel 
A panel has been developed to support people to access the right preventative 
service for them, reduce duplication and enhance access to social opportunities. 

The panel ensures decisions around access to activities is equitable, transparent and make 
best use of available resources. 

The panel helps practitioners offer more of the right support, based on what people actually 
need. It cuts out duplication and makes sure everyone gets an opportunity to connect with 
others and feel included, no matter where they live or who is helping them. 

The panel has helped us utilise services more effectively by bringing together support from 
social care, health and community based services. It also helps us focus on the specific needs 

of different areas of the borough, especially where people face more challenges like poor 
health, poverty, or limited access to services. 

CASE STUDY: 

Social Opportunities Panel 
Adult C lives with dementia. They like to be 
active which can result in them becoming 
exhausted and increase their risk of falls. 
C is slow to respond to family members 
instructions and is becoming verbally 
aggressive towards their family, which is 
having an impact on them maintaining their 
carer role. 

C’s case was presented to the social opportunities 
panel to support them in achieving their well-being 
outcomes, which was to be active in the community. 
Support was provided for C to safely attend activity 
based groups. The Local Community Co-ordinator, 
Halo and Occupational Therapist worked together 
to find suitable groups and an Occupational Therapy 

Technician is supporting C to attend. 

To increase social opportunities further, a request 
was made to panel for C to attend day services at 
the Integrated Dementia Service. The request was 
granted and C attends day services, enjoys groups 
activities and engaging with others. 

The support provided has enabled C to achieve 
their outcomes by maintaining their interests, whilst 
ensuring their safety and well-being. C’s carers are 
also supported to have a break from their caring 
role, resulting in time to recuperate and do things 
which are important to them. The support provided 
to C has brought their carers a sense of relief and 
reassurance, allowing them to continue in their 
caring role. 

53 Page 115



Enhancing 
Sensory 
Support 
Our sensory team has worked 
to improve sensory support, 
working with groups across 
the borough as well as visiting 
people at home to hear their 
voices. This work identified that: 

• by being present at 
groups, the team can 
provide information and 
advice to a wider group 
of people, making people 
aware of the wide range of 
support available to them. 

• demonstrating the use 
of or replacing specialist 
equipment at these groups 
or during visits reduces 
the need for people to 
contact our services. 

• working with families 
and carers ensures they 
are also supported. For 
example, referring them 
to relevant organisations 
such as the Carers Centre. 

• we can create “buddying 
up” opportunities for 
people who are newly 
diagnosed and lack 
confidence to attend 
groups. The team 
accompanies them to the 
group until they become 
confident in attending 
themselves. 

We regularly make connections 
between groups and other services 
and organisations, for example Falls 
Prevention, Wales Council for the 
Blind, Eye Clinic Liaison Officer and 

the Alzheimer’s Society. 

People First Bridgend 
People First Bridgend is a third sector 
organisation who support adults with learning 
disabilities and autism in Bridgend. They 
empower people they support to understand and 
exercise their rights, access services and fully 
participate in their communities. More information 
on People First Bridgend can be found here. 

We have strong partnership arrangements in place with 
People First Bridgend and to understand if we had made 
an impact over the year we met with representatives from 
People First, both staff and those that use their services, 
to ask 3 questions. 

What has gone well with the people that support you or 
the things that have happened in the last year? 

• I feel supported by helpful staff and managers 

• I am supported to attend People First meetings 

• I now feel listened too and support needs are being met 

• BAVO provide advice, support and activities within the 
community 

• Support from the Autism Worker within the ARCs 

What has not gone well with the people that support 
you or the things that have happened in the last year? 

• Lack of information on crisis intervention 

• Allocated workers not always aware of advocacy 
support 

• Support for the LGBTQ+ community 

• Communication with allocated worker 

• Flexibility of available support 

How can the support be improved? 

• Breaking down barriers for timely preventative support 

• Advocacy training / awareness for workers 

• Advance planning for key life events such as a change 
in worker or move to new accommodation 

• Funding to support educational / training needs 

• Transport availability to participate in community based 
events 

• Improved communication with allocated worker 

54 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 116



Partnership and Integration: 
2025-26 Key Priorities 

ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES 

Partnership working with BAVO to meet people’s needs via the third sector 
and navigators to have “what matters” conversations to support people to 
connect to communities and to be clear about the different needs that can be 
met by navigators and local community coordinators. 

Partnership working with 3rd sector Networks groups including Bridgend 
Inclusive network group, Bridgend young carers network group to develop 
new opportunities. 

Work with Town & Community Councils to support universal Active4Life 
opportunities during school holidays. 

Consultation and engagement on identified priorities and areas of focus 
within Library Services, Culture and Community Hub strategy for future 
development. 

Review our out of hours Social Services arrangements. 

Review the operating model of children with disabilities and transition. 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

Implement the threshold guidance with partners so that we are all clear about 
our roles and responsibilities and ways accessing services. 

Develop an agreed approach to multi-agency training and practice. 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

Continue to implement our 3-year strategic plan. 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

55 Page 117



Quality Standards 

“People are protected and 
safeguarded from abuse and 
neglect and any other types 
of harm” 

“People are supported to actively 
manage their well-being and 
make their own decisions so that 
they are able to achieve their full 
potential and live independently 
for as long as possible” 

Well-being 

56 

  PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 118



People are Protected 
and Safeguarded 

No Wrong Door 
We are working to ensure a 
“No Wrong Door” approach 
across the service. It brings 
professionals together to make 
sure people get the support 
they need, without delay to 
prevent situations getting 
worse. 

We respond quickly when a concern 
is raised, every referral is looked at 
within 24 hours and have worked 
with partners to lessen anxiety and 
have a shared understanding of risk 
thresholds. For those that require 
support early help services are able 
to provide support. 

The “Signs of Safety” approach is 
becoming part of everyday practice. 
To support this, we have partner 
agency Signs of Safety champions 
and hold reflective sessions and 
case de- briefs to develop a 
common understanding on how 
we manage risk and implement 
thresholds. 

Preventing and 
Responding to Exploitation 
We have had a local exploitation panel in operation 
since November 2024. During the year, we 
completed actions to ensure we have the right tools 
in place to prevent and respond to cases of child 
exploitation. 

• Workshops to inform a local multi-agency development plan. 

• The plan is now operational, setting out clear actions and 
a governance structure to support implementation of the 
strategy in Bridgend. 

• We are working with Cwm Taf Regional Safeguarding Board 
partners to build on the work we have done in Bridgend 
and ensure all new processes are embedded by September 
2025. 

• To strengthen co-production, we have upskilled our 
workforce and multi-agency partners on exploitation. 

We have an exploitation screening tool that is utilised across 
teams to identify risks associated with exploitation. The senior 
practitioner of our exploitation service has delivered training to 
teams across Children and Family Services. We have worked 
closely with schools, the Youth Justice Service and South 
Wales Police to identify areas of concern linked to exploitation 
and provided interventions in those areas. 

Children and 
Family Services 

We experienced a 24% rise in the number of contacts to Children and Family 
Services. But even with more people getting in touch, fewer children and young 
people are now going through formal assessments, and the number of children 
on the child protection register or in care has reduced. 

  PER FO R M A N C E AS S ES S M EN T / /  P E O  P L E  

57 Page 119



Children 
Safeguarding 
Enquiries 

If a partner agency does not agree with the decision 
in a child protection strategy meeting, we continue to 
promote the regional escalation of concerns process 
(CRISP). During the year we have not received any 
CRISPs as a result of decision making in strategy 
meetings. 

We continue to undertake work with partner 
agencies to support their understanding of our 
model of practice and have invited partners to 

attend the regular reflective sessions to consider 
the implementation of the Safeguarding Procedures, 
impact on families and learning. 

To further support professionals, having a shared 
understanding we have set up a consultation phone 
line. This line lets professionals talk through cases, 
get advice and plan next steps quickly and safely and 
does not replace the usual safeguarding processes 
which still need to be followed. 

The reduction in safeguarding enquiries is a direct 
result of the greater stability of our workforce and 
the changes we have made in strategy meetings 
and decision making. We are now taking a more 

proportionate responses to supporting children and 
families in line with Wales Safeguarding Procedures. 

57 

Children Safeguarding Enquiries 

The reduction in safeguarding enquiries is a direct result of the greater stability of our 
workforce and the changes we have made in strategy meetings and decision making. We are 
now taking a more proportionate responses to supporting children and families in line with 
Wales Safeguarding Procedures. 

If a partner agency does not agree with the decision in a child protection strategy meeting, we 
continue to promote the regional escalation of concerns process (CRISP). During the year we 
have not received any CRISPs as a result of decision making in strategy meetings. 

We continue to undertake work with partner agencies to support their understanding of our 
model of practice and have invited partners to attend the regular reflective sessions to consider 
the implementation of the Safeguarding Procedures, impact on families and learning.  

To further support professionals, having a shared understanding we have set up a consultation 
phone line. This line lets professionals talk through cases, get advice and plan next steps 
quickly and safely and does not replace the usual safeguarding processes which still need to 
be followed. 

Child Protection Registrations 

The number of children added to the Child Protection Register during the year has decreased 
by 55% when compared to the previous year. 

This trend reflects a continued reduction from the high number on the register in March 2023 
and is a result of more proportionate decision-making regarding children’s safety in addition 
to improved working with early help services.  The number of children on the child protection 
register has decreased from 270 as at March 2023 to 75 as at March 2025. 

Child Protection 
Registrations 

This trend reflects a continued reduction from the 
high number on the register in March 2023 and 
is a result of more proportionate decision-making 
regarding children’s safety in addition to improved 
working with early help services. The number 
of children on the child protection register has 
decreased from 270 as at March 2023 to 75 as at 

March 2025.

We continue to reduce the number of children 
registered and to provide reassurance around our 
decision making we have completed an audit and 
commissioned an independent review and share the 
outcomes with our partners. 

The number of children added to the 
Child Protection Register during the 

year has decreased by 55% when 
compared to the previous year. 

57 
 

Children Safeguarding Enquiries 
 
The reduction in safeguarding enquiries is a direct result of the greater stability of our 
workforce and the changes we have made in strategy meetings and decision making. We are 
now taking a more proportionate responses to supporting children and families in line with 
Wales Safeguarding Procedures. 

 

 

If a partner agency does not agree with the decision in a child protection strategy meeting, we 
continue to promote the regional escalation of concerns process (CRISP). During the year we 
have not received any CRISPs as a result of decision making in strategy meetings. 

We continue to undertake work with partner agencies to support their understanding of our 
model of practice and have invited partners to attend the regular reflective sessions to consider 
the implementation of the Safeguarding Procedures, impact on families and learning.  

To further support professionals, having a shared understanding we have set up a consultation 
phone line. This line lets professionals talk through cases, get advice and plan next steps 
quickly and safely and does not replace the usual safeguarding processes which still need to 
be followed. 

 

Child Protection Registrations 

The number of children added to the Child Protection Register during the year has decreased 
by 55% when compared to the previous year.  

 

This trend reflects a continued reduction from the high number on the register in March 2023 
and is a result of more proportionate decision-making regarding children’s safety in addition 
to improved working with early help services.  The number of children on the child protection 
register has decreased from 270 as at March 2023 to 75 as at March 2025. 

57 
 

Children Safeguarding Enquiries 
 
The reduction in safeguarding enquiries is a direct result of the greater stability of our 
workforce and the changes we have made in strategy meetings and decision making. We are 
now taking a more proportionate responses to supporting children and families in line with 
Wales Safeguarding Procedures. 

 

 

If a partner agency does not agree with the decision in a child protection strategy meeting, we 
continue to promote the regional escalation of concerns process (CRISP). During the year we 
have not received any CRISPs as a result of decision making in strategy meetings. 

We continue to undertake work with partner agencies to support their understanding of our 
model of practice and have invited partners to attend the regular reflective sessions to consider 
the implementation of the Safeguarding Procedures, impact on families and learning.  

To further support professionals, having a shared understanding we have set up a consultation 
phone line. This line lets professionals talk through cases, get advice and plan next steps 
quickly and safely and does not replace the usual safeguarding processes which still need to 
be followed. 

 

Child Protection Registrations 

The number of children added to the Child Protection Register during the year has decreased 
by 55% when compared to the previous year.  

 

This trend reflects a continued reduction from the high number on the register in March 2023 
and is a result of more proportionate decision-making regarding children’s safety in addition 
to improved working with early help services.  The number of children on the child protection 
register has decreased from 270 as at March 2023 to 75 as at March 2025. 

58 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 120



  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Care 
Experienced 
Children 

The effectiveness of the strategy is demonstrated by the 10% decrease in care experienced children, 
reducing from 370 as at March 2024 to 333 as at March 2025. We will continue this work in 2025-26. 

In November 2024 we renewed our reduction strategy 
to decrease the number of care experienced children. 

The strategy focuses on prevention, family support and 
reunification enabling us to work with families to build to 

build long life connections which, where possible, enable 
care experienced children to safely return home. 

58 

We continue to reduce the number of children registered and to provide reassurance around 
our decision making we have completed an audit and commissioned an independent review 
and share the outcomes with our partners. 

Care Experienced Children 

In November 2024 we renewed our reduction strategy to decrease the number of care 
experienced children. The strategy focuses on prevention, family support and reunification 
enabling us to work with families to build to build long life connections which, where possible, 
enable care experienced children to safely return home. 

The effectiveness of the strategy is demonstrated by the 10% decrease in care experienced 
children, reducing from 370 as at March 2024 to 333 as at March 2025. We will continue this 
work in 2025-26. 

Supporting People to Manage their Wellbeing 

The Early Help and Edge of Care services completed their  move into Social Services and 
Wellbeing in July 2024. and by early 2025, had been working with the wider statutory services 
for six months , giving time to fully settle in. Hence, January to March 2025, provided a good 
timeframe to analyse and evaluate the impact of how the service had supported, children, 
young people and their families, which as noted in the analysis was extremely positive. 

Supporting 
People to 
Manage their 
Wellbeing 
The Early Help and Edge of Care 
services completed their move 
into Social Services and Wellbeing 
in July 2024, and by early 2025, 
had been working with the wider 
statutory services for six months, 
giving time to fully settle in. 

Hence, January to March 2025, 
provided a good timeframe to analyse 
and evaluate the impact of how the 
service had supported, children, young 
people and their families, which as 
noted in the analysis was extremely 
positive. 

KEY ACTIVITY DATA DEMONSTRATED AN 
INCREASED DEMAND AND ENGAGEMENT WITH 
EARLY HELP SERVICES: 

237 referrals received, an increase of 23% 

152 assessments completed, 
an increase of 13% 

REPORTED OUTCOMES 

96% of families felt more able to make 
positive lifestyle and behaviour changes 

94% of families noted improved family 
resilience 

91% of individuals noted better emotional 
wellbeing and family relationships 

88% of parents felt more confident supporting 
their child’s development 

87% of individuals noted improved personal 
resilience 

ANALYSIS OF EARLY HELP:   
JANUARY TO MARCH 2025 

59 Page 121



Complex Case 
Partnership Panel 
The Complex Case Partnership 
Panel is a multi-agency mechanism 
for working together to safeguard 
individuals in the community who 
present with a significant level of risk 
to themselves or others. 

The aim of the partnership is to provide a 
mechanism for partner agencies to decide 
and agree on how to best protect individuals 
and the public in a co-ordinated manner. 

Self-Neglect Panel 
The Self Neglect panel is a multi-
agency approach to protection and 
risk mitigation for adults who neglect 
their health and wellbeing. 

The panel applies to adults only, however, 
where children are at risk of harm because of 
the adult’s self-neglect, a referral will be made 
to Children and Family Services. The protocol 
is triggered in cases of complex self-neglect 
where serious harm has or is likely to occur 
and existing case management processes 
have failed to deliver any reduction in risk. 

People are 
Protected and 
Safeguarded 

Adult 
Social 
Care 

We have established a number of 
panels and groups to support our 
statutory safeguarding duties. 

Suicide and Self Harm 
Prevention Group 
This group has been established to improve 
prevention, awareness, knowledge and 
understanding around the prevention of 
suicide and self-harm amongst individuals 
and agencies who frequently encounter 
people at risk of suicide and self-harm. 

The group consists of partners including health, 
social care, education, the environment, housing, 
employment, the police, the criminal justice system, 
transport and third sector. 

The group has developed a clear pathway for 
supporting concerns and referrals in this area. 

Parc Prison 

A significant amount of work has been carried out with 
HMP/YOI Parc to ensure the ongoing safeguarding of 
its prisoners. This has started with building positive 
working relationships with the safety team and wider 
colleagues within the prison. A review of internal 
safeguarding processes was carried out to ensure 
alignment with All Wales Safeguarding Procedures. 

There was a further review of the delivery and 
safeguarding training to ensure effective practice and 
alignment with the procedures. Both safeguarding 
and professional concerns training was provided to 
the senior operational and management staff along 
with wing managers to develop an awareness of their 
statutory responsibilities. This was met positively 
and now safeguarding forms part of all new recruits’ 
induction along with ongoing training to wider prison 
staff in their ‘lockdown Wednesdays’. 

Following an increase in deaths within Parc, a range 
of plans have been introduced, including a forum 
to consider the needs of those who have made a 
significant attempt of suicide. This has highlighted 
that there are positive mechanisms in place within the 
prison to safeguard and support prisoners. 

HM inspectorate of Prisons carried out the inspection 
in January which was very positive of the social 
work team stating, ‘the local council carried out 
timely social care assessments and needs were 
appropriately identified and met.’ 

Over the past 12 months, there has been significant 
improvements both within the working relationships, 
and safeguarding practice within PARC and we 
continue to build on this. 

60 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 122



  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Adult Safeguarding Enquiries 

The above graph demonstrates the impact of these 
consultations with a 23% decrease in the number of 
reports made to the Adult Safeguarding Team over 
the last year. The number that progress to enquiry 
are appropriate. Those that do not proceed are due 
to the service being satisfied that appropriate actions 
are already in place or the person does not give their 
consent to proceed. 

To strengthen arrangements further, a daily allocation 
meeting has been established to discuss referrals and 
agree next steps and a weekly monitoring system has 
also been introduced to escalate issues. Next steps 
are to complete a deep dive to establish causes of 
delay within the system. 

To reduce the number of referrals where outcomes determine the person is not at 
risk, we implemented a new consultation process with key partners. The process 
encourages professionals, who have concerns about an individual, to contact the team 
to have a conversation before determining if an Adult at Risk (AAR) referral needs to 
be made. We respond to all consultations within 24 hours. 

61 

The above graph demonstrates the impact of these consultations with a 23% decrease in the 
number of reports made to the Adult Safeguarding Team over the last year. The number that 
progress to enquiry are appropriate. Those that do not proceed are due to the service being 
satisfied that appropriate actions are already in place or the person does not give their consent 
to proceed.  

To strengthen arrangements further, a daily allocation meeting has been established to discuss 
referrals and agree next steps and a weekly monitoring system has also been introduced to 
escalate issues. Next steps are to complete a deep dive to establish causes of delay within 
the system. 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 

In 2024-25 we received 557 referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 
assessment  to Adult Social Care, a 6% increase from 524 the previous year. At the 31st March 
2025, there were 21 people awaiting an assessment, which is the same as the 31st March 
2024, with 22 on the waiting list. 

To strengthen our processes further, in January 2025, 27 staff members (24 from Adult Social 
Care and 3 from Children and Family Services) received Best Interest Assessor training. In 
Adult Social Care these staff now take turns completing one assessment every three months 
which is helping us to manage our waiting list.” 

Supporting People to Manage their Wellbeing 

Integrated Dementia Support Service 

This service supports people with cognitive impairment and their families to help build 
resilience and maintain independence. The service provider has extensive knowledge and 
proven experience in providing a person centred support, developing strategies and 
techniques to support independent living, provision of information and signposting. 

This service helps individuals to achieve positive outcomes through identification and 
recognition of their own strengths and capabilities, their personal, community and social 
networks. It helps them maximise these strengths to enable them to achieve their desired 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
In 2024-25 we received 557 referrals for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 
assessment to Adult Social Care, a 6% increase from 524 the previous year. At the 
31st March 2025, there were 21 people awaiting an assessment, which is the same as 
the 31st March 2024, with 22 on the waiting list. 

To strengthen our processes further, in January 2025, 27 staff members (24 from Adult Social Care 
and 3 from Children and Family Services) received Best Interest Assessor training. In Adult Social 
Care these staff now take turns completing one assessment every three months which is helping us to 
manage our waiting list. 

61 Page 123



The Safeguarding 
Team 
The safeguarding team use the 
strengths based, outcome focussed 
model. 

The lead co-ordinators identify the individual’s 
outcomes and ensure their voice is heard. A 
recent referral was made for an elderly person 
who was a high risk victim of domestic violence, 
had a diagnosis of dementia and additional 
health needs. An urgent, multi-agency 
response was required to safeguard them from 
further harm. 

As a result of discussions including the Police, 
domestic violence advocate, social worker and 
lead co-ordinator, the person was admitted to 
hospital as a social admission. A code word 
was implemented to ensure only safe people 
were able to visit. This short term plan ensured 
their safety whilst longer term plans could be 
made, considering their outcomes, views and 
wishes. 

Integrated Dementia 
Support Service 
This service supports people with 
cognitive impairment and their 
families to help build resilience and 
maintain independence. The service 
provider has extensive knowledge 
and proven experience in providing a 
person centred support, developing 
strategies and techniques to support 
independent living, provision of 
information and signposting. 

This service helps individuals to achieve 
positive outcomes through identification 

and recognition of their own strengths and 
capabilities, their personal, community and 
social networks. It helps them maximise 
these strengths to enable them to achieve 
their desired outcomes, thereby meeting their 
needs and improving or maintaining their 
wellbeing. 

Supporting People to 
Manage their Wellbeing 

62 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

Page 124



Well-being: 
2025-26 Key Priorities 

ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES 

Support Super Agers activities in local community settings to improve 
physical and mental wellbeing. 

Develop a low cost offer for the 60 plus age group linked to the Welsh 
Government Free Swimming Initiative. 

Deliver chronic condition pathways as part of the National Exercise Referral 
Scheme and in partnership with health services. 

Provide supported access to leisure activities for targeted population groups 
via membership provision, utilising external support. 

To monitor attendance and engagement at corporate safeguarding board 
meetings to ensure the Council is protecting children and vulnerable adults. 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

Implement the Regional Exploitation Strategy, including multi-agency 
training and shared learning forums. 

Review our standards for recording the work that we do and 
associated guidance. 

Ensure our quality assurance activity considers the standards of our 
assessments and plans and helps us share good practice. 

Promote children’s engagement on meetings including child protection 
case conferences and produce records that are consistent with national 
procedures. 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

Ensure that learning from Single Unified Safeguarding Reviews (SUSRs)and 
other in-depth analysis is systematically embedded through learning, training 
and development and follow up quality assurance and review with partners. 

  P  ER  F  O  R  M  A  N  C  E  AS  S  ES  S  M  EN  T  / /  P E O  P L E  

63 Page 125



4 O  T  H  E  R  I  N  F  ORM  AT  I  ON  

Inspections and Reviews 
Every year Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) undertake inspections and/ or 
improvement checks of health and social care services to ensure we are 
delivering good quality services that protect the safety and wellbeing 
of those that use our services. 

During 2024-25 CIW completed 10 inspections across our regulated residential   
and direct care services. 

Children and Family Services 

All inspections were positive with key findings 

highlighting a number of strengthens including: 

• strong evidence of children, young people and 
families being involved in the development of 
care plans to reflect what matters to those 
involved. 

• children and young people being supported to 
make choices and have control in their day-to-
day life. 

• and good governance arrangements in place 
for management oversight. 

One priority action notice was issued in respect 
of Sunnybank and 6 areas of improvement, 2 for 
Harwood House and 4 for Golygfa’r Dolydd. 

The priority action notice issued to Sunnybank was 
in relation to planning for transitions when young 
people were moving. CIW have since confirmed 

that they are satisfied with our response and 

action taken. 

The key areas for improvement included: 

• care and support to be provided as outlined in 
personal plans. 

• the process for completion of agency checks 
to be strengthened. 

• premises and equipment should be suitable 
for the needs of all children and young people. 

A full report on the scope and findings of these 

inspections was presented to Cabinet Committee 
Corporate Parenting on 10th January 2025. The 
report also notes actions taken to address the areas 
for improvement. 

Further to the report being submitted to Cabinet 
Committee Corporate Parenting, two further 
inspections were completed at Bakers Way and 
Hillsboro. These inspections were also positive with 
no areas for improvement noted. 

Three inspections were completed in respect of residential establishments in Children and 
Family Services. Harwood House, Golygfa’r Dolydd (Meadow’s View) Assessment and 
Emergency Service and Sunnybank. 

64 Page 126

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s34158/CSC CIW Inspection Report.pdf


  OT  H  ER  I  N  FO  R  M  AT  I  O  N  

Adult Social Care 

Again, the inspections of our residential 
based services were positive with 
key findings highlighting a number of 
strengthens including: 

• people are supported and
encouraged to make decisions
about their care and daily
routines.

• care and support is provided in
an environment that enhances
people’s wellbeing.

• a good standard of hygiene and
infection control is maintained to
reduce risks of cross infection.

• and regular quality audits and
checks are in place to ensure
the service continues to meet
people’s needs.

Key strengths highlighted in the 
inspection of our in-house domiciliary 
care service: 

• people have a voice, feel
included, involved, and happy
with the service they receive.

• people understand what care
and support opportunities are
available to them.

• and there is a positive culture
embedded throughout the
services.

It is positive to report that whilst 
no priority action notices were put 
in place for any of the Adult Social 
Care services inspected, 1 area of 
improvement was noted: personal plans 
to accurately reflect care and support 
needs. 

A full report on the scope and findings 

of these inspections was presented to 
Cabinet on 8th April 2025. 

All areas for improvement are monitored 
on a quarterly basis via our Regulatory 
Tracker (part or our quarterly corporate 
performance monitoring and feeds into 
our annual Corporate Self-Assessment) 
with actions reported to the Council’s 
Governance and Audit Committee. 
Learning from inspections are 
embedded in key actions and priorities 
to support continued improvement. 

Five inspections were completed in respect of residential 
establishments across Adult Social Care: Ty Cwm Ogwr Residential 
Home, Ty Llwynderw Extra Care establishment, Breakaway Short 
Stay Service and Ty Ynysawdre Extra Care establishment. 
Our in-house Domiciliary Care Service was also inspected. 

65 Page 127

https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s34760/CIW ASC Cabinet Report 8 April 2025.pdf


Complaints and 
Representations 
Complaints about social services 

are handled according to the Social 
Services Complaints Procedure 
(Wales) Regulations 2014, and the 

Welsh Government guidance, “A 
Guide to Handling Complaints and 
Representations by Local Authority 
Social Services.” These frameworks 

allow people to raise concerns about the 

services they receive ensuring they are 

addressed fairly and promptly. 

Over the last year the overall number of complaints 

received has decreased by 12%. The theme of 

complaints varied with the most reported areas 

being lack of support, staff conduct and lack of 

communication which accounted for 48% of all 

complaints received. 

Our aim, where possible, is to provide a good local 

resolution for the people, their families and carers 

who use our services and 95% of complaints 

received were resolved either informally outside 

of the statutory process or at stage one (informal 

stage) of the statutory process. 

The remaining 5% of complaints were investigated 

via the stage two (formal) statutory procedure. This 

involves an independent investigator looking into the 

complaint and completing a report of their findings 

which may lead to recommendations for ways in 

which we can improve. 

A process is in place to regularly monitor complaints 

not only to identify areas of good practice but to 

ensure the recommendations and learning outcomes 

from stage two complaints are implemented. In 

response to stage two complaints received, here is a 

summary of learning outcomes implemented: 

SERVICE AREA LEARNING OUTCOME 

Across Social 
Services 

• The Compliments and Complaints Resolution Team have strengthened 
consent procedures, staff training and guidance, and communication with 
complainants during periods during of staff absence. 

• Communication, transparency, and person-centred approaches have been 
strengthened to ensure learning from complaints informs practice. 

Children and 
Family Services 

• Implemented case consultations for early management guidance and 
intervention. 

• The Care Experienced Children’s Team have Improved recording of section 
47 outcomes. 

• The Children and Disability Transition Team have strengthened assessments, 
communication, and family engagement. 

• The Fostering and Safeguarding Teams have Improved training, record-
keeping, and oversight of allegations against foster carers. 

66 

  OT  H  ER  I  N  FO  R  M  AT  I  O  N  

Page 128

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/1794/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/1794/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/1794/contents/made
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf


  OT  H  ER  I  N  FO  R  M  AT  I  O  N  

Adult 
Social Care 

• Reviewed information provided to families on the role of social workers to 
ensure it is clear and easy to understand. 

• The Community Learning Disabilities Team has improved timeliness of 
decision-making, family involvement, and case allocation. 

The Citizen Voice Body 

The body operates under the name “Llais” which translates as “Voice” becoming 
operational on 1st April 2023. Llais is an independent body providing free Advocacy 
support to members of the public who wish to raise a concern, which includes 
providing advice and information on the most appropriate course of action. 

During 2024-25, we received 5 complaints from Llais advocates, 4 related to 
Children and Family Services and 1 to Adult Social Care. 

More detailed information on complaints and representations in Bridgend can be 
found at “Social Services Representations and Complaints Annual Report.” 

The Citizen Voice Body promotes public engagement in the planning, design and delivery 
of services. It helps make sure health and social care services in Wales are high quality and 
responsive to people’s needs. 

67 Page 129



Other Sources 
of Information 

Glossary BRIDGEND COUNCIL 

Delivering Together Our Corporate Plan 2023-28 

Council Constitution 

Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate 

Bridgend Multi-agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 

Corporate Self-Assessment 

Audit Wales Reports 

CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Partnership Board 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg Safeguarding Board 

Awen Cultural Trust 

Halo Leisure 

BAVO Bridgend 

People First Bridgend 

Care Inspectorate Wales 

Social Care Wales 

TuVida Bridgend: Carer's Wellbeing Service 

Bridgend Carers Centre 

Llais Wales 

BRIDGEND COUNCIL 

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

More than just words: Welsh language plan in 
health and social care 

Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 

Social Services Complaints Procedure (Wales) 
Regulations 2014 

A Guide to Handling Complaints and 
Representations by Local Authority Social Services 

Advocacy  Advocates in social 
care are independent from the local 
authority (local council) and the 
NHS. They are trained to help people 
understand their rights, express their 
views and wish. 

Assessment  A meeting / discussion 
to help us to determine how someone 
is coping and what care and support 
they may need. 

Care Experienced Children 
Care experienced is an umbrella term 
which can mean children / young 
people who are: 

•  Looked after at home through a 
Care Order 

•  Looked after away from home in 
a residential children’s house, in 
a foster placement or in a kinship 
placement (Looked After or Non-
Looked After) 

•  Previously looked after, where at 
some point in their lives they have 
had any of the above experiences. 

The child / young person may never 
have been formally looked after. 

Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) 
CIW is the social care provider 
regulator. They will register, inspect 
and take action to improve the quality 
and safety of services for the well-
being of the people of Wales. 

Care Leavers  In Wales, care leavers 
are individuals who have been in 
the care of the local authority for 
at least 13 weeks since the age of 
14 and have left care on or after 
their 16th birthday. The support 
provided to care leavers is intended 
to be equivalent to what a child who 
has not been looked after might 
reasonably expect from their parents. 

Care and Support Plan 
A care and support plan is a 
document that sets out what has 
been discussed during a social care 
needs assessment and what is going 

5 

68 

  OT  H  ER  I  N  FO  R  M  AT  I  O  N  |   G  LOS  S  A  RY  

Page 130

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/2pohxlek/corporate-plan-2023-28.pdf
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/council/council-and-democracy/council-constitution/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/social-care-and-wellbeing/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/social-care-and-wellbeing/multi-agency-safeguarding-hub-mash/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/council/performance/corporate-self-assessment/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/council/performance/audit-wales-reports/
https://ctmregionalpartnershipboard.co.uk/
https://www.cwmtafmorgannwgsafeguardingboard.co.uk/en/home.aspx
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/leisure-culture-and-libraries/awen-cultural-trust/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/leisure-culture-and-libraries/halo-leisure-centres/
https://www.bavo.org.uk/
https://www.peoplefirstbridgend.co.uk/
https://www.careinspectorate.wales/
https://socialcare.wales/
https://www.tuvida.org/bridgend
https://www.bridgendcarers.co.uk/
https://www.llaiswales.org/
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/social-services-and-well-being-wales-act-2014-the-essentials.pdf
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/council/performance/wellbeing-of-future-generations-wales-act-2015/
https://www.gov.wales/more-just-words-welsh-language-plan-health-and-social-care
https://www.gov.wales/more-just-words-welsh-language-plan-health-and-social-care
https://law.gov.wales/culture/welsh-language/welsh-language-wales-measure-2011
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/1794/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2014/1794/contents/made
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/a-guide-to-handling-complaints-and-representations-by-local-authority-social-services.pdf


  G LOS SA RY  

to happen as a result. It is a plan 
which a local authority is required to 
prepare and maintain under section 
54 (1) of the Social Services and 
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. 

Direct Payments  Direct payments 
are issued to individuals to allow 
them to pay for their own care. They 
are a way that local authorities can 
help to meet individual’s eligible need 
for care and support, or a carer’s 
need for support. They are a way for 
people to arrange their own care and 
support. 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS)  The Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards (DoLS) is a legal 
procedure in the UK designed to 
protect vulnerable people in care 
settings. It applies to adults who 
lack the mental capacity to give 
consent to their care arrangements 
and need to be deprived of their 
liberty. DoLS ensures that those 
who cannot consent to their care are 
protected when their arrangements 
deprive them of their liberty. It will 
be replaced by Liberty Protection 
Safeguards (LPS) in the future.” 

Domiciliary Care / Domiciliary 
Support Service / Home Care 
Domiciliary care, also known as “care 
at home”, refers to a broad range of 
care services provided in a person’s 
own home. It can include assistance 
with day-to-day living and certain 
health care issues for the elderly. 

Extra Care  The provision of a 
domiciliary care package to an 
individual living in supported living/ 
accommodation. 

Information Advice and 
Assistance (IAA)  Refer to contacts 
and referrals – consent and level 
of information recorded – link to 
proportionate assessment. 

Independent Reviewing Officer 
(IRO)  An IRO is someone who 
makes sure that care experienced 
children are looked after properly and 
that their care and support plans are 
right for them. 

Mwy Na Geiriau / More than words 
More than just words is a strategy 
and delivery plan to aim to improve 
the quality of care for individuals 
living in a bilingual country. 

Prevention and Early Intervention 
Prevention and early intervention are 
forms of support aimed at improving 
outcomes for people or preventing 
escalating need or risk. They are also 
sometimes referred to as early help 
or preventative services. 

Reablement / Rehabilitation / 
Interim care  This short-term care is 
sometimes called intermediate care, 
or aftercare. Reablement is a type of 
care that helps people relearn how to 
do daily activities, like cooking meals 
and washing. It is provided by local 
authorities with the aim of mitigating 
the need for long term care and 
support. 

Resident / Citizen  A person whose 
usual residence is within the local 
authority boundary. 

Reunification  Reunification refers 
to when a care experienced child or 
young person safely returns home to 
their family. Reunification only takes 
place once it has been determined 
that it is safe and the best outcome 
for the child or young person. 

Residential Care Home / Nursing 
Home  A residential care home 
provides accommodation and 24-
hour personal care and support to 
the older people and others who 
may find it difficult to manage daily 
life at home. Both a residential care 
home and nursing home provide 
care and support 24 hours a day, 
however the main difference is that 
a nursing home is able to provide a 
higher level of care. Nursing homes 
have qualified nurses on-site around 
the clock to provide medical care as 
needed whereas residential homes 
help people with personal care and 
support them to engage in physical 
activity. 

Safeguarding \ Adult Protection 
\ Child Protection  Safeguarding 
sometimes referred to as adult 
protection or child protection is about 
protecting children and adults from 
abuse or neglect and educating 
those around them to recognise the 
signs and dangers. 

Secure Estate  A secure estate is 
a facility where individuals (adults 
or children and young people) 
may be housed or detained due 
to legal restrictions. Examples of 
a secure estate include prisons, 
young detention accommodation or 
an approved premises. The  Social 
Services and Wellbeing (Wales) 
Act 2014 places a duty on local 
authorities to assess and meet the 
care and support needs of individuals 
within a secure estate. 

Shared Lives / Adult Placement 
Scheme  Shared Lives Schemes, 
also known as adult placements, are 
a family-based way of supporting 
a vulnerable person’s housing 
needs. This type of supportive 
accommodation can be the ideal 

stepping stone on the way to 
independent living. This sharing 
arrangement is often referred to as 
‘shared lives’ 

Sheltered Accommodation 
Is housing for older or vulnerable 
people who want to live 
independently but with some support 
nearby. It usually includes a private 
flat, a warden or support staff, and 
emergency help if needed. 

Social Care Wales (SCW) 
SCW is the workforce regulator. 
As part of this they register and 
set standards for the care and 
support workforce and develop 
the workforce. SCW also has an 
improvement remit, by which they will 
share good practice, set priorities for 
research and provide information for 
the public and other organisations. 

Social Services and Wellbeing 
(Wales) Act 2014  The Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014 is a law that aims to improve 
the well-being of people who need 
care and support, and carers who 
need support, and to transform social 
services in Wales. 

Supported Living / Accommodation 
Supported living accommodation 
is a type of housing that provides 
personal care, support or supervision 
to help people live independently. 
The care and support are separate 
from the housing contract. The 
accommodation can be shared or 
single, depending on the needs and 
preferences of the occupants. 

Telecare  A service that uses 
technology to help people live 
independently and stay safe. 

Third Sector  The third sector refers 
to charities, community groups and 
not-for-profit organisations that help 
people and improve communities. 

Transition  The period of 
changeover/ move in being 
supported by Children and Family 
Services to being supported by Adult 
Social Care. 

Unpaid Carer  An unpaid carer is 
someone who provides care and 
support to family members, friends, 
or neighbours who are affected by 
disability, physical or mental ill-health, 
frailty, or substance misuse. The 
carer does not need to be living with 
the person they care for. 

Young Carer  A young carer is an 
unpaid carer who is up to the age of 
18. They may be providing care and 
support to parents, siblings or other 
family members. 

69 Page 131



Page 132



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
24 SEPTEMBER 2025 

 
Report Title:  

 
RETAIL AND COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE 

 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR – COMMUNITIES 

Responsible 
Officer:   

LOUIS PANNELL 
PRINCIPAL STRATEGIC PLANNING POLICY OFFICER 

 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

There is no impact on the policy framework or procedure 
rules. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

Following approval by Cabinet at its meeting on 22nd July 
2025, the purpose of this report is to provide Council with an 
overview of the public consultation exercise that was carried 
out on the draft Retail and Commercial Development 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) document. This 
report also seeks Council approval to adopt the final form 
Retail and Commercial Development SPG. Adoption of the 
SPG will enable effective implementation of the Retail and 
Commercial Development Policies within the adopted 
Replacement Local Development Plan, March 2024 (RLDP), 
the Council’s statutory land-use Planning document.    

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this Report is to inform Council of the outcome of the public 

consultation exercise on the draft Retail and Commercial Development 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) document.  
 

1.2 This Report also seeks Council approval to adopt the final form Retail and 
Commercial Development SPG (Appendix 1) in order to support the Retail and 
Commercial Development Policies within the adopted Replacement Local 
Development Plan (RLDP, March 2024). 

 
2. Background  
 
2.1 The adopted RLDP has a key role in ensuring that Town, District and Local Centres 

(Centres), are promoted as hubs of socio-economic activity, and are the focal points 
for a diverse range of services which support the needs of the communities they 
serve. Town Centres offer a wide range of shops and facilities serving a large 
catchment area, whereas District and Local Centres usually contain a small food store 
and a range of services that serve a smaller, more limited catchment area. They act 
as the most appropriate and sustainable locations for new retail, leisure and 

Page 133

Agenda Item 9



 

supporting commercial development. This accords with the ‘Town Centre First’ policy 
contained within ‘Future Wales: The National Plan 2040’ (Future Wales), Planning 
Policy Wales and Technical Advice Note 4: Retail and Commercial Development 
(TAN4), to help build resilient communities, and respond to the long-term impacts of 
Covid-19, which have not only re-focused the lives of people and communities but 
acted as a further driver towards making such Centres multi-functional places. 

 
2.2 The framework for the management of retail and commercial development in the 

County Borough is provided by Policy SP12, and its supporting Policies ENT6, ENT7, 
ENT8 and ENT9. The Retail Study 2018 formed a key part of the adopted RLDP’s 
evidence base and helped form the basis of these policies. The Retail Study 2018 
sets out a number of recommendations, including ‘retail need’ (the demand for 
additional retail floorspace), the distribution of retail need and the definition of 
“Primary Shopping Areas” and “Secondary Shopping Areas”, to inform the policies 
contained within the adopted RLDP. The Retail Study Update 2022, further analysed 
trends affecting the retail sector across the County Borough, considered how trends 
may change over time and then assessed future needs for ‘comparison’ retail (retail 
that sells goods that consumers compare before purchasing, goods that are usually 
higher value and purchased infrequently e.g. furniture, clothing, electronics), and 
‘convenience’ retail floorspace (retail that stocks a wide range of everyday items e.g. 
groceries), to 2033. 

 
2.3 In recognising that Centres are moving away from their traditional retail roles, Policy 

SP12, and its supporting policies seek to ensure that such Centres become the focus 
of a wider variety of services and facilities. The ‘Town Centre First’ approach is key 
to enabling such Centres to increasingly become multi-functional places and 
community focal points, thereby rendering them more viable as “go-to” destinations.  

 
2.4 The purpose of this ‘Retail and Commercial Development’ SPG is to expand on the 

above RLDP policies and provide clarity in respect of their future interpretation and 
application, and setting out what the Council expects from applicants in respect of 
satisfying the detailed criteria of those policies. 

 
2.5 Development Control Committee was informed of the need to produce a SPG for 

Retail and Commercial Development on 8th August 2024. Councillor Easterbrook, 
volunteered to champion production of the SPG for Retail and Commercial 
Development and has since been working alongside the Principal Strategic Planning 
Policy Officer to progress the SPG.   
 

2.6 The draft ‘Retail and Commercial Development’ SPG provides updated, specific 

guidance on: 

 

• Policy ENT7: Development in the Commercial Centres of Bridgend, Porthcawl and 

Maesteg – This policy defines ‘Primary Shopping Areas’ and ‘Secondary 

Shopping Areas’ within these three commercial Centres. Policy ENT7 seeks to 

protect these ‘Areas’ to ensure their existing function is not diluted so they can 

continue to operate as viable shopping Centres. The SPG will provide further 

clarity on what is deemed acceptable within these named Centres. 

• Policy ENT8: Non-A1, A2 and A3 Outside of Primary Shopping Areas – The RLDP 

allows more flexibility to introduce shops, financial/professional services and food 

Page 134



 

and drink uses outside of Primary Shopping Areas. Policy ENT8 explains what 

other uses may be acceptable in commercial Centres. The SPG will clarify what 

uses may be acceptable within commercial Centres outside of Bridgend, 

Porthcawl or Maesteg. 

• Policy ENT9: Retail Development Outside of Retailing and Commercial Centres 

– This policy explains what type of retail and commercial development is 

acceptable outside of retailing and commercial Centres. The SPG will provide 

guidance on the loss of retail and commercial floorspace outside of commercial 

Centres in addition to explaining what types of development would be appropriate 

on existing retail parks. 

 
3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 On 11th March 2025, a draft version of the ‘Retail and Commercial Development’ SPG 

was presented to Cabinet. Cabinet resolved to approve that draft SPG as the basis 
for a public consultation period of 6 weeks. Cabinet also authorised officers to make 
appropriate arrangements for that public consultation before reporting the outcome 
back to Cabinet for approval to send a report to Council to seek adoption of the final 
form SPG. 

 
3.2 A 6-week public consultation period was held from 19th March 2025 to 30th April 2025. 

The consultation was advertised in the following ways: 

 

• Information on the consultation, including all the documentation, representation 

forms and how to make representations was placed on the Council’s online 

Consultation Portal.  

• Consultation details were sent directly to approximately 140 targeted consultees 

including all Elected Members, Town and Community Councils, planning 

consultants, house builders and Registered Social Landlords (RSLs).  

• A social media campaign was launched to promote the consultation across 

various social media platforms, aiming to generate awareness throughout the 

public consultation period. Periodic posts were made on the Council’s X (formerly 

Twitter), LinkedIn and Facebook accounts. 

 

3.3 At the close of the public consultation period, two representations were received on 

the draft ‘Retail and Commercial Development’ SPG: one from an Elected Member 

and one from a planning consultant on behalf of McArthurGlen. These 

representations, together with the Local Planning Authority’s (LPA’s) responses to 

the comments raised, are provided in Appendix 2 to this report. Copies of the full 

representations are held by the Planning Department and can be viewed on request. 

Given the extensive publication of the public consultation and direct targeting of 

consultees, the response rate is considered positive in that there were no wholesale 

objections to the contents of the draft ‘Retail and Commercial Development’ SPG. 

 

3.4 The representors principally commented on the wording of certain paragraphs. 

Therefore, only minor amendments to the SPG are considered necessary in light of 

Page 135



 

the comments received. These proposed amendments are now incorporated within 

the final form draft ‘Retail and Commercial Development’ SPG, which is attached at 

Appendix 1. The paragraphs proposed for amendment following the consultation are 

detailed in full at the end of Appendix 2 for ease of reference and include: 

 

• Minor amendment to set out clearly the acceptable uses permitted on edge-of-

centre and out-of-centre retail allocations. 

 

• Removal of a specified floorspace limit for small scale ancillary/incidental uses on 

edge-of-centre and out-of-centre retail allocations to avoid being overly 

prescriptive. Furthermore, the role of the ‘Retail and Commercial Development’ 

SPG is to augment and interpret what is already contained in adopted RLDP 

policies rather than introduce new policies. Any application for ancillary/incidental 

uses will be judged on a case-by-case basis to determine their appropriateness.   

 

• Minor amendment to the Sequential Test – Assessment Checklist detailed in 

Appendix B, to require the test to be based on a sound methodology. This will add 

further detail ensuring that applicants set out a clear methodology with regard to 

their assessment of the suitability of alternative sites. A sequential test is used to 

assess the suitability of sites for retail and commercial uses, prioritising 

development in defined retail and commercial Centres first, followed by edge-out-

centre and out-of-centre locations if no suitable alternative sites are available.  

 

3.5 At its meeting on 22nd July 2025, Cabinet noted the Officer’s (on behalf of the local 

planning authority) consultation responses to the representations received arising 

from the public consultation (as described under paragraph 3.3 above), on the draft 

Retail and Commercial Development SPG, together with the resultant amendments 

set out in Appendix 2. Cabinet also approved presenting the final form Retail and 

Commercial Development SPG (Appendix 1) to Council to seek its adoption.  

 

3.6 If adopted, the Retail and Commercial Development SPG will add weight to the 

interpretation and application of RLDP Retail and Commercial Development policies, 

provide more detailed advice and guidance to applicants preparing planning 

applications and will become a material consideration in the determination of planning 

applications.  

 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would 

be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics, on 
socio-economic disadvantage or the use of the Welsh Language. It is therefore not 
necessary to carry out a full EIA on this policy or proposal.  

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 - implications and 
connection to Corporate Well-being Objectives 

 

Page 136



 

5.1 The Retail and Commercial Development SPG will provide additional guidance and 
material weight to support adopted RLDP Policies and seeks to provide clarity in 
respect of their future interpretation and application, setting out what the Council 
expects from applicants in respect of satisfying those RLDP policies’ detailed criteria. 
This is a key contributory factor to delivering Local Well-being Objective one ‘A 
prosperous place with thriving communities’. 

 
5.2 The Retail and Commercial Development SPG will also contribute to the following 

goals within the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 

• A prosperous Wales – Ensuring retail and commercial Centres are protected, 

promoted and support a prosperous Wales by ensuring such Centres act as hubs 

of socio-economic activity and are the focal points for a diverse range of services 

which support the needs of the communities they serve.   

• A resilient Wales – Ensuring retail and commercial Centres are protected, 

promoted and support a resilient Wales by ensuring such Centres become 

increasingly multifunctional, which will help to respond to the long-term impacts of 

Covid-19 and online shopping.  

 
6. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
 
6.1 There are no direct climate change and nature implications from this report, although 

the Retail and Commercial Development SPG will provide additional guidance to 
ensure that new retail and commercial development is directed to existing retail and 
commercial Centres, that are well connected by established active travel routes and 
public transport links. This will help to encourage a sustainable modal shift, reducing 
carbon emissions that are released from car-borne travel. 
 

7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no safeguarding and corporate parent implications arising from this report. 
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Council: 
 

a) Note the contents of this Report and approve the Officer’s consultation responses 

to the representations received following public consultation on the draft Retail 

and Commercial Development SPG, together with resultant amendments set out 

in attached Appendix 2. 

 

b) Adopt the final form Retail and Commercial Development SPG (Appendix 1) for 

immediate application in making development management decisions and in the 

determination of planning applications along with the adopted RLDP, subject to 

the provisions of Recommendation c) below. 

Page 137



 

 

c) Authorise the Corporate Director – Communities and Group Manager – Planning 

and Development Services to make minor presentational changes, typographical 

or factual corrections as necessary prior to publication of the adopted Retail and 

Commercial Development SPG. 

 

 
Background documents 
 
None 

Page 138



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Retail and Commercial Development 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 

September 2025   
 

      Bridgend County Borough 
Local Development Plan  

2018-2033 
 

Page 139



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                ii
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

Contents 

1.0      Introduction...................................................................................................... 1 

2.0 Policy and Legislative Context ......................................................................... 2 

3.0 Background ..................................................................................................... 7 

4.0   Planning Requirements ................................................................................. 10 

Appendix A: Marketing Checklist for Applicants ....................................................... 28 

Appendix B: Sequential Test - Assessment Checklist for Applicants ....................... 30 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 140



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                iii
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                            iii 

Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Wyndham Street, Bridgend 

Page 141



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                1
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

1.0  Introduction   

 

1.1 The purpose of this Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) is to support and 

provide further direction on the implementation of the retail and commercial 

development policies contained within the adopted (March 2024) Bridgend 

Replacement Local Development Plan (RLDP). It outlines further guidance on 

retail and commercial development to protect the vitality, attractiveness, and 

viability of the designated retail centres in accordance with the approach 

outlined in National Planning Policy. This guidance aims to assist applicants 

and decision makers when considering specific changes of use in retail centres 

and other town centre developments, in accordance with the policies contained 

within the RLDP, National Plan 2040 (Future Wales) and in light of other 

material considerations to ensure the County Borough’s retail centres are 

sustainable in the long term. 

 

1.2 This SPG will be a material consideration in the determination of all planning 

applications for retail and commercial development including applications for 

renewal of consents.  

 

1.3 Anyone wishing to submit an application for retail and commercial development 

within Bridgend County Borough is urged to consider this SPG and to contact 

the Local Planning Authority (LPA), in advance of submitting a planning 

application, to discuss the issues that are raised in this document on a site-

specific basis.  

 

1.4 The SPG provides specific guidance on: 

• Development in commercial centres of Bridgend, Porthcawl and Maesteg 

(including Primary Shopping Areas, Secondary Shopping Areas and outside 

of shopping areas but within commercial centres); 

• Non A1, A2 and A3 uses in commercial centres outside of Bridgend, 

Porthcawl and Maesteg; and 

• Retail development outside of retail and commercial centres. 

 

 

Page 142



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                2
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

2.0 Policy and Legislative Context  

 

2.1  The National Planning Policy context for the provision of retail and commercial 

development through the planning system is set out in Future Wales: The 

National Plan 2040, Planning Policy Wales (PPW) and Technical Advice Note 4 

November 2016 (TAN4) Retail and Commercial Development.  

 

2.2 Future Wales: The National Plan is the National Policy framework setting out 

the direction for development in Wales to 2040. ‘Town Centre First’ is a key 

policy within Future Wales (Policy 6), and it is recognised that the planning 

system has a long-established role in this respect. Future Wales recognises the 

need to re-think the future of town and city centres, which are moving away 

from their traditional retail roles towards more multi-functional places. Town 

centres remain important focal points of communities and are increasingly 

becoming places to live, centres of community and cultural activity, a focus for 

public services such as health and education, and the location of new co-

working spaces. 

 

2.3 PPW (Edition 12) sets out the National priorities and considerations with 

regards to new commercial and retail development and for managing change 

within existing commercial and retail centres. PPW requires local planning 

authorities to establish through their development plan a clear strategy for retail 

development, supported by policies, to achieve vibrant, attractive and viable 

retail and commercial centres.  The Welsh Government operates a ‘Town 

Centre First’ approach in relation to the location of new retail and commercial 

centre development (Policy 6, Future Wales, as referred above). 

 

2.4 TAN 4: Retail and Commercial Development sets out National Policy and 

guidance in relation to the changes of use in Primary and Secondary retail and 

commercial Areas. TAN4 identifies a number of overarching objectives for retail 

and commercial centres where the planning system must promote viable urban 

and rural retail and commercial centres as the most sustainable locations to 

live, work, shop, socialise and conduct business; sustain and enhance retail  

 

Page 143



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                3
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

and commercial centres’ vibrancy, viability and attractiveness; and improve 

access to, and within, retail and commercial centres by all modes of transport, 

prioritising walking, cycling and public transport. 

 

2.5 TAN 23: Economic Development (February 2014) defines economic 

development broadly so that it can include any form of development that 

generates wealth, jobs and income, recognising that retail is an economic land 

use.  

 

2.6 Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and 

Brighter Futures - Placemaking and The Covid-19 Recovery (Welsh 

Government, July 2020) recognises that town centres should become places 

where a variety of retail, employment, commercial, community, leisure, health 

and public sector uses come together in a hub of activity to make them viable 

as go-to destinations. Flexible, local co-working spaces could also be a crucial 

new element to increase space to work. Residential uses are also key to the 

vitality of centres, provided that they do not curtail the commercial activities 

which take place and that noise impacts are considered. 

 

2.7 Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as Amended) (Use 

Classes Order 1987) identifies uses of land and buildings and places them 

within various categories known as ‘Use Classes’. The Use Classes Order 

1987 does not contain a definitive list of all the different types of uses of land 

and buildings but provides broad categories to allow developers and decision 

makers to understand which Use Class should apply.  

 

2.8 Table 1 sets out the types of uses which would fall under the retail Use Classes 

contained under Part A Schedule 1 of the Use Classes Order 1987: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 144



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                4
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

Table 1: Retail Use Classes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.9 Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 

(as Amended) (GPD Order 1995) identifies that certain types of minor 

development changes can be made to land and buildings without requiring 

planning consent. These are known as permitted development rights and are 

contained within the GPD Order 1995. In relation to proposals involving similar 

types of Use Classes a change of use to the building or land may not require 

planning consent. For example, a hairdressers could be changed to a shoe 

shop without the need for permission as these uses fall within the same ‘Class’, 

a restaurant could be changed to a shop or an estate agency as the Use 

Classes Order allows this type of change to occur without requiring planning 

permission. 

 

2.10 However, most external building work associated with a change of use is likely 

to require planning permission, for example new advertising for the new use. 

Use Class Examples 

A1 Shops  

Shops, retail warehouses, post office 

(not sorting offices), hairdressing, 

undertakers, dry cleaners, pet shops, 

sandwich bars, showrooms and 

domestic hire shops. 

A2 Financial and professional 

services 

Financial services such as banks and 

building societies, professional 

services (other than health and 

medical services) including estate and 

employment agencies. 

A3 Food and drink  

For the sale of food and drink for 

consumption on the premises – 

restaurants, snack bars and cafes, 

drinking establishments and take-

aways. 

Page 145



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                5
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

Regarding change of uses which fall under the Use Class A retail uses, Table 2 

outlines where a change of use would be considered a permitted development. 

 

 Table 2: Permitted Development, Retail Uses 

 

 

2.11 Please note in some areas of the County Borough permitted development 

rights are more restricted. If the land or building is located in a Conservation 

Area (including Bridgend Town Centre, Porthcawl Town Centre and Maesteg 

Town Centre), planning permission will be required for certain types of 

development works which may not apply in other areas. There are also 

additional restrictions if a building has been designated as a Listed Building. 

Furthermore, the existing use may have been permitted but subject to the 

removal of permitted development rights so that planning consent would be 

required for the changes of use shown in Table 2. In some instances, a use 

may have been restricted to a specific user or subject to other limitations, 

consequently it is important that the planning history of a building or land is fully 

understood before undertaking any type of permitted development. The LPA 

offers a pre-application service (details available on the Council’s website), 

which offers advice before a planning application is submitted. This will help to 

identify issues that may be of relevance to a particular site.  

 

 

 

 

Existing Use  Permitted Change of Use 

A2 (professional and financial services) 

when premises have a display window 

at ground level 

A1 (shop) 

A3 (food and drink) A1 or A2 

Sui Generis – Car showrooms and 

Betting Offices only  
A1 Shop 

A1 or A2 A1 plus a single flat above 

A2  A2 plus a single flat above 

Page 146



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                6
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                      6 

Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Street Art, Cheapside, Bridgend  

Page 147



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                7
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

3.0 Background  

 

3.1 The RLDP sets out the Council’s land use planning policies up to 2033. The 

Retail Study 2018 (Stantec) formed a key part of the adopted RLDP’s evidence 

base setting out recommendations on retail need (the demand for additional 

retail floorspace), the distribution of retail need and the definition of “Primary 

and Secondary Shopping Areas” to inform the policies contained within the 

adopted RLDP. The Retail Study Update 2022 (Stantec) further analysed trends 

affecting the retail sector across the County Borough, considered how trends 

may change over time and then assessed future needs for comparison and 

convenience retail floorspace to 2033, based on existing market shares. In the 

consideration of planning applications for retail and commercial development, 

the following policies are particularly relevant: 

 

• SP12: Retailing, Commercial and Service Centres 

• ENT6: Retail and Commercial Development  

• ENT7: Development in Commercial Centres 

• ENT8: Non-A1, A2 and A3 Uses Outside of Primary Shopping Areas  

• ENT9: Retail Development Outside of Retailing and Commercial Centres  

 

3.2 The policies listed above can be viewed within the RLDP Written Statement. 

 

3.3 Policy SP12 promotes specified town, district, and local centres (Centres) as 

hubs of socio-economic activity and as the focal points for a diverse range of 

services which support the needs of the communities they serve. These 

Centres are denoted on the RLDP Proposals Map. Policy ENT7 also defines 

Primary Shopping Areas (a central part of a retail and commercial Centre where 

A1 retail uses are concentrated) and Secondary Shopping Areas (located 

adjacent to or near a Primary Shopping Area that consists of a wider range of 

uses) located in Bridgend, Porthcawl and Maesteg, which adds an additional 

layer of protection in defining a retail ‘mass’ where policy controls apply in 

respect of retail activity.  

 

Page 148



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                8
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

3.4 The distribution of shopping facilities in Bridgend fits within the wider regional 

hierarchy. Cardiff and Swansea are the highest order Centres within the 

regional hierarchy. As the sub-regional town centre, Bridgend contains the 

largest number and widest range of shops, services and leisure and is the 

principal shopping centre for much of the County Borough and some 

communities outside.  

 

3.5 The other significant town centres of Maesteg and Porthcawl offer a wide range 

of shops and facilities, including a medium sized convenience offer to meet the 

needs of their immediate catchment areas.  

 

3.6 District and local Centres within the County Borough usually contain a small 

foodstore and a range of services which serve a smaller, more limited 

catchment area. These Centres primarily provide only essential goods available 

for ‘top up’ shops.  

 

3.7 The County Borough’s retail hierarchy comprising of sub regional, town, district 

and local Centres is set out in Table 3. This excludes existing ‘edge of centre’ 

and ‘out of centre’ retail sites. 

 

 Table 3: Retail Hierarchy 

 

 

 

 

Sub Regional Centre Bridgend Town Centre  

Town Centres Maesteg and Porthcawl 

District Centres 
Aberkenfig (Valleys Gateway); Kenfig Hill, Ogmore 

Vale, Pencoed, Pontycymmer and Pyle 

Local Centres 

Bettws North, Bettws South, Blackmill, Blaengarw, 

Brackla, Broadlands, Bryntirion, Caerau, Laleston, 

Nantymoel, North Cornelly, Nottage, Pontrhydycyff, 

Sarn, Verlands Court (Pencoed), Wildmill and Five 

Bells Road (Bridgend)  

Page 149



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                9
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                     9 

Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Maesteg Market 

Page 150



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                10
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

4.0  Planning Requirements  

 

4.1 Policy ENT7 – Development in Commercial Centres of Bridgend, 

Porthcawl and Maesteg  

 

4.2 Policy ENT7 defines the Primary and Secondary Shopping Areas of Bridgend, 

Porthcawl and Maesteg. Policy ENT7 aims to ensure that commercial centres 

do not lose their ‘critical mass’ of retail units to the extent that they can no 

longer function as viable shopping centres. This section will clarify how Policy 

ENT7 applies to Primary Shopping Areas and Secondary Shopping Areas in 

turn, before providing further clarity on the status of the remaining broader 

commercial centres.  

 

Primary Shopping Areas 

 

4.3 Primary Shopping Areas are frontages within the town centre which are 

focussed on providing an opportunity for shopping and therefore the dominant 

use should be A1 retail. In relation to Primary Shopping Areas, strict criteria 

need to be met before a change of use to a non-A1 use will be considered as 

acceptable.  

 

4.4 The following paragraphs will address each policy criterion in turn.  

 

4.5 Policy ENT7: Criterion 1 

‘The development would not, by virtue of its nature, design and scale, materially 

dilute the continuity of the primary shopping frontage.’  

 

4.6 Proposals which are considered to ‘tip the balance’ in terms of diluting the 

‘critical mass’ of A1 retail frontage will not be supported.  

 

4.7 In determining the impact of a proposed change of use, consideration should 

be given to the following: 

 

 

Page 151



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                11
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

i) The proportion of non-A1 uses that already exist in the Primary Shopping 

Area in the street scene and in the frontage within which it is located. 

Consideration will be given to where the introduction of another non-A1 use 

would ‘tip-the-balance’ in terms of diluting the ‘critical mass’ of A1 uses. Figure 

1.1 provides an illustrative example of this dilution effect. This scenario reduces 

the number of A1 uses, with the non-A1 uses becoming dominant and therefore 

unacceptable in planning terms. This phenomenon dilutes the primary retail 

character of the area, reducing its appeal as a shopping destination. 

Consideration of this dilution effect will need to be reviewed on a case-by-case 

basis. 

Figure 1.1: Primary Shopping Area Dilution 

ii) The scale and design of a shop front to which the change of use relates. 

Whilst the proposal may not numerically ‘tip the balance’ in favour of non-A1 

uses, loss of a large shop front with a prominent design or presence in the 

frontage can have a significant impact in terms of dilution as illustrated in Figure 

1.2. 

Figure 1.2: Primary Shopping Area Dilution 

 

Page 152



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                12
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

4.8 Policy ENT7: Criterion 2  

‘The development would not exacerbate an existing, nor create a new, undue 

concentration of non-A1 uses.’ 

 

4.9 Criterion 2 is concerned with clusters of non-A1 uses in the Primary Shopping 

Area. Whilst a change of use might be acceptable in the context of Criterion 1 

in terms of the number of units in the frontage as a whole, a number of non-A1 

units in close proximity can have a similarly detrimental impact on the frontage.  

 

4.10 When considering applications for a change of use in the context of Criterion 2, 

applicants should consider the units that surround the proposal and whether the 

introduction of an additional non-A1 use would create a noticeable ‘gap’ in the 

A1 retail frontage. Figure 1.3 provides an illustrative example.  

 

Figure 1.3: Undue Concentration  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 153



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                13
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

4.11 The impact may be exaggerated by the scale of the shop front. Loss of a large 

and/or prominent A1 frontage is likely to have an impact far greater than a 

regular sized frontage as illustrated by Figure 1.4. 

Figure 1.4: Undue Concentration 

 

4.12 Additionally, the location of the proposal may be of significance. For example, a 

proposal which is located in a gateway location and/or on a corner will have a 

far more noticeable impact as illustrative by Figure 1.5. 

Figure 1.5: Undue Concentration 

 

 

Page 154



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                14
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

4.13 Policy ENT7: Criterion 3 

‘The development would not create a dead frontage but would rather stimulate 

passing trade and maintain public interest.’ 

 

4.14 This Criterion 3 relates to individual units. All units in the Primary Shopping 

Area should seek to create attractive and vibrant shopping frontages of interest 

to passers-by. A dead window frontage is not only concerned with the design of 

the frontage (i.e. blank facades or blanked out windows), but it also refers to the 

operations within the unit. For example, a B1 office use could have a similar 

dead frontage impact as a blank façade because the operation within the unit 

may not be of interest to the shopping public and may also be unlikely to 

operate on the basis of passing trade. A dead window frontage can also be 

created by A3 hot food takeaway establishments where the operating hours are 

associated with the nighttime economy and are closed during the daytime 

operating hours of the town centre.  

 

4.15 However, certain non-A1 uses can maintain the interest of passers-by provided 

that they are acceptable in the context of the other Policy ENT7 Criteria. For 

example, A3 cafes and coffee shops which have window displays, outside 

seating and opening hours consistent with A1 retail operations can introduce an 

element of vibrancy to the town centre.  

 

4.16 Therefore, consideration should be given to the nature of the use in terms of its 

operational requirements, opening hours and window displays, which could 

make the proposal acceptable in accordance with Criterion 3. 

 

4.17 Policy ENT7: Criterion 4  

‘Individually or cumulatively the proposal would not adversely affect the vitality, 

viability and character of the centre.’ 

 

4.18 Diversity of retail and commercial Centres is the key to their success, and 

careful attention should be paid to proposals within Centres, which will enhance 

their vitality and viability. Some proposals can have an adverse effect on a 

Page 155



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                15
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

Centre, damaging both the vitality and viability of the retail and entertainment 

uses within it. 

 

4.19 Factors that will be considered in the determination of planning applications, to 

ensure that any loss of A1 floorspace would not undermine the vitality, viability 

and character of a Centre, include: 

 

• Whether the existing use is surplus to requirements;  

• The nature of the proposed use and the contribution to vitality it might bring; 

• The number of vacant premises in the Primary Shopping Area or Centre; 

• The length of continuous frontage in non-retail use that would be created. 

 

4.20 Policy ENT7: Criterion 5 

‘The development would not give rise to new, nor materially exacerbate 

existing, local problems due to traffic generation, congestion, highway safety, 

noise, smell, crime, anti-social behaviour or other amenity considerations.’ 

 

4.21 With regards to traffic generation, congestion and highway safety, town centres 

are highly accessible locations with ample car parking, therefore small-scale 

proposals for change of use within the Primary Shopping Area are not likely to 

have an adverse impact.  

 

4.22 However, for some larger proposals that are likely to generate significantly 

higher levels or densities of traffic, a traffic statement may be required to 

support a planning application. Applicants are advised to contact the LPA prior 

to the submission of a planning application to ascertain what additional 

information, if any, is required. 

 

4.23 A traffic statement should include information on:  

• Likely patron/visitor attraction; 

• Staffing levels; 

• Parking requirements; 

• Potential area of attraction; 

Page 156



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                16
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

• Means of accessing the site by sustainable means i.e. public transport; 

active travel; and  

• A travel plan may also be of benefit, assuming the proposal is large enough 

to warrant this.  

 

4.24 Any highway infrastructure improvements to cater for an increase in traffic, 

such as a widened or new footway or a junction or carriageway improvement, 

should be included as part of the planning application. 

 

4.25 With regards to noise, smell, crime, anti-social behaviour and other amenity 

considerations, applicants should consider the nature of the proposal, its impact 

on its surroundings and the impact of the surroundings on the proposal. 

 

4.26 For example, if the proposal was for A3 hot food takeaway use, potential issues 

relating to noise and smell (generated by the extractor fans or otherwise), in 

addition to noise and litter generated by customers, will need to be given due 

consideration. 

 

4.27 Applicants should consider the following: 

• Is the land or building located amongst other similar uses? 

• Are there residential units in close proximity? 

• What opening times will the use be operating within? 

• How will the site accommodate delivery to the unit? 

• Will the operation offer a delivery service? 

 

4.28 In addition to the above requirements [and considerations], all developments 

that involve the loss of an existing A1 use on the ground floor must be 

actively marketed prior to submission of a planning application. A marketing 

strategy (See Appendix 1 for Marketing Strategy Checklist) should be submitted 

to and agreed by the LPA in advance of any marketing being undertaken. 

Providing the LPA has approved the marketing strategy in advance and is 

satisfied that the strategy has been executed appropriately, one year of  

 

Page 157



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                17
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

marketing will be considered acceptable. Otherwise, the LPA will need to be 

satisfied that marketing has been undertaken on reasonable terms for at least 

two years prior to the submission of a planning application. Residential 

development on the ground floor will not be permitted within Primary Shopping 

Areas. 

 

Secondary Shopping Areas 

4.29 In relation to Secondary Shopping Areas, greater flexibility exists to promote 

a wider range of retail uses to address long-term vacancy rates. Development 

proposals must be for A1, A2 and A3 unless they satisfy the Criteria under 

Policy ENT7. Residential development on the ground floor will not be permitted 

within Secondary Shopping Areas.  

 

4.30 The following paragraphs will address each Criterion in turn.  

 

4.31 Policy ENT7: Criterion a) 

‘Individually or cumulatively the proposal would not adversely affect the vitality, 

viability and character of the centre.’ 

 

4.32 Diversity of retail and commercial Centres is the key to their success and 

careful attention should be paid to proposals within Centres, which will enhance 

their vitality and viability. Some proposals can have an adverse effect on a 

Centre, damaging both the vitality and viability of the retail and entertainment 

uses within it. 

 

4.33 Factors that will be considered in the determination of planning applications to 

ensure that any loss of A1, A2 and A3 floorspace would not undermine the 

vitality, viability and character of a Centre, include: 

• Whether the existing use is surplus to requirements;  

• The nature of the proposed use and the contribution to vitality it might bring; 

• The number of vacant premises in the Secondary Shopping Area or Centre; 

• The length of continuous frontage in non-retail use that would be created. 

 

Page 158



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                18
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

4.34 Policy ENT7: Criterion b) 

‘The development would not give rise to new, nor materially exacerbate 

existing, local problems due to traffic generation, congestion, highway safety, 

noise, smell, crime, anti-social behaviour or other amenity considerations.’  

 

4.35 This Criterion b) will be assessed in accordance with the guidance detailed 

under Policy ENT7 Criterion 5 (paragraph 4.20 above).  

 

4.36 Policy ENT7: Development outside of Primary and Secondary Shopping Areas 

but within the commercial Centres of Bridgend, Porthcawl and Maesteg 

 

4.37 Greater flexibility exists within the commercial Centres of Bridgend, Porthcawl 

and Maesteg that are located outside of Primary and Secondary Shopping 

Areas. New development that provides retail, office, leisure, entertainment, 

cultural or community floorspace will be permitted within these retailing and 

commercial Centres as outlined by Policy SP12 (RLDP). Residential 

development will be encouraged and permitted on the first and upper floors of 

properties. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

John Street,  
Porthcawl 

Page 159



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                19
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                    19 

Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Well Street, Porthcawl 

Page 160



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                20
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

4.38  Policy ENT8: Non A1, A2 and A3 Uses Outside of Primary Shopping Areas 

 

4.39 Paragraphs 5.4.65 – 5.4.67 of the RLDP provide the rationale behind Policy 

ENT8, however, it is considered that additional guidance on meeting the policy 

criteria under this Policy ENT8 would be beneficial to applicants wishing to 

introduce a non-A1, A2 or A3 use within commercial Centres that do not relate 

to Bridgend, Porthcawl or Maesteg (See table below).  

 

Table 4: Commercial Centres Outside of Bridgend, Porthcawl and Maesteg 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.40 The following paragraphs will address each Policy ENT8 Criterion in turn. 

 

 

4.41 Policy ENT8: Criterion 1 

‘If for residential purposes: a) The premises/floorspace has been vacant for at 

least two years and has been actively marketed over that time’ 

 

4.42 In terms of demonstrating that the premises has been vacant for at least two 

years, it should be noted that the LPA conducts an annual survey of all retail 

premises within established town, district and local service Centres.  

 

4.43 As such, the LPA maintains an annual “snapshot” of the use and occupancy of 

each retail unit, which will be used to assist in identifying how long a retail unit 

may have been vacant for. In addition to the length of any vacancy period, the 

LPA must be satisfied that the property is no longer required for its retail 

function.  Applicants must therefore provide evidence of the length of time the 

property has been vacant and demonstrate that the property has been actively 

marketed on reasonable terms for retail occupancy/sale over that time. 

 

District 

Centres 

Aberkenfig (Valleys Gateway), Kenfig Hill, Ogmore Vale, Pencoed, 

Pontycymmer and Pyle. 

Local 

Centres 

Bettws North, Bettws South, Blackmill, Blaengarw, Brackla, 

Broadlands, Bryntirion, Caerau, Laleston, Nantymoel, North 

Cornelly, Nottage, Pontrhydycyff, Sarn, Verlands Court (Pencoed), 

Wildmill and Five Bells Road (Bridgend) 

Page 161



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                21
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

4.44 This will include due consideration as to ‘where’ and ‘how’ the marketing has 

taken place, together with the advertised sale price/rent compared to 

comparable properties within the locality.  

 

4.45 It should be noted that the LPA will require evidence to demonstrate the 

requirements under paragraph 4.41 above, which may include letters of 

instruction to agents; published letting/sales material and/or photographic 

evidence (See Appendix 1 for the ‘Marketing Strategy Checklist’).  

 

4.46 In some Centres, it is acknowledged that existing retail and commercial uses 

may have only been operating for a short period of time. Where applicants can  

robustly demonstrate that this is the case and that a long-term residential use 

was previously established, a more pragmatic approach may be adopted for 

residential development proposals following an investigation into the nature and 

duration of the existing use. 

 

4.47 Policy ENT8: Criterion 1 

‘If for residential purposes: b) The premises/floorspace does not form part of a 

purpose-built retail environment or a continuous frontage of three or more 

existing commercial units.’ 

 

Purpose-built retail environments refer to those retail sites which have been 

developed to meet a specific retail need. Examples include shopping Centres 

such as Brackla Local Service Centre or retail centres which were developed to 

specifically serve a housing development such as the Broadlands Local Service 

Centre.  

 

4.48 Policy ENT8: Criterion 2 

‘If for other purposes: The proposal does not involve the loss of existing A1 

floorspace.’ 

 

4.49 In terms of the acceptability of uses other than A1, A2 and A3 within the 

boundaries of existing retailing and commercials Centres; developments that 

Page 162



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                22
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

provide office, leisure, entertainment, cultural or community floorspace will be 

permitted within these retailing and commercial Centres, providing the proposal 

does not involve the loss of occupied and operational A1 floorspace.  

 

4.50 The final requirement of Policy ENT8 Criterion 2 states: 

‘Wherever possible, proposals for a change of use of existing floorspace must 

be designed so as not to prejudice a future conversion back to a retail or 

commercial use.’ 

 

4.51 It is accepted that changes of use to residential cannot practicably retain a retail 

frontage within its final design. However, non-retail commercial uses should 

wherever possible limit the external alteration to the unit to retain its external 

appearance. This would limit the visual impact of the change of use on the 

street scene and enable the unit to re-use its primary A1, A2 or A3 retail 

function, should the non-retail use vacate the property, without unnecessary 

complication and costs.  

 

4.52 Policy ENT9: Retail Development Outside of Retailing and Commercial Centres 

 

4.53 The first requirement of Policy ENT9 of the RLDP states:  

‘Development proposals outside of Retail and Commercial Centres that result in 

the loss of retail and commercial floorspace will only be permitted where there 

is proven to be other sufficient provision locally or where the 

premises/floorspace has been vacant for at least 12 months and has been 

actively marketed over that time.’ 

 

4.54 It is recognised that local shopping facilities play an important role in serving 

local communities and their provision can mean a vital service is provided to 

local people. The loss of a single retail store to another use could lead to a 

deficit in provision locally. Policy ENT9 seeks to ensure that any loss of 

shopping facilities serving local communities outside of retail and commercial 

Centres will not lead to an under-provision in the area. Applicants must 

demonstrate that there is other sufficient provision locally. The LPA will  

 

Page 163



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                23
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

undertake a check of the surrounding area to determine whether there is 

sufficient local provision to justify the loss of retail use. If there is no other local 

provision, applicants proposing a loss of local retail use must demonstrate that 

the property has been actively marketed for at least 12 months prior to the 

submission of a planning application. The LPA will need to be satisfied that 

marketing has been undertaken on reasonable terms and, as a minimum, 

would require sales particulars and information from sales/letting agents to be 

submitted as part of an application (See Appendix 1 for Marketing Strategy 

Checklist).  Examples of uses that are considered to offer a local convenience 

service, include but are not limited to the following:  

• Newsagent/convenience store  

• Bakery 

• Café/restaurant/hot food takeaway 

• Post Office 

• Pharmacy  

 

4.55 Policy ENT9 also states: 

‘Retail development outside of Retail and Commercial Centres will be 

concentrated at the following existing locations:’  

 

 

 

 

 

Location  Acceptable Uses  Type  

Bridgend Retail Park Bulky Comparison & 

Convenience  

Out-Of-Centre 

Waterton Retail Park Bulky Comparison & 

Convenience  

Out-Of-Centre 

Sainsbury, Cefn Hirgoed  Convenience Out-Of-Centre 

Tesco, Brewery Lane Convenience Edge-Of-Centre 

Tesco, Llynfi Lane, Maesteg Convenience  Edge-Of-Centre 

Bridgend Designer Outlet 

Village  

Controlled by s106 Out-Of-Centre 

Page 164



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                24
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

4.56 Whilst Proposals for new out-of-centre retail will not be encouraged, Policy 

ENT9 acknowledges the presence of existing retail developments outside of 

Town, District and Local Centres. Retail development at these locations defined 

in Policy ENT9 will be restricted to the acceptable uses outlined in the table 

above, by means of appropriate planning conditions and/or legal agreements.  . 

Extensions within the boundaries of these locations, increases to the allocated 

floorspace or relaxations/changes to the types of goods sold, may require a 

needs test, sequential test and retail impact assessment, as detailed within 

National Policy (TAN4: Retail and Commercial Development / PPW), depending 

on the nature of the proposal and the potential impacts. This will also apply to 

planning applications which seek to vary conditions to change the types of 

goods sold from sites at these locations or the subdivision of units, both of 

which could potentially undermine the vitality and viability of town and district 

Centres if not properly controlled. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bridgend Designer Outlet 

Page 165



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                25
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

4.57 In respect of the ‘types’ of bulky comparison goods that are likely to be 

permitted at Bridgend and Waterton Retail parks, these are defined as: 

• Carpets and flooring; 

• Baby and toddler equipment; 

• Cycles and accessories; 

• DIY and home improvements; 

• Electrical and other durable goods; 

• Footwear; 

• Gardening items and equipment; 

• Sports camping and leisure goods (excluding clothing); 

• Textiles and soft furnishings; 

• Toys, games and hobbies; 

• Vehicle and motorcycle sales; 

• Vehicle accessories; and 

• Bulky food and drink outlets. 

 

4.58 In general terms, the LPA considers that the above list reflects accurately what 

could be considered as ‘bulky’ and is the starting point in determining whether it 

is a ‘bulky’ item or not, although this is not an exhaustive list. As a further guide 

in determining acceptability the following two questions are useful:  

 

1) Can the item fit within a bag and be easily carried around a town or district 

Centre? 

(The purpose of allowing out-of-centre retailing for bulky items is because 

the items, by their very nature do not allow easy movement between 

shopping units and require the use of a car within close proximity of the store 

to transport items with them). 

 

2) Are there other stores already located within any of the town and district 

Centres which sell similar items? 

(If there are stores selling similar items within a town, district or local Centre 

already, this could be used as an indication that an ‘out-of-centre’ location is 

not required). 

Page 166



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                26
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

4.59 Whilst there have been subsequent variations of conditions based on individual 

circumstances, the above list (paragraph 4.57), remains the basis for 

determining what constitutes a ‘bulky’ item in the above described retail parks 

and will be the starting point in determining planning applications on those retail 

parks.  

 

4.60 Proposals for non-Bulky goods 

 

4.61 As highlighted above, development within allocated ‘edge of centre’ and ‘out of 

centre’ locations will be restricted to specific goods that would not typically be 

sold from premises within a Centre. The tests of ‘retail need’, ‘Sequential’ 

approach and impact will apply to the consideration of all development 

proposals at ‘edge of centre’ and ‘out of centre’ locations.  

 

4.62 Proposals for ancillary and incidental uses such as Use Class A3 (food and 

drink) floorspace within designated ‘out of centre’ locations will be restricted to 

small scale provision that supports the primary retail function of the wider site, 

or comprises a facility that due to its operational and functional requirements 

cannot reasonably be accommodated within a Centre. Ancillary and incidental 

uses will be judged on a case-by-case basis and will not be permitted if judged 

to give rise to a critical mass.  

 

4.63 Class D2 (leisure) proposals will only be permitted at ‘out of centre’ locations if 

the applicant demonstrates that there is no viable prospect of the proposed 

scheme being accommodated within the retailing, commercial and services 

hierarchy outlined under Policy SP12 (RLDP), as required by the Sequential 

Test (used to assess the suitability of sites for retail and commercial uses, 

prioritising development in defined retail and commercial centres first, followed 

by ‘edge of centre’ locations, and finally ‘out-of-centre’ locations if no suitable 

alternative areas are available) (See Appendix 2 for Checklist).   

 

4.64 Leisure uses will not be permitted at these locations if judged to give rise to a 

critical mass and range of facilities that pose a threat to the future vitality, 

viability and attractiveness of the retail, commercial and district Centres. The 

Page 167



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                27
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

policy aim is to protect the threat of ‘out of centre’ allocations becoming ‘all 

round destinations’ for customers to have such a range and opportunity for 

retail and leisure experiences that it negates the need to undertake any 

separate visit to existing retail, commercial and district Centres.  

 

4.65 Certain proposals have operational requirements that cannot reasonably be 

accommodated within Centres. A ‘drive through’ restaurant/café proposal, for 

example, represents a Class A3 operation that, due to its circulation 

requirements and size constraints, would not typically be located within a 

Centre and may instead be accommodated within an ‘out of centre’ allocation.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 168



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                28
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

Appendix A: Marketing Checklist for Applicants 

Marketing Requirement  Further Information  

Period of Marketing   

1. Has the site and/or premises been 

actively and comprehensively 

marketed for its current and/or last 

permitted use for the minimum 

continuous period specified in the 

relevant RLDP Policy?  

Marketing is required under Policy ENT7: 

(RLDP): Development in Commercial 

Centres of Bridgend, Porthcawl and 

Maesteg (Supporting paragraph 5.4.62) 

for the change of use from A1 to non-A1. 

 

Marketing is required under Policy ENT8: 

(RLDP): Non-A1, A2 and A3 Uses 

Outside of Primary Shopping Areas for 

the change of use from non-A1, A2 or A3 

to residential.  

Flexibility of use   

2. Does the marketing include marketing 

of the site/premises on a freehold as 

well as leasehold basis? 

The purpose of marketing the freehold of 

a site and/or building is to increase the 

likelihood of sale by enabling potential 

purchasers to use it for a wider range of 

future uses than if they rented or 

purchased the site/building’s leasehold. 

Forms of marketing   

3. Advertising board posted in a 

prominent location on site throughout 

the period of marketing. The board 

should include contact information 

and be clearly visible. Photographic 

evidence should be provided with the 

application and/or pre-application 

enquiry.  

 

4. Registration of the property with at 

least one commercial property agent. 

The site should be continuously 

included on the commercial agent’s 

website over the period of the 

marketing campaign. The 

site/premises should also be 

advertised on commercial property 

search sites and online advertising 

portals. 

The requirement for registration with at 

least one commercial agent is a 

Minimum. The LPA will expect to see 

evidence of a range of methods of 

advertising throughout the required 

marketing period in order to demonstrate 

wide market exposure and an active 

approach to marketing. This may include 

mailshots, printed and online advertising 

(see point below) and use of a number of 

commercial agents. 

Page 169



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                29
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

5. Have details of where and how often 

the site was advertised, with copies of 

all printed advertisements placed and 

web pages, including publication 

dates, been supplied? 

Any advertisements on websites should 

appear continuously throughout the 

required marketing period. 

Price and terms   

6. Has evidence of the asking price 

and/or rent at which the property has 

been offered been included in the 

marketing statement? 

 

 

 

7. Has the site/premises been 

independently valued by at least two 

independent agents and marketing at 

a reasonable and competitive guide 

sale price and lease amount and 

terms that reflects its current value 

taking into account the current state of 

the property (including in relation to 

use, condition, quality and location of 

floorspace) and local sales/rents? 

Evidence of the above should be 

provided with the application and/or 

pre-application enquiry. 

 

8. Have details of any reductions in price 

throughout the marketing period also 

been recorded and included with the 

valuation evidence referred to in 

question 7? 

Note: This information should be 

provided to indicate the price and/or rent 

at which the property has been offered. 

9. Does the marketing statement include 

the number and detail of enquiries 

and/or offers received for the 

site/premises, reasons for refusal of 

any offers and reasons why any offers 

fell through? 

 

10. Does the marketing statement include 

the reasons for prospective tenants 

not making an offer and/or taking up 

the space, and how these problems 

have been addressed? 

 

11. Have the dates and periods for each 

individual marketing activity been 

clearly shown on the marketing 

statement? 

 

Page 170



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                30
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

 Appendix B: Sequential Test - Assessment Checklist for Applicants 

Sequential Assessment  Further Information  

1. Description of the proposed use  

2. The size of the unit Whether existing or proposed 

3. The area covered by the sequential 

search 

 

4. Justification for the area search  If it is less than Borough-wide or limited 

to particular types of centres 

5. The types of units searched for   

6. Justification for any limitations applied 

to the types of units considered 

 

7. A list of the alternative, available, 

sequentially preferable units identified  

• This list should set out the address 

and size of the unit and if it is suitable 

or not. The suitability of a unit should 

be based on a sound methodology 

and will be assessed on a case-by-

case basis. 

• If a unit is unsuitable, full justification 

and evidence should be provided 

alongside the listing.  

• A conclusion as to whether the 

Sequential Test is met, looking at both 

the availability and suitability of those 

sites to accommodate the proposal.  

• If the Sequential Test is not met, an 

explanation of any overriding material 

considerations that would justify the 

grant of planning permission.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 171



Bridgend Local Development Plan 2018-2033                                                                                                                31
Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

 

Page 172



 

Do you have any comments on the proposed guidance for Policy ENT7: Development in Commercial Centres of Bridgend, 

Porthcawl and Maesteg detail in Section 4 

Organisation NTR Planning Ltd (on behalf of McArthurGlen) 

Representation The draft SPG sets out specific measures concerning the interpretation of Policy ENT7 in order to 

promote the vitality and viability of Bridgend town centre. These should be applied flexibly to enable 

the centre to respond to those changes in shopping patterns that have occurred over the last five 

years, both as a result of the pandemic and the shift towards online shopping. It should be noted that 

these changes have affected outlet centres as well, particularly given the growth in the availability of 

online outlet shopping channels. 

 

It is important that these flexible measures are applied without unnecessary burden in order to 

support a dynamic and changing retail environment, as well as to support alternative uses within 

centres. This is promoted at page 71 of Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 under the supporting 

text to Policy 6: 

 

‘The principle of ‘Town Centre First’ is well established in planning policy in 

relation to retail developments. However, good planning can help us re-think the 

future of town and city centres, which are moving away from their traditional retail 

roles.’ 

 

This approach ought to apply in equal measure to other centres, including Bridgend Designer Outlet 

Centre, in order for it to also remain vital and viable and to continue to act as an important tourist 

attractor and to maintain the aforementioned synergy. 

Appendix 2: Consultation Representations, Responses and Resultant Action Appendix 2: Consultation Representations, Responses and Resultant Action 

P
age 173



Local Planning Authority 

Response 

Policy ENT7 specifically deals with development within the commercial centres of Bridgend, 

Porthcawl and Maesteg, of which does not include edge-of-centre or out-of-centre allocations such 

as Bridgend Designer Outlet Centre. Any proposal that relates to Bridgend Designer Outlet Centre 

will be assessed against Policy ENT9 and uses specified by the associated Section 106 Agreement. 

Policy ENT7 takes into account the impacts of both the pandemic and the shift towards online 

shopping recognising that centres are moving away from their traditional retail roles. This policy 

ensures that these centres do not lose their ‘critical mass’ of retail units to the extent that they can no 

longer function as viable shopping centres. However, there is sufficient flexibility embedded within 

this policy and other policies to enable such centres to become multifunctional places and 

community focal points, thereby rendering them more viable as go-to destinations in light of the 

impacts of the pandemic and shift towards online shopping.  

Resultant Action No action necessary – the SPG provides supplementary information and guidance in respect of the 

adopted RLDP policy framework, but it cannot introduce new policies or change the policies in the 

adopted RLDP. Furthermore, there is considered to be sufficient flexibility embedded into Policy 

ENT7 and other retail and commercial policies contained within the RLDP.  Policy ENT7 does not 

relate to out of town retail provision such as Bridgend Designer Outlet Centre. 

Do you have any comments on the proposed guidance for Policy ENT9: Retail Development Outside of Retailing and 

Commercial Centres detailed in Section 4 

Organisation BCBC Elected Member  

Representation I request that, where a commercial premises such as a corner shop is located in a residential area, 

then any application to instal a parcel locker system adjacent to the premises should be subject to a 

planning condition which restricts its use to match the agreed permitted opening hours of the 

business in question.  

 

Such a condition would address problems of additional traffic generation and associated overnight 

noise and disturbance experiences by neighbours. 

P
age 174



Local Planning Authority 

Response 

Comments noted. Whilst it is beyond the scope of the policy and this SPG to include specific 

guidance on parcel locker systems, planning conditions can be attached to future planning consents 

to control the operating hours of parcel lockers in circumstances where it is deemed to be necessary 

and appropriate. This would ensure that the local planning authority would retain effective control 

over the hours of operation of the business in the interests of general amenity.  

Resultant Action No amendments necessary – this issue can be addressed at the planning application stage through 

the use of appropriate conditions.  

Organisation NTR Planning Ltd (on behalf of McArthurGlen) 

Representation Paragraph 4.56 identifies that retail development at the locations defined in Policy ENT9 will be 

restricted to bulky goods retailing. The paragraph should be amended to confirm that the Outlet 

Centre will not be restricted to bulky goods, as these, as I am sure you will be aware, are not the 

prevailing range of goods that are sold from the centre. We suggest that the reference to bulky 

goods sales be referenced specifically to the retail parks listed. 

Local Planning Authority 

Response 

Comments noted. As drafted, the current wording of paragraph 4.56 states that retail development at 

the locations defined in Policy ENT9 are restricted to bulky goods retailing of which is misleading. As 

such, further clarity will be made to paragraphs 4.56 and 4.61 to ensure that the acceptable uses on 

edge-of-centre and out-of-centre allocations are clearly outlined.  

Resultant Action Paragraphs 4.56 and 4.61 will be amended to clarify the permitted uses on edge-of-centre and out-

of-centre retail and commercial allocations.  

Organisation NTR Planning Ltd (on behalf of McArthurGlen) 

Representation We are supportive of paragraph 4.62, which sets out support for ancillary/incidental A3 uses at out of 

centre retail destinations. We would however suggest that the reference to ‘200 sqm’ be amended to 

read ‘in the region of’ 200 square metres so to be less prescriptive. Given that every planning 

application is considered on its own merits it is not considered appropriate (or necessary) for the 

Council to impose a specified floorspace limit, as this may act as a moratorium to certain 

P
age 175



development, even if the applicant was able to demonstrate compliance with the impact and 

sequential tests. The guidance set out in 4.64 on critical mass will likely assist in controlling total A3 

provision in any of the identified out of centre locations, were a further proposal to arise. 

Local Planning Authority 

Response 

Support for paragraph 4.62 is noted. The representor’s suggestion to amend paragraph 4.62, 

specifically requesting a change in wording from ‘200sqm’ to ‘in the region of 200sqm’ is 

acknowledged. Furthermore, the purpose of the SPG is to augment and interpret existing adopted 

RLDP policies. As such, removal of a specific floorspace figure is considered appropriate in this 

instance, and any proposed ancillary and incidental use on an edge-of-centre or out-of-centre 

allocation will be assessed on a case-by-case basis regarding its appropriateness.  

Resultant Action Paragraph 4.62 will be amended to be less prescriptive regarding the size of ancillary/incidental uses 

at edge-of-centre and out-of-centre retail allocations, making it clear that each application will be 

considered on a case-by-case basis.   

Organisation NTR Planning Ltd (on behalf of McArthurGlen) 

Representation  We are supportive of paragraph 4.63 and 4.64, which relate to D2 uses. 

Local Planning Authority 

Response 

Noted. 

Resultant Action No amendments necessary.  

Organisation NTR Planning Ltd (on behalf of McArthurGlen) 

Representation What is important, and what we consider is missing from this section of the draft SPG, is reference to 

other appropriate commercial uses that would also be considered small-scale/ancillary and incidental 

to the primary retail function of the out of centre destination listed. Examples would include A2 

(Financial and professional services) uses, e.g. a bank, and D1 (Non-residential institutions) uses, 

e.g. a crèche. Such uses are provided in smaller units than those typically provided in the retail 

warehouse parks identified, so their inclusion in this section of the SPG might be more appropriate 

with specific reference to Bridgend Designer Outlet only. 

P
age 176



 

There is no reason why such uses should be considered differently to the A3 and D2 uses listed and 

there would be a clear synergy with the primary purpose served by the Outlet Centre with those 

additional Use Classes identified above and when taking into account the critical mass point. In this 

regard, we are mindful that the Council has supported the provision of a bureau de change unit (Use 

Class A2) at Bridgend Designer Outlet under planning permission ref. P/15/774/FUL. Here, it was 

identified in the officer’s report that: 

 

‘The proposed installation of a kiosk to provide money exchange facilities will, it is 

considered, be ancillary to the main retail uses contained within the centre and 

therefore not significantly change the character of the centre.’ 

Local Planning Authority 

Response 

The representor’s suggestion to reference additional examples that could also be considered small-

scale/ancillary and incidental to the primary retail function of the edge-of-centre and out-of-centre 

allocations is acknowledged. The policy aim is to avoid ‘out of centre’ allocations becoming ‘all round 

destinations’ for customers with such a range and opportunity for retail and leisure experiences that 

they would negate the need to undertake any separate visit to existing retail, commercial and district 

centres. This would be considered out of accord with the ‘Town Centre First’ approach outlined in 

national planning policy. However, it is acknowledged that a limited number of appropriate uses can 

support or complement the primary retail function. 

 

Further detail will be included in the supporting text to clarify that uses that are ancillary and 

incidental (not exclusively those operating under Use Class A3) to the primary retail function of the 

wider site will be permitted where appropriate, while clarifying that each proposal will be judged on a 

case-by-case basis.  

P
age 177



Resultant Action Paragraph 4.62 will be amended to clarify that uses which are considered to be ancillary and 

incidental to the primary retail function of an edge-of-centre or out-of-centre retail allocation will be 

judged on a case-by-case basis to determine their appropriateness.  

Do you have any comments on the proposed Sequential Test – Assessment Checklist for Applicants detailed in Appendix B? 

Organisation NTR Planning Ltd (on behalf of McArthurGlen) 

Representation This section is helpful but perhaps lacking in detail. In undertaking any sequential test (where 

relevant) it is necessary to consider whether any alternative site is suitable for the broad nature of 

development proposed, as established by well documented case law. Whilst suitability is referenced 

in the ‘Further information’ part of the table, it is normal practice for an applicant to set out a 

methodology in undertaking an assessment. Whilst unit size is referenced in the table, there are 

other factors that would inform a judgement on the suitability of any alternative site as part of the 

applicant’s methodology. These details could be incorporated or referenced in the draft SPG for 

clarity, or at least reference to the requirement of the test to be based on a sound methodology. 

 

For retail development, examples might include:  
1. the ability of any alternative site to accommodate a specified minimum site size.  
2. the ability of any alternative site to accommodate a store of a specified minimum gross floor 

area.  
3. the ability of any alternative site to the safe manoeuvring of customer vehicles and delivery 

vehicles. 
4. the ability of any alternative site to offer a viable trading environment. 
5. the ability of any alternative site to be easily accessible by a choice of means of transport. 
6. the ability of any alternative site to be able to provide suitable servicing arrangements to 

enable deliveries.  
 
Clearly, each case would be considered differently based on the requirements of the proposal under 
consideration. 

 

P
age 178



We consider that the appendix be expanded to include reference to ‘methodology’ and expand on 

matters relating to ‘suitability’ on a ‘case-by-case basis’, with reference to ‘established case law’. 

Local Planning Authority 

Response 

Support for the sequential test assessment checklist for applicants is noted. The sequential test 

assessment checklist provides guidance to prospective applicants, clarifying the necessary 

information to support a planning application for a proposal on an edge-of-centre or out-of-centre 

allocation, that should in the first instance be located within a designated centre as per the retailing, 

commercial and services hierarchy outlined by Policy SP12 of the RLDP. The representor 

recommends adding further detail, specifically making reference to the requirement of the test to be 

based on a ‘sound methodology’. The representor also suggests introducing several additional 

factors to expand upon the suitability criteria of any alternative site. Whilst this is acknowledged, the 

inclusion of such criteria is considered too prescriptive and would vary based upon the nature of the 

proposed use. However, in the interests of providing further detail, the appendix will be amended to 

make reference to the requirement for all assessments to be based on a sound methodology.   

Resultant Action Appendix B – Sequential Test Assessment Checklist for Applicants will be updated to include a 

reference to the requirement that the test be based on a sound methodology in relation to the 

suitability of alternative sites.  

P
age 179



Proposed SPG Changes as a Result of the Consultation 

The paragraphs proposed for amendment following the consultation are detailed 

below, for the reasons explained in the previous table. Strikethrough text is used to 

indicate proposed deletions from the SPG, whereas blue text is used to indicate 

proposed additions to the SPG. Only paragraphs proposed for amendment are 

included below, there are no proposed changes to the remainder of the draft SPG 

following consultation. The final draft version of the SPG (Appendix 1) incorporates 

the proposed amendments below.  

 

4.56 Whilst Proposals for new out-of-centre retail will not be encouraged, Policy ENT9 

acknowledges the presence of existing retail developments outside of Town, District 

and Local centres. Retail development at these locations defined in Policy ENT9 will 

be restricted to bulky goods retailingthe acceptable uses outlined in the table above, 

by means of appropriate planning conditions and/or legal agreements. Policy ENT9 

respects the specific role and function of sites at these locations, which can provide 

a complementary role to town and district Centres by providing opportunities for 

large format, bulky goods retailing that does not compete with ‘in-Centre’ trading. 

Extensions within the boundaries of these locations, increases to the allocated 

floorspace or relaxations/changes to the types of goods sold, may require a needs 

test, sequential test and retail impact assessment, as detailed within National Policy 

(TAN4: Retail and Commercial Development / PPW), depending on the nature of the 

proposal and the potential impacts. This will also apply to planning applications 

which seek to vary conditions to change the types of goods sold from sites at these 

locations or the subdivision of units, both of which could potentially undermine the 

vitality and viability of town and district Centres if not properly controlled. 

 

4.61 As highlighted above, development within allocated ‘edge of centre’ and ‘out of 

centre’ locations will be restricted to the sale of predominantly bulky goods, and/or 

other goods specific goods that would not typically be sold from premises within a 

Centre. The tests of ‘retail need’, ‘Sequential’ approach and impact will apply to the 

consideration of all development proposals at ‘edge of centre’ and ‘out of centre’ 

locations.  

 

4.62 Proposals for ancillary and incidental uses such as Use Class A3 (food and drink) 

floorspace within designated ‘out of centre’ locations will be restricted to small scale 

provision that is ancillary and incidental tosupports the primary retail function of the 

wider site, or comprises a facility that due to its operational and functional 

requirements cannot reasonably be accommodated within a Centre. Proposals for 

ancillary and incidental uses will be judged on a case-by-case basis and will not be 

permitted if judged to give rise to a critical mass. ‘Small scale’, for the purposes of 

this policy refers to a facility less than 200 sqm gross floor area. 

 

 

 

Page 180



Appendix B: Sequential Test – Assessment Checklist for Applicants 

 

Sequential Assessment  Further Information  

1. Description of the proposed use  

2. The size of the unit Whether existing or proposed 

3. The area covered by the sequential 
search 

 

4. Justification for the area search  If it is less than Borough-wide or limited 

to particular types of centres 

5. The types of units searched for   

6. Justification for any limitations applied 
to the types of units considered 

 

7. A list of the alternative, available, 
sequentially preferable units identified  

• This list should set out the address 
and size of the unit and if it is suitable 
or not. The suitability of a unit should 
be based on a sound methodology 
and will be assessed on a case-by-
case basis. 

• If a unit is unsuitable, full justification 
and evidence should be provided 
alongside the listing.  

• A conclusion as to whether the 
Sequential Test is met, looking at both 
the availability and suitability of those 
sites to accommodate the proposal.  

• If the Sequential Test is not met, an 
explanation of any overriding material 
considerations that would justify the 
grant of planning permission.  

 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
COUNCIL  

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
24 SEPTEMBER 2025 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
INFORMATION REPORTS FOR NOTING 

 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL AND REGULATORY SERVICES, 

HR AND CORPORATE POLICY 

 
Responsible 
Officer:  
 

                
OSCAR ROBERTS – DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER - 

COMMITTEES 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  
 

 
There is no effect upon the policy framework and procedure 

rules. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

 
To inform Council of two Information Reports for noting. 

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Council of Information Reports for noting that 

have been published since its last scheduled meeting. 
 
2. Background  
  
2.1 At a previous meeting of Council, it was resolved to approve a revised procedure for 

the presentation to Council of Information Reports for noting. 
 
3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 Information Reports  
 

The following Information Reports have been published since the last meeting of 
Council:- 

  
Title 
 

Date Published 

Democratic Services Committee Annual Report 
 

17/09/2025 

Annual Report of the Standards Committee 
 

17/09/2025 

Urgent Delegated Decisions 
 

17/09/2025 

                                                             
3.2 Availability of Documents 

Page 183

Agenda Item 10



 

 
The documents have been circulated to Elected Members electronically via email 
and placed on the Bridgend County Borough Council website. The documents are 
available from the date of publication above. 

 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in 
the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider 
the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an Equality Impact assessment in the production of this 
report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality 
impacts as a result of this report. 

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts 
upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

 
6. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
 
6.1 There are no Climate Change and Nature Implications in relation to this report.   

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications from this report. 
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 There are no financial implications with regard to this report.   
 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 That Council acknowledges the publication of the reports referred to in paragraph 

3.1 of this report. 
 
Background documents 
 
None 

Page 184



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
COUNCIL  

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
24 SEPTEMBER 2025 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 

 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEGAL AND REGULATORY SERVICES, 

HR AND CORPORATE POLICY 

Responsible 
Officer:  

                RACHEL KEEPINS 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES MANAGER 

 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

 
There is no effect upon the Policy Framework and 

Procedure Rules 
 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 requires the 
Democratic Services Committee (DSC) to make a report at 
least annually to the Council covering the following areas: 

 

• The Membership of the DSC 

• Dates of meetings of the DSC 

• DSC Terms of Reference 

• Activities of the DSC for the period May 2024 to May 

2025 

• The Structure of the Democratic Services Team 

covering May 2024 to May 2025 

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 To provide Council with the Democratic Services Committee’s Annual Report for the 

period May 2024 to May 2025 for noting. The report outlines the work of the 
Committee during that period. 
 

2. Background  
 
2.1 The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 requires each council to establish a 

Democratic Services Committee. The Measure prescribes the functions of the 
committee and requires the committee to make a report at least annually to the 
Council.   

 
2.2 The Democratic Services Committee cannot discharge any other functions or 

perform any dual role.   
 
2.3 During last year’s consideration of the Committee’s Annual Report the following 

proposals were made: 

Page 185



 

 

• That details of the Committee’s attendance at Democratic Services Committee 

meetings be added to the report at paragraph 3.3;  

• That any further detail be provided as to the meetings of the Sub-Committee to deal 

with Member Family Absence at paragraph 3.6;  

• That an indication of hours, whether full time or part time be provided for the 

Democratic Services staff listed in the report. 

2.4 The Democratic Services Committee approved their Annual Report at its meeting 
on 26 June 2025. 
 

3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 Councillor Tim Thomas was elected Chair of the Democratic Services Committee at 

the Annual Meeting of Council in May 2024. 
 
3.2 The Committee is serviced by the Democratic Services Manager.  The role also has 

the responsibility of being the Head of Democratic Services.   
 

Membership of the Democratic Services Committee 
 
3.3 The Membership and attendance details for the Democratic Services Committee for 

the period May 2024 to May 2025 is as follows: 
 

Councillor  13 June 2024 
 

21 November 2024 

Cllr Tim Thomas (Chair)  Present Present 

Cllr Sean Aspey Not Present Not present 

Cllr Paula Ford Present Apologies 

Cllr Richard Granville Present Present 

Cllr David Harrison  Not Present Not present  

Cllr Martin Hughes Present Present 

Cllr Malcolm James  Apologies Present 

Cllr Heidi Bennett Present Present 

Cllr Ian Spiller Present Present 

Cllr Graham Walter  Present Present 

Cllr Elaine Winstanley Present Present 

  
  
 
 Democratic Services Committee Terms of Reference  
 
3.4 The remit of the Democratic Services Committee is set out under the Local 

Government (Wales) Measure 2011 and is: 
 

• Designate an officer as the Head of Democratic Services; 

• Review the adequacy of provision by the Authority of staff, accommodation and 
other resources to discharge Democratic Services functions; 

• Make reports and recommendations to the Authority in relation to such 
provision; 

Page 186



 

• At the request of the Authority review any matter relevant to the support and 
advice available to members of the Council, and the terms and conditions of 
office of those members. 

 
3.5 There is also a Sub-Committee of the Democratic Services Committee which 

consists of a Panel to deal with Member family absence under the Family Absence 
for Members of Local Authorities (Wales) Regulations 2013. The Panel’s Terms of 
Reference are set out below: 

 
a) Determine a complaint made by a Member regarding cancellation of family 

absence by the authority; 

b) The Sub-Committee may confirm a decision made or substitute its own decision 

as to the Member’s entitlement to a period of family absence in accordance with 

the 2013 Regulations; 

c) Determine a complaint made by a Member on maternity absence or parental 

absence regarding a decision made by the chair of the authority as to the 

Member attending any meeting or performing any duty; 

d) The Sub-Committee may confirm the decision of the chair of the authority or 

substitute its own decision as to the Member attending any meeting or 

performing any duty;  

e) The decision of the Sub-Committee is final. 

 Member Development - On the subject of Member Development, regular updates 
have been received by the Committee who have provided valuable comments and 
suggestions.  These include requests for additional information on the Cardiff 
Capital Region and the South East Wales Corporate Joint Committee (SEWCJC), 
which the Democratic Services Manager is in the process of arranging with the 
Monitoring Officer for the Cardiff Capital Region.  It also included a request for 
Media training for all Members which took place on 26 June 2025.  A survey has 
also been undertaken with Members, the results of which are helping to inform the 
future Member Development Programme. More frequent reminders as well as drop-
in sessions for Member e-learning modules have also been undertaken in the hope 
of getting more Members through their mandatory modules.  Despite these efforts, 
only 28 Members had completed their modules, and only 38 had accessed the 
system to commence them at the time the Annual Report was presented to the 
Democratic Services Committee for approval on 24 June 2025. Additional training 
sessions have also been undertaken at the request of this Committee on the 
Mod.Gov App in readiness for it to go live for voting in future meetings.   

 
3.6 Research Support and Services Protocol  - At its meeting in November 2024 the 

Committee considered a report and initial assessment to evaluate the existing 
research support provided to Councillors with the aim of developing a Research 
protocol for Elected Members.  Members provided detailed comments and 
suggestions which have been considered in the drafting of the final protocol.    

 
3.7 Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales Draft Annual Report 2025/26 – the 

Committee considered the draft Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
(IRPW) Draft Annual Report 2025/26 and provided the following response back to 
the Panel: 

 

Page 187



 

• The Committee queried why there is no remuneration for Members that sit on 
the Regional Partnership Board (RPB) or Public Services Board (PSB), yet 
Members get remunerated for sitting on the Fire and Rescue 
Authority.  Members also raised the point that generally female orientated roles 
(such as anything related to Social Services, for example the Regional 
Partnership Board) generally receive less remuneration which is creating a 
gender pay gap for Members.  The Committee requested that these aspects be 
considered by the Panel as Members on both the RPB and PSB do a 
considerable amount of work.  

• Members highlighted that the IRP Annual Report refers to the work of a Cllr 
based on assessment of a 3 day week, however this was assessed in 
2021.  The Committee proposed that this might be worth revisiting.  

• Members asked for more guidance on the remuneration for Members in job 
share roles. 

 
In addition to this, the Committee made the following comments: 

 
o The makeup of the existing Panel does not reflect diversity.  Members would 

like due regard and understanding that we live in a diverse community.  
o Members highlighted that there was insufficient information on the IRPW 

website, in that it was a basic website and supplementary information should 
be readily available.  

o Members requested further information and detail as to how the new 
Democracy and Boundary Commission Cymru will exercise the functions of 
the Panel moving forward.   

 
A letter from the Chair of the Democratic Services Committee was also sent to the 
Chair of the Panel thanking them for all their work. 

 
 

Democratic Services Team for the period May 2024 to May 2025 
 
3.8 During 2024/25, the Democratic Services Team underwent a restructure in order to 

make the approved Medium Term Financial Strategy savings for both 2024/25 and 
2025/26. This led to the removal from the structure of the full time Chauffeur 
position, the part-time Democratic Services Officer – Committees and a permanent 
reduction of hours for certain Members of staff.  The current structure for the 
Democratic Services Team is therefore set out below: 

 

• Democratic Services Manager (with the statutory post of Head of Democratic 
Services) (Full time) 

• Senior Democratic Services Officer – Committees (Part-time – Flexible 
retirement 22.2 hours) 

• Democratic Services – Technical Support Officer (Full time) 

• Democratic Services Officer – Committees (Full Time) 

• Senior Democratic Services Officer – Scrutiny (Full time) 

• Scrutiny Officer (Full time)  

• Scrutiny Officer (Part-time – 30 hours) 

• Senior Democratic Services Officer – Support (Full time)  

• Democratic Services Assistant (Full time) 

• Democratic Services Officer – Support (Full time) 

Page 188



 

• Democratic Services Officer – Leadership, Members and Mayoral (Full time) 

• Business Administrative Apprentice (Full time) 
 

3.9 The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 places the responsibility on the 
Authority itself to ensure that the Head of Democratic Services (HDS) is provided 
with sufficient staff, accommodation and other resources as are, in the Council’s 
opinion, sufficient to allow the HDS’s functions to be discharged. The Democratic 
Services team have worked tirelessly to ensure that all of the expected outcomes 
have been achieved despite the restructure and reduction in staff required to find 
savings as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.     

 
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
 

5. Well-being of Future Generations Implications and Connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report.  It is considered that there is no significant or unacceptable impact upon the 
achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.   

 
6. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
 
6.1 There are no climate change implications as a result of this report.  

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no safeguarding or corporate parent implications as a result of this report. 
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. There are no specific costs 

associated with the running of this Committee other than those involved in the cost of 
administration of this and other Council functions within the democratic process. 

 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 To receive and note the Democratic Services Committee Annual Report for the 

period May 2024 to May 2025. 
 
 
Background documents 
 
None 

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
COUNCIL  

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
24 SEPTEMBER 2025  

 

 
Report Title:  

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
MONITORING OFFICER  

Responsible 
Officer:  

LAURA GRIFFITHS 
GROUP MANAGER LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

There is no effect upon the Policy Framework and 
Procedure Rules.  

Executive 
Summary:  
 

As soon as possible after the end of each financial year, the 
Standards Committee must make an Annual Report to the 

Council.   

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is for Council to note the Annual Report of the Standards 

Committee for 2024/25.   
 

2. Background  
 
2.1 In accordance with the Constitution, the Committee must prepare an Annual Report 

to include:  
 

• a description of how the Committee has discharged its functions; 

• a summary of any reports and recommendations that were referred to the Standards 

Committee under Chapter 3 of Part 3 of the Local Government Act 2000; 

• a summary of the actions that the Committee has taken following consideration of the 

reports and recommendations referred to above; 

• a summary of any notices that were given to the Standards Committee under Chapter 

4 of Part 4 of the Local Government Act 2000; 

• the Committee’s assessment of the extent to which leaders of political groups on the 

Council have complied with their duties to promote and maintain high standards of 

conduct by members of their group and to cooperate with the Committee in the 

exercise of its functions; 

• any recommendations which the Committee considers it appropriate to make to the 

Council about any matters which falls within the Committee’s functions.   

3. Current situation / proposal  
 

Page 191



 

3.1 The Annual Report for the Standards Committee for 2024/25 is attached as 
Appendix 1.   

 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act 2010, Socio-

economic Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been 
considered in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales, the Council 
must consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will 
be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.  This report 
also assists in the achievement of the following well-being objective under the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:- 

 
 A county borough where people feel valued, heard and part of their community.   
 
5.2 Standards are an implicit requirement in the successful implementation of the 

corporate well-being objectives. 
 
6. Climate Change Implications  
 
6.1 There are no climate change implications.   

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no safeguarding and corporate parent implications.  
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.  
 
9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Council note the report.   
 

 
Background documents:  
None 

Page 192



Standards Committee Annual Report – 2024/25 

 

Membership  

The Standards Committee is made up of Independent Members, one Town and Community 

Council representative and two County Borough Councillors.  These are: 

Independent Members:   Borough Councillors:  

Sue Maughan (Chair)    Cllr Martin Williams 

Peter Baker      Cllr Graham Walter 

Roy Lynch  

Phillip Clarke (term of office expired February 2025) 

Town and Community Council representative:  

Cllr Gavin Thomas  

 

Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) 

This is the Annual Report of the Standards Committee for the period 1st March 2024 to 31 

March 2025.  The Committee seeks to promote and maintain high standards of conduct 

across the Council.  Under Section 63 of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 

2021 the Committee must make an annual report to the Authority describing how the 

Committee’s functions have been discharged during the financial year.  

The Roles of the Standards Committee  

The role and functions of the Committee are set out within Section 8 of the Council’s 

Constitution.  This covers such matters as:  

• Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and Co-opted 

Members 

• Monitoring the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy  

• Considering reports submitted by the Monitoring Officer and the Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales  

• Monitoring the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct  

• Granting dispensations in accordance with the Regulations  

• Monitoring compliance by leaders of political groups on the Council with their duties 

to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the members of the group.  

 

The Standards Committee generally meets quarterly throughout the year.  

Recruitment  

On 20 July 2022, Council approved that the membership of the Committee be increased to 

eight Members and an additional Independent Member (co-opted) be appointed to the 

Committee.  At the time of this Report, there are currently two vacancies on the Committee 

following the resignation of Mr Shawn Cullen, Independent Member and the term of office 

ceasing for Mr Phillip Clarke, Independent Member.  The Monitoring Officer has been given 

Page 193



approval to commence a new recruitment process for the appointment of two Independent 

Members to the Committee.  

Work of the Committee  

The work of the Committee during 2024/25 has continued to centre on the following main 

areas: 

Maintaining high standards  

The Council has ensured that Members have been trained to understand: 

• Members’ Code of Conduct 

• Importance of the Register of Member Interests. The declaration of interest forms are 

published on the Council’s website 

• The Investigation of Complaints and a local hearing procedure 

Monitoring compliance by leaders of political groups  

The provisions in the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 build on this by 

supporting a culture where members have a responsibility to act in a manner which respects 

and values all people. A duty under the Act is placed on the leaders of political groups to 

take steps to promote and maintain high standards of conduct of their members. Under the 

Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 a political group is 

constituted where the Proper Officer is notified of two or more members who wish to be 

treated as a political group, the name of the group and the name of the one member of the 

group who is to act as its leader. At the Annual Meeting in May 2024, the Proper Officer was 

informed in writing of the following political groups and leaders:  

• Labour – Group Leader: Cllr John Spanswick, Leader of the Council  

• Bridgend County Independents – Leader of Largest Opposition Group: Cllr Amanda 

Williams  

• Democratic Alliance Group – Group Leader: Cllr Ross Penhale-Thomas 

The three group leaders were invited to the meeting of the Committee on 11 July 2024 to 

present reports outlining their compliance and support with the new duties including details 

of attendance at mandatory training sessions, complaints and relevant information.   

Looking ahead, a report will be prepared and submitted to the Committee annually from 

each individual Group including details of attendance at mandatory training sessions, 

complaints and other relevant information.  The reports will be shared with the Monitoring 

Officer prior to being submitted to the Committee and individual Group Leaders will be 

invited to attend the Committee when their reports are being considered.  

Code of Conduct Complaints   

The Standards Committee determined on 7 May 2024 that a Former Member of Bridgend 

Town Council had failed to comply with the following paragraphs of the Code:  

4(b) –Members must show respect and consideration for others  

6 (1) (a) – The Member must not conduct themselves in a manner which could reasonably 

be regarded as bringing their office or authority into disrepute.  

Page 194



The Committee resolved that the Former Member should be censured in relation to the 

above breaches of the Code, which was the maximum sanction available to the Committee, 

as the Member was no longer an Elected Member. This is in accordance with their powers 

under s 9(1)(c) of the Local Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and 

Standards Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2001. The Former Member and the PSOW 

were notified of the Committee’s decision by Notice of Determination and the Former 

Member did not appeal the decision.   

The Standards Committee determined on 9 May 2024 that a Member of Bridgend Town 

Council had failed to comply with the following paragraphs of the Code:  

6(1)(a) – Members must not conduct themselves in a manner which could reasonably be 

regarded as bringing their office or authority into disrepute;  

(7a) – Members must not in their official capacity or otherwise, use or attempt to use their 

position improperly to confer on or secure for themself, or any other person, an advantage or 

create or avoid for themself, or any other person, a disadvantage;  

11(1) - Where Members have a personal interest in any business of their authority and they 

attend a meeting at which that business is considered, they must disclose orally to that 

meeting the existence and nature of that interest before or at the commencement of that 

consideration, or when the interest becomes apparent;  

14(1)(a) - Where Members have a prejudicial interest in any business of their authority they 

must, unless they have obtained a dispensation from their authority's standards committee 

withdraw from the room, chamber or place where a meeting considering the business is 

being held;  

14(1)(c) - Where Members have a prejudicial interest in any business of their authority they 

must, unless they have obtained a dispensation from their authority's standards committee 

not seek to influence a decision about that business;  

14(1)(e) - Where Members have a prejudicial interest in any business of their authority they 

must, unless they have obtained a dispensation from their authority's standards committee 

not make any oral representations (whether in person or some form of electronic 

communication) in respect of that business or immediately cease to make such oral 

representations when the prejudicial interest becomes apparent.  

The Committee resolved that the Member should receive a sanction of 6 months 

suspension. This is in accordance with their powers under the Local Government 

Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and Standards Committees) (Wales) 

Regulations 2001. The Member was granted permission to appeal the decision of the 

Committee to the Adjudication Panel for Wales (APW).  On 5 June 2024, the President of 

the APW issued a decision which allowed the appeal to proceed on a limited ground of 

appeal in relation to sanction only. The APW determined on 5 December 2024 to refer the 

matter back to the Standards Committee with a recommendation that the Member should be 

suspended for 10 weeks pursuant to the Local Government Investigations (Functions of 

Monitoring Officers and Standards Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2001.  On 6 February 

2025, the Standards Committee upheld its original decision of a six-month suspension.  The 

decision and reasons for the decision were confirmed in writing to the Member, PSOW and 

the APW.   

The Standards Committee determined on 21 June 2024 that a Member of Porthcawl Town 

Council had failed to comply with the following paragraphs of the Code:  

Page 195



4(b) – show respect and consideration to others  

4(c) – not use bullying behaviour or harass any person  

6 (1)(a) – not conduct yourself in a matter which could reasonably be regarded as bringing 

your office into disrepute  

6(2) – comply with any request of your authority’s Monitoring Officer, or the Public Services 

Ombudsman for Wales, in connection with an investigation conducted in accordance with 

their respective statutory powers.  

The Committee resolved that the Member should receive a sanction of 2 months 

suspension. This is in accordance with their powers under the Local Government 

Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and Standards Committees) (Wales) 

Regulations 2001. The Former Member and the PSOW were notified of the Committee’s 

decision by Notice of Determination and the Former Member did not appeal the decision. 

There is one ongoing ‘live’ case which has been issued by the PSOW under Section 69 of 

the Local Government Act 2000 at the time of this report.  

The PSOW received 11 Town and Community Council Code of Conduct Complaints for 

2024/25.  At the time of this report, a breakdown of those complaints is not available but will 

be published as part of the PSOW Annual Letter in September.     

Local Resolution Process  

The Standards Committee notes that the Local Resolution Protocol adopted by the Council 

continues to provide a helpful process for resolving relatively ‘low-level’ behavioural 

complaints made by County Borough Members about other Members, in a timely and 

proportionate way. 

Dispensations  

The Standards Committee has statutory power to grant dispensations to Members with a 

personal and prejudicial interest in a matter, to allow them to participate in a decision 

regarding that matter, in appropriate circumstances, which are set out in statutory 

regulations. 

No individual dispensations were granted to Members of the Council to allow them to speak 

and vote on any matter before the Council and / or Committee.  However, the general 

dispensation is always kept under review.  

Other Activities  

In addition to the above activities the Standards Committee also:  

• Received and noted the Ombudsman’s Annual Report for 2023-24; 

• Received and investigated three s69 reports from the Ombudsman;  

• Received and considered the recommendations following the Independent Review of 

the Ethical Standards Framework (Richard Penn, report author);  

• Received a report regarding the Standards Committee Hearing Process;  

• Noted update reports following observations of Town and Community Council 

meetings; 

• Received and noted the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales Investigation Report 

into Codes of Conduct Complaints published in September 2024;  

Page 196



• Received reports from the Group Leaders outlining their compliance and support with 

their new duties including details of attendance at mandatory training sessions, 

complaints and relevant information.   

 

Looking ahead 

Looking ahead, much of the work of the Committee is demand led.   

• The Committee will identify and support provision of regular training and refresher 

events for Elected Members of the Council; 

• Observation of Council and Committee Meetings – the Standards Committee will 

continue to observe proceedings at Town and Community Council, Council and 

Committee meetings to give feedback on observations and inform its work priorities; 

• Meetings with Group Leaders - to facilitate ongoing engagement with representatives 

from all political groups and to identify how the approach code of conduct matters in 

their political group; 

• Code of Conduct, Member Training and Development – the Standards Committee 

will consider the need for any further training on the Members’ Code of Conduct 

focussing on Town and Community Councils; 

• To review the Council’s Whistleblowing Policy to ensure it remains fit for purpose.  

 

The Agenda and Minutes of the Standards Committee, together with all Reports considered 

at meetings are published online.   

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
COUNCIL  

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
24 SEPTEMBER 2025 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
URGENT DELEGATED DECISIONS 

 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL AND REGULATORY SERVICES, 

HR AND CORPORATE POLICY 

 
Responsible 
Officer:  
 

                
MARK GALVIN – SENIOR DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

OFFICER - COMMITTEES 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  
 

 
There is no effect upon the policy framework and procedure 

rules. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

 
To report to Council Delegated Power decisions executed 
under the Scheme of Delegations, as a matter of urgency. 
 

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to report to Council delegated decisions executed as a 

matter of urgency under Scheme A of the Scheme of Delegation of Functions. 
 
2. Background  
  
2.1 Delegated decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to Council in 

accordance with the Overview & Scrutiny Procedure Rules which are to be found 
within the Constitution. 
 

3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 The urgent decisions taken and therefore by-passing the call-in procedure (as set 

out within the relevant provision of the Constitution), are summarised below:-  
                        
            Scheme A 1.1 

 
CMM-ED-25-098 – SEWSCAP Framework Agreement – Works contract for 
construction of units at Village Farm Industrial Estate, Pyle. 
EEYYP-EDSU-25-085 – Award of contract for Bridgend West School Modernisation 
Scheme.  
CMM-PRU-25-72 – Works contract for the refurbishment of the Grand Pavilion, 
Porthcawl 

                                                             
4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 

Page 199



 

 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in 
the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider 
the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report, therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an Equality Impact assessment in the production of this 
report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality 
impacts as a result of this report. 

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts 
upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

 
6. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
 
6.1 There are no Climate Change and Nature Implications in relation to this report.   

 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications from this report. 
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 There are no financial implications with regard to this report.   
 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Council notes the report. 
 
 
Background documents 
 
None 

Page 200


	Agenda
	ourref1
	yourref1

	3 Approval of Minutes
	4 Presentation to Council by the Police and Crime Commissioner (South Wales)
	7 Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW) Improvement Check of Childrens and Family Services June 2025
	Improvement_check_letter_Bridgend_County_Borough_Council_childrens_services_June_2025_0
	CIW Improvement Check Action Plan - 07082025 PDF

	8 Social Services Annual Report 2024-25
	2024-25 DoSS Annual Report v2.0
	Structure Bookmarks
	Document
	Contents 
	DIRECTORS SUMMARY 
	Children and Family Services 
	We need to: 
	Adult Social Care 
	Early Help, Prevention and Wellbeing 
	Workforce 
	Financial Performance, Risks and Issues 
	Children’s Placement Sufficiency 
	Levels of Contact into Social Care Services 
	Digital System Replacement 
	Pressures on Partner agencies 
	Priorities for 
	Sustainably Improving at a Time of Challenge for Public Services 
	What do we do? 
	Our services 
	We provide a range of services, including: 
	ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
	PREVENTION AND WELLBEING 
	CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
	Who do we support? 
	CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
	ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
	The year in summary 
	CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
	ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
	Leadership 
	Political & Senior Leadership 
	Governance & Accountability 
	Workforce 
	Recruitment & Retention 
	Growing Our Own 
	Social Care Accolades 2025 
	Staff Feedback 
	What Next? 
	Financial Resources 
	PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT 
	People 
	Quality Standards 
	Across Social Services 
	Voice and Control 
	Direct Payments 
	Advocacy Support 
	Supporting Effective Leadership 
	Workforce Development 
	Management and Leadership Pathway 
	Children and Family Services 
	Voice and Control 
	Developing a Skilled and Supported Workforce 
	Adult Social Care 
	Voice and Control 
	Developing a Skilled and Supported Workforce 
	2025-26 Key Priorities 
	ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES 
	CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
	ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
	Prevention 
	Quality Standards 
	Across Social Services 
	Promoting Resilient Communities 
	Resilient and Connected Communities 
	Carer Wellbeing 
	Young Carers 
	Support for Young Carers 
	Young Carers Event 
	Children and Family Services 
	Preventing the Escalation of Care & Support 
	Contacts to the Service 
	Adult Social Care 
	Preventing the Escalation of Care & Support 
	Contacts to the Service 
	Care and Support Assessments 
	The Reablement Service 
	2025-26 Key Priorities 
	ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES 
	CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
	ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
	Partnership and Integration 
	People are encouraged to be involved in the design and delivery of their care and support as 
	Across Social Services 
	Regional Arrangements 
	Local Arrangements 
	Third Sector Arrangements 
	Addressing the Gaps in Social Care 
	Children and Family Services 
	Effective Partnerships 
	People As Equal Partners 
	Effective Partnerships 
	People As Equal Partners 
	Partnership and Integration: 
	ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES 
	CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
	ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
	Well-being 
	Quality Standards 
	People are protected and  from abuse and neglect and any other types of harm
	Children and Family Services 
	People are Protected and Safeguarded 
	Children Safeguarding Enquiries 
	Child Protection Registrations 
	Care Experienced Children 
	Supporting People to Manage their Wellbeing 
	People are Protected and Safeguarded 
	Adult Safeguarding Enquiries 
	Supporting People to Manage their Wellbeing 
	2025-26 Key Priorities 
	ACROSS SOCIAL SERVICES 
	CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 
	ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
	O T H E R I N F ORM AT I ON 
	Inspections and Reviews 
	Children and Family Services 
	Adult Social Care 
	Complaints and Representations 
	The Citizen Voice Body 
	Other Sources of Information 
	5 
	Glossary 
	Care Experienced Children 
	Care and Support Plan 
	Domiciliary Care / Domiciliary Support Service / Home Care 
	Information Advice and 
	Mwy Na Geiriau / More than words 
	Prevention and Early Intervention 
	Reablement / Rehabilitation / 
	Safeguarding \ Adult Protection 
	Sheltered Accommodation 
	Social Care Wales (SCW) 
	Social Services and Wellbeing 
	Supported Living / Accommodation 




	9 Retail and Commercial Development Supplementary Planning Guidance
	Appendix 1 - Final Form Retail and Commercial Development SPG
	Appendix 2 - Consultation Representations Responses and Resultant Action

	10 Information Reports For Noting
	DSC Annual Report to Council - Sept 2025
	Annual Report to Council Sept
	Annual Report 2024-25
	Report Sept 2025 Urgent DP's




